ISSN 2080-7279



# FOUNDATIONS OF MANAGEMENT International Journal



Faculty of Management Warsaw University of Technology Editor – in - Chief Tadeusz KRUPA Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, Poland e-mail: T.Krupa@wz.pw.edu.pl

Frequency: Published four issues per year; two regular and two special issues prepared by invited editor(s).

**Internet:** The International Journal - Foundations of Management is currently available on-line at: http://www.wz.pw.edu.pl/s110/foundations-of-management.

#### **Publishing and Editorial Office:**

Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, ul. Narbutta 85, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland, email: T.Krupa@wz.pw.edu.pl, tel.: +48 022 849 94 43, 022 234 84 32, fax: +48 022 849 97 98.

#### **Technical Editors**

Teresa Ostrowska, T.Ostrowska@wz.pw.edu.pl, Katarzyna Rostek, K.Rostek@wz.pw.edu.pl.

#### **Cover Project and Print**

Warsaw University of Technology Publishing House, ul. Polna 50, 00-644 Warszawa, tel.: +48 022 234-70-83, fax: +48 022 234-70-60.

ISSN 2080-7279

All Rights Reserved Printed In Poland

No part of this journal may be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means including information storage and retrieval systems, without permission in writing from the Publishing and Editorial Office.

© Copyright by Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, Warszawa 2009.

### Ladies and Gentlemen,

Foundation of Management (FoM) journal was established at the Faculty of Management at Warsaw University of Technology in order to provide an international platform of thought and scientific concepts exchange in the field of managerial sciences.

This new publishing forum aims at the construction of synergic relations between the two parallel trends in managerial sciences: social and economical – originating from economic universities and academies and the engineering trend – originating in from factories and technical universities.

Three of the great representatives of the engineering trend in managerial sciences - American Frederic W. Taylor (1856-1915) – developer of high speed steel technology and the founder of the technical with physiological trend in scientific management, Frenchman Henri Fayol (1841-1925), the author of basics of management and the division and concentration of work as well as the Pole Karol Adamiecki (1866-1933) graduate of the Saint Petersburg Polytechnic University and the professor of Warsaw University of Technology, creator of the timescale system elements scheduling theory and diagrammatic method as well as the basics of the division of work and specialization – have, on the break of the XIX and XX century, all created the universal foundations of the management sciences. Therefore the title of the Foundation of Management is the origin of the scientific and educational message of the journal that is aimed at young scientists and practitioners – graduates of technical and economic universities working in different parts of Europe and World.

The target of the establishers of the Foundation of Management journal is that it will gradually increase its influence over the subjects directly linked with the issues of manufacturing and servicing enterprises. Preferred topics concern mainly: organizational issues, informational and technological innovations, production development, financial, economical and quality issues, safety, knowledge and working environment – both in the internal understanding of the enterprise as well as its business environment.

Dear Readers, Authors and Friends of the Foundation of Management – our wish is the interdisciplinary perception and interpretation of economic phenomena that accompany the managers and enterprises in their daily work, in order to make them more efficient, safe and economic for suppliers and receivers of the products and services in the global world of technological innovation, domination of knowledge, changes of the value of money and constant market game between demand and supply, future and past.

We would like for the Foundation of Management to promote innovative scientific thought in the classical approach towards economic and engineering vision of the managerial sciences.

The Guardian of the journal's mission is its Programme Committee, which participants of which will adapt to current trends and as an answer to the changing economic and social challenges in the integrating Europe and World.

Tadeusz Krupa

#### CONTENTS

Ewa MASŁYK-MUSIAŁ	
METHOD OF BUILDING MOBILE ORGANIZATIONS IN POLAND	. 7
Jerzy KISIELNICKI	
INFORMATION AND KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT	
AS A NEW PHASE IN MANAGEMENT THEORY	19
Justyna PATALAS-MALISZEWSKA, Tadeusz KRUPA	
FORECASTING THE EFFECTS OF INVESTMENTS IN KNOWLEDGE –	
WORKERS IN THE SME SECTOR, USING THE GMDH METHOD.	29
Grzegorz BOCEWICZ, Zbigniew BANASZAK	
ABDUCTIVE REASONING DRIVEN APPROACH TO PROJECT –	
LIKE PRODUCTION FLOW PROTOTYPING	43
Katarzyna ROSTEK	
BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE FOR INSURANCE COMPANIES	65
Jarosław DOMAŃSKI	
VALUE MANAGEMENT IN NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS – THE FIRST STEP	83
Marek PAWŁOWSKI, Zdzisław PIĄTKOWSKI, Wojciech ŻEBROWSKI	
MANAGEMENT EFFICIENCY	95

#### METHOD OF BUILDING MOBILE ORGANIZATIONS IN POLAND

#### Ewa MASŁYK-MUSIAŁ

Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland E.Maslyk-Musial@wz.pw.edu.pl

*Abstract:* We analyse concept of mobile organization which are characterized by personal approach to employees, strategies activating intellectual capital, open and interactive attitude focusing on values like teamwork and trust. Thanks to this, organizations in motion are effective in uncertainty, are better protected against losing and in case of difficulties can faster move on to the winning cycle again. In our project the main question to answer was – if there are any relationships between possessing features of a "young mobile and organization" and its competitive advantage. Based on the theory of managing change [4] it is shown that relationships between strategy, change and managerial competences are crucial for effective change implementation. From the viewpoint of management practice, the indexes developed and presented in this paper can be used to measure youth potential as well can be applied to analyse organizational audits. Using the indexes, organizations can be divided into Mobile Organizations, open to the environment, that can serve as models to others, and organizations that are more closed, immobile, with low youth potential. The latter require organizational revival projects to be prepared and implemented.

Key words: mobile organization, change, youth potential.

#### 1. Revitalization of organization

In the conducted research<sup>1</sup>, we were interested in the phenomenon of revitalization, also called rejuvenation of organization, necessary for its effective functioning of business in XXI century. It was assumed that high youth potential is characteristic of the so called *mobile organization* [7], the antitype to a static organization (remaining motionless). Generally a "mobile organization" has competencies that enable it to maintain or regain the growth stage of lifecycle. To simplify one may say that such an organization is "young" and "open".

Among its main features are:

- openness to environment, sensitivity to new signals and ability of diagnosing new circumstances, continuously being able to generate internal changes as the reaction to the above,
- handling uncertainty by creating people's positive attitudes toward the change,
- extension of ,,youth" phase by employing managers who have: energy, enthusiasm, courage, fresh look and who generate new ideas,

- ability to create organizational infrastructure and atmosphere which enable its members to be present in change (at all its stages),
- learning and investing in people as priority, which is transferred for HRD policy,
- implementation of systems which motivate people to be constantly involved in seeking ways of improving themselves and others so that their work is reflected in the companies' growing value.

One can assume that a mobile organization is a company which should be formed and supported in the future. It's able to build competitive advantage over others due to human intellect and profitable investments in the human capital.

In our project the main question to answer was – if there are any relationships between possessing features of a "young mobile and organization" and its competitive advantage. Mobile organizations are typified by strategies based on quality, technology and use of nonmaterial resources. In order to obtain these resources, organizations design motivation and education systems that support changes and constantly observe employees' spirits. The research elaborated also on what the creation of mobile organization depends on and what determines their strategies. It was assumed that the elements essential for the strategists and their strategic choices are: market characteristics, strategic objectives of the company, and implemented or planned struc-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Research grant financed by KBN (No 2H02D 004 25) and WSM included: prof. dr hab. Ewa Masłyk-Musiał – leader of the research team, prof. dr hab. Stanisław Sudoł, prof. dr hab. Grażyna Gierszewska, dr hab. Agnieszka Sitko-Lutek, dr Anna Rakowska and mgr Michał Jaksa.

tural/ownership and organizational changes<sup>2</sup>. Attitude to changes is therefore an indirect indication of strategists' preferences for specific strategies in companies.

The assumption made for the research was a relation between:

- type of organization distinguished on the basis of competences in changes, perception of changes, attitude toward changes and behaviour in changes,
- competitive advantage gained as a result of designing and effective implementation of a development strategy of a company.

The concept of mobile organization conveys a link between "the youth potential" and competitive position together with development strategies. It enables effective management under conditions of "general uncertainty" [6] also called "discontinuity management" by Ducker (1999). It also enables mobilization of the rare resources, including the intellectual ones. The concept of MO is useful for explaining activities leading to development of a good market position, choice and determinants of employees' familiarity with strategy, rejuvenating the organization, effective implementation of changes, counteracting to deterioration of managerial competences and maintaining constant readiness for learning, knowledge management, investing in education and building a change culture.

We believe that **mobile organizations gain competi**tive advantage thanks to use of their youth potential. Gaining high youth potential is possible thanks to effective competence management that guarantees appropriate strategic choices, effective change management and achieving strategic objectives even under conditions of distinctive uncertainty.

It can be therefore assumed that the youth potential of mobile organization influences the competitive position of the company and its value for clients (effective implementation of the strategy). The bigger the youth potential is, the more clearly formulated, better executed, and more actively drawing on non-material resources the strategy of the company is.

Mobile organization shall cumulate and express all key elements of efficient management in turbulent environment: adequate reactions to new business situations, ability to learn and systematize knowledge (codification), and ability to search for support of new activities through execution of human resource strategies related with selection of personnel (especially executives), motivating, educating, and building change culture thanks to which employees can identify themselves with the organization often operating in uncertainty.

#### 2. Subject and scope of research

The research focused on organizational changes introduced in Polish companies within certain competition strategies and managerial opinion<sup>3</sup> on the changing process. Both companies and their managers performed in business environment specific for our country in 2004, when for nearly fifteen years the companies had been gathering knowledge about great constitutional and economic transformation. Tangible expressions of these transformations in organizations were multiple restructuring processes often defined as introduction of strategic organizational changes.

Some of researched companies were restructured public enterprises, operating in mature sectors and with a long history (some were set up in the fifties, several even earlier); some of them were new companies, established after 1990 and operating in developing sectors. The latter constituted 64,6% of the sample group.

We were interested in what happened in the old companies during constitutional transformation and what influenced their present organizational competences and market position. Are companies set up after 1990 characterized by, figuratively speaking, youth, and have the old companies managed to restore this condition which could be proved by energy, fresh perception, creativity and courage of employed executives?

We believed that among both types of companies, the old and the so called rejuvenated, there are ones with characteristics of mobile organizations and competent in change management. We assumed that thanks to their "youth", companies are able to achieve better competitive position. However, not all companies succeeded in "youth" restoration throughout fifteen year period (time between transformation of 1989 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> E. Masłyk-Musiał, G. Gierszewska, Strategies of Revitalized Organizations in Poland – Research Result, 22nd EGOS Colloquium Bergen, Norway 6-8 July 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Selection of companies and executives was nonrandom. Research on the subject of changes and competences covered 275 executives and additionally 84 of them answered questionnaires concerning company strategy. Three sorts of questionnaires were used: strategy one was prepared for company strategists, the other two (focusing on 1. executive competences, 2. change and competences issue) were used in interviews with executive personnel being in touch with changes. Researched businesses (40 companies) were chosen among businesses from sectors diversified as to the cycle of life (young and mature sectors) and as to the technological development.

the beginning of the research in 2004). Changes were imposed on them but have not become style of living. A question whether accumulation of knowledge about certain regularities observed in a process of numerous restructuralizations transformed Polish companies into mobile organizations and therefore organizations with huge youth potential seemed to us an intriguing research issue.

In the research it was attempted to estimate the development potential of the companies, and then the relations between this potential and strategies executed for gaining the competitive advantage were analyzed. It was deliberated what strategies should be implemented by a company in order to retain "eternal youth" enabling prolongation of the phase of quick absorbing and generating changes in the life cycle of an organization, and with this – consolidation of the competitive position.

Outcome analysis proved how many possibilities of creating grounds for competitive advantage there are globally, and locally, what can become a success factor for a company and how specific companies with specific development potential can achieve it.

#### 3. Attitude to changes

It was assumed that the attitude of respondents toward changes<sup>4</sup> is a resultant of their perception of situation when changes occur and their competences. Change situation is also defined by: kinds and reasons of changes, participation in changes, change stimulation, perception of forces supporting changes and effects of changes. Owing to the features of particular businesses (like their size, age, business profile, etc.) the strategists' and managers' attitude toward changes will vary. It was also assumed in the research that attitude toward changes influences orientation of strategic choices.

#### 3.1 Areas and reasons of changes

According to questioned managers, in 2000 - 2003 numerous organizational changes were introduced in companies they were employed in. Implementation of changes was noticed by 95,9% of respondents. Only 2,3% of questioned managers believed that their companies were not implementing any changes, and 1,8% had no opinion on that subject. 84% of respondents mentioned change planning in 2004 - 2005.

Most common areas of changes indicated by the managers as implemented in their companies included: orstructure (76,7%), general ganizational strategy (47,4%), technology (46,3%), motivation systems (40,7%), and information-decision systems (36,3%). Indications in planned changes included: organizational structure (48,1%), technology (43,7%), informationdecision systems (35,2%), functional strategies (33,0%) and general strategy (31,5%). There is an essential statistical correlation between age of a company and the genre of implemented and planned changes. In reference to implemented changes it concerns functional strategies (p = 0,001), technology (p = 0,006) and motivation systems (p = 0,000), and in reference to planned changes it concerns organizational structure (p = 0,000).

When analyzing correlation between company age and area of implemented changes, it can be observed that managers employed in middle-aged companies (set up between 1980 and 1989) more likely than managers from young and old companies indicated changes in functional strategies. 66,6% of respondents from middle-aged companies indicated such changes, while from young businesses only 52,6% and 31,0% from the old ones.

Technology changes were most often noticed in old companies (59,8% of research sample), meanwhile changes in motivation systems in middle-aged (53,3%) and young companies (51,4%). Changes in organizational structures were planned first of all in young (56,1%) and old companies (37,9%). Therefore, in respondents' view old companies changed technology, middle-aged – functional strategies and motivation systems, and in young ones changes in organizational structures were planned. The above indicates that managers distinguish the need of making their businesses more flexible, which involves complementary changes in structures defining shape of an organization. In such cases structural change means improvement of company's openness and entrepreneurial approach.

It is worth noticing that both strategists and managers of changes indicated (first two places) changes in the same areas (see table 1). Respondents listed first of all: organizational structure (67,9% of questioned strategists and 76,7% of managers) and general strategy (54,8% and 47,4% respectively). Further places were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Report covers the respondents' attitude toward changes implemented in their companies in 2000-2003 and changes planned in 2004-2005.

taken by areas of changes either different in both groups or listed in a different order. For the strategists these are: objectives of organizations, informationdecision systems and changes in management methods, while managers listed: technology, motivation systems and information-decision systems.

Both position occupied in the organizational hierarchy and connected responsibility for changes (role performed in change process) strongly reflect on perception of changes implemented or planned in organizations as well as on assessment of their importance for company's success.

Questioned executives indicated following external factors as mainly inspiring companies to implementing or planning organizational changes (ordered as indicated by the respondents):

- entrance of competitors 49,6%,
- new, more effective technologies 44,4%,
- changes in international politics (i.e. entering EU) 34,4%,
- changes in economic management methods and restructuralisation – 28,5%,
- changes in legislation and changes in forms of ownership – 27,4%.

There is a statistically important correlation between company's age and the causes of change like changes in international politics (p = 0,001) and new, more effective technologies (p = 0,003).

In young companies directors more likely than in others, especially in middle-aged, indicated these particular external causes of change. It can be therefore assumed that young companies are more open to the world and their executives see this openness as an opportunity for their companies' development as well as necessity of change implementation.

However, they are not always able to define the required competences. There is a feeling of readiness to changes in the companies, which is however not necessarily tantamount to the ability of their effective implementation.

Main internal causes of organizational changes indicated by the respondents were:

- too slow development of new products 34,1%,
- used machinery 31,1%,
- lowering quality level 18,5%,
- decrease in productivity of assets 18,1%,
- decrease of work effectiveness 17,4%.

Statistically important correlation is observed between company's age and the internal causes of change like too slow development of new products (p = 0,00) and used machinery (p = 0,01). The former reason was noted mainly in young companies, the latter in the old ones with used machinery.

Despite large group of respondents who noticed changes in the companies, many executives are not able to see the relation between changes and company's strategy. Over 20% is not familiar with the latter, which means every fifth respondent. This however does not mean they don't see into the future of the company in bright colours. The analysis of opinions of different management level representatives shows that 76% of high executives, 64% of middle management representatives and 45% of low managerial staff is optimistic about the future of a company (degree of optimism grows with the management rank).

This can be regarded alarming, especially in reference to high executives as exaggerated optimism can be a testament to carelessness or lack of competence (much of a muchness). Strategists' opinions seem to confirm the above, as only in 30% of businesses a clear strategy has been tracked (meaning cost-leadership, quality or combination strategies), the rest had no coherent strategies or no strategy whatsoever. 16% of respondents had no information about changes planned in the company in the two proceeding years.

Taking no knowledge about the company's strategy (actually – no strategy at all) into account, it can be assumed that the need to plan changes might not be obvious for part of managing staff. Meanwhile, creation and awareness of a strategy showing direction to company's managers and helping with uncertainty, is a high-priority matter for a company.

Even maintaining current competitive position requires from the executives the ability of strategic thinking and planning changes, not to mention acquiring additional competences for gaining competitive advantage in the future. However, how aware of this are the questioned managers and what are their competences?

### 3.2 Participation in change and change competences

Literature analysis [7] shows that to make changes effective, the companies should have organizational

<b>Strategists' opinions</b> (n = 84)						Managers' opinions (n = 272)	
Product changes		Structural/ownership changes		Organizational changes		Organizational changes	
Broadening prod- uct offer	69,0	Changes of internal structure of a company	42,9	Change of organiza- tional structure	67,9	Organizational structure	76,7
Improvement of product quality	58,2	Differentiate customer service	40,5	Change of general strategy	54,8	Change of general strategy	47,7
Introduction of cost monitoring	53,6	Eliminating certain areas of monitoring	27,4	Change of organi- zation goals	45,2	New technologies	46,0
Developing pro- motion and advertising	48,8	Improvement of ownership changes	23,8	New information- decision systems	44,0	New motivation systems	40,7
Reducing unit production costs	47,6	Creating partner- ship based on the company property	22,6	Change of man- agement methods	41,7	New information- decision systems	36,3

 Table 1. Comparison of most frequently noticed changes by the respondents performing roles of strategists and managers (in percentage) (source: self study, 2004)

competencies in terms of changing that create conditions for participation in changes for employees and especially - managers, and executive competences in changes. Conditions for employees' participation in changes are: encouraging to participate in initializing, designing and other stages of changing, systematic and honest informing employees, developing their abilities to perform at changes (training in changes), effective motivation to changes (gratification for acting the new way). Important organizational competence in preparing for change and ensuring active participation in the change process is creation of change culture awarding values like trust and courage, and behaviours like willingness to take risk and sharing ideas with others, which is necessary for team work and getting satisfaction from implementing changes.

In respondents' opinion, changes were implemented in companies most frequently on board's initiative (88,5% of indications), executives (32,6%) and internal consultants (19,6%) or external directors employed for this purpose (3,7%). Initiatives from individual employees were very rare (5,6%). More often the initiators were employees groups (10,4%) or company's specialists (13,3%).

Majority of changes were thoroughly prepared, according to 76,7% respondents ("yes" or "rather yes" responses). Only 16,4% of respondents believe that the changes were rather unprepared, and 3,9% find them unprepared. 3% percent of executives have no opinion on that issue. There is a statistically important correlation between the age of a company and a statement that changes were initiated by consultants (p=0,002) and carefully prepared (p=0,001), and also between size of a company and designing changes (p=0,03). 25,7% of executives in young companies point out important role the consultants play in changes, while in the old companies it's respectively 9,2%, and in middle aged companies 6,7% of questioned directors. In young companies 83,3% of questioned executives answered affirmatively ("yes" and "rather yes" responses) to questions if change processes in the company are planned carefully and in advance. In middle-aged companies this rate was 79,9% and in old ones – 60,5%.

Taking company's age into consideration it can be noticed that 82,1% of executives from big companies believe that changes and thoroughly prepared ("yes" and "rather yes" responses), in medium-sized companies it is 74%, and in small ones – 72,3%. The conclusion is that in small companies executives rarely find changes thoroughly prepared. The biggest number of respondents participated in implementation stage (86%) and in preparation of change projects (70,8%). Size and age of a company influence participation in change. 77,2% of questioned executives from big companies indicate their participation in initiating changes.

In medium-sized companies we received such response from 56% of questioned directors and in small ones – from 43%. In general, observation of percentage distribution of executives' responses, allows a notice that apart from training stage, where medium-sized companies' directors are more active, the most active executives in the remaining stages are – in the following order – ones from big, medium-sized and small companies. Taking company's age into consideration, we notice that in initializing and implementation stages most active executives come from middle-aged, then young and finally old companies, and in preparation and evaluation stages – executives from respectively young, middle-aged and old companies.

60,5% of respondents participated in trainings prior to the changes. This is a pity that this percentage was as low as the participants of trainings evaluated the effectiveness of changes higher, regardless of their own evaluation of usefulness of trainings conducted in relation to changes.

Their participation in trainings prior to changes was described by the respondents as useful (response "very useful" was indicated by 27,2% of respondents, "useful" – by 50,0%, and "rather useful" – by 19,3%). Only 3,5% of respondents found trainings "rather useless". 75% of respondents indicated that in connection to changes in their companies, the trainings were organized for the whole (or selected) staff, which was considered a very positive phenomenon. Trainings are most often organized in young companies established after 1989. This is a statistically important correlation (p=0,01).

Every fifth manager in all researched companies responded, however, that training related to introduced changes was not held in their companies, and 5% of managers answered "I don't know". One fourth of managers, in situation of change implementation, did not observe any high executive's interest in employees' development. This is another indication of insufficient, in several researched companies, information delivered to the employees (in this case trainings are not exploited) about the current situation in the company during organizational changes and not caring about creating effective motivation (including dialogue and trainings) system simultaneously to change implementation.

Organizational competences were indicated by the strategists (strategy interview), and managers' competences were revealed in their auto-evaluation (competency interview). Table 2 presents competences sheet with competences indicated by the research participants supplemented with competences existing in theory of change.

 Table 2. Competences sheet – most important organizational competencies, managers' competences in own research (%) and in theory (source: self study, 2004)

Organizational competences important for changes – researched strategists' opinion	Managerial competences important for change implementation – researched managers' opinion	Managerial competences in organi- zation in motion – theoretical approach (Kanter, 2001)
Engaged employees (41,7%)	Focus on the future (65,8%)	Easy adaptation, flexibility
Effective change management (39,3%)	Multi aspect approach (50,7%)	Entrepreneurship and innovation
Effective finance management (36,9%)	Developing and mastering employees' competences (43,5%)	Knowledge sharing
Feeling of trust and cooperation (36, 9%)	Discovering new products and markets (36, 7%)	Facilitating team work and under- standing other groups contribution to changes – art of building relations
Information sharing (31,0%)	Social skills like leadership, communica- tion, conflict solving (34,9%)	Ability to implement changes effec- tively – removing obstacles in chang- ing process

The above chart shows discrepancies between theorists' opinions (literature studies) and point of view of strategists and managers (research outcome) who often play double role of leaders and change agents, as to the organizational competences and managers' competences that are necessary for efficient change implementation. Theorists' competency list begins with easy adaptation and flexibility, strategists' with engagement of the employees, and managers' with focus on the future. Entrepreneurship and innovation is listed by the theorists on the second position. Managers find competences related to entrepreneurship, like discovering new products and markets as less important and locate them on only the fourth place.

When naming competences indispensable for efficient changes in a company, strategists indicate general idea of creating feeling of trust and engaging employees in change process, and therefore pay attention to personal approach to employees during changes, and care about appropriate use of resources, in particular financial ones, in changes. This means that during changes they focus on: staff, knowledge (effective management) and resources. Mangers look at change implementation from perspective of accomplishing task in changes, which means the most important competences for them are: ability to learn and analyze needs, as well as organizing training processes. Since change process can provoke conflict situations, other important competences indicated by managers were: negotiations and conflict solving.

Despite of different focus, the attitudes to changes expressed by strategists and managers seem to be supplementary.

Competences pointed out by them are compliant with theorists' suggestions that mention following essential abilities for changes: sharing authority (with respect to strategists' suggestions) and ability to build teams and maintain appropriate inter-group relations (with respect to managers' opinion). This data again indicates visible influence of the organizational roles on the opinions about organizational and managers' competences essential for effective changing processes, by assumption related to (but not de facto as according to strategists' responses, in about 70% of companies, the strategies were not coherent or unspecified) specific development strategies.

The managers' own competences in change management were best evaluated by those from the youngest companies (28,8%) set up after 1990. The worst evaluation in that category was assigned to the managerial competences in companies established between 1989 and 1990 (6,7%), and a slightly better one to the oldest companies (set up before 1989) - 14,6%. It can be therefore assumed that managers in young companies have better competences than managers in other organizations.

It results from the research that managers believe they are competent in: problem solving and decision making (72,9% of respondents), predicting and planning (58,8%) and using expert knowledge (58,7%).

They find these competences sufficient as complex dynamic situations rarely occur in their work. Researched managers indicate that what their tasks require is rather constant learning (48%) and advancing employees competences (47,8%), also maintaining good relationships with business partners (46,6%), and not focusing on the future or multi\_aspect analysis of decision situations. It was observed that only one fourth of researched group admitted being competent in change management (this refers mainly to young companies – important statistical correlation), and only every third respondent would like to improve the competences. Such observation allows assumption concerning dominance of operational orientation over strategic one amid our group of respondents.

#### 3.3 Effects of changes and their determinants

In the research we were interested in managerial opinions on the effects of introduced organizational changes. 65,5% of managers believe that changes ended up successfully. Among young companies managers 70% assessed the changes ended up successfully. In old companies 57,1% of respondents believed so, and in middle-aged companies – 46,1%. The biggest number of unsuccessful changes was reported by managers from old companies.

Belief that changes did not end successfully was expressed by only 6,0% of all respondents. As many as 28,5% of them (over one fourth) responded "I don't know" or "hard to say", which indirectly shows lack of conviction as to the success of implemented changes. Such opinions appeared mainly in middle-aged companies where over half of managers gave evasive answers like "hard to say". Reasons of such hesitancy can be various but most often are: lack of tools for assessing effects of changes (it is not clear what is actually result of changes and what would have happened in the com-

Factors which influence for the changes effi- ciency <b>in the opinion of strategists</b>	scale (1-5)	Factors which influence for the changes efficiency <b>in the opinion of managers</b>	scale (1- 5)
Managers Engagement	4,28	Managers Engagement	4,28
Level of managerial knowledge	4,09	Level of managerial knowledge	3,92
The amount of financial resources	3,99	Workers skills	3,80
Workers skills	3,78	The amount of financial resources	3,65
Understanding of change need by workers	3,72	Change scope and depth	3,53

 Table 3. Factors influencing effective implementation of changes in the opinion of strategists and managers from researched companies (source: self study, 2004)

pany anyway), and no routine informing employees about results of changes. It is therefore clear that managers underestimate motivation as system tool strengthening changing process. Strategists and managers in researched companies indicated different factors that influenced effective change implementation in their companies (table 3).

Order and consequent meaning of these factors for success of changes was established basing on an average from five point scale of influence.

Both strategists and managers indicated involvement (average 4,28 and 4,28 respectively) and level of managerial knowledge (4,09 and 3,92) as main factors of change success. On the third place strategists placed financial resources (3,99), while managers - employees' skills (3,80). For managers the scope of changes (scope and depth) was also important (3,53) but for strategist it was more important that the necessity of change was understood by their receivers (3,72) who could thanks to this become allies in change implementation. Thus, strategists and managers agree as to the essence but differ when it comes to details. Again, as when indicating areas of change, there is correlation between the rank of management and roles played in changes, and opinions about them, and this time it refers to change success factors.

#### 3.4 Stimulating changes

In successful change management models a correlation between strategy, structure, organizational culture and compensation system oriented to supporting changes is often pointed out. Appropriate connection of these factors in different stages of organization life cycle allows efficient execution of company strategy and achieving better results called change added value (Berger et al., 1994). 34,8% of the respondents gave affirmative answers to the question "Are the employees in your company extra rewarded after completing tasks related to changes?". 51,7% gave negative responses, and 13,5% had no information on that topic. Managers who noticed correlation between remuneration and tasks accomplished during changes most often named three forms of remuneration encountered in their companies: individual bonuses (29,3% of respondents), oral praise (19,3%) and special rewards (14,8%). In reference to the latter two, a statistically important correlation occurs between them and the age of a company: younger companies more often apply these forms of remuneration in situation of changes.

#### 4. Indexes of Organizational Youth (IOY)

Defining the features that describe a mobile organization helped formulate the index defining the potential of organizational youth (**POY**). POY was developed on the basis of two sub-indexes: Index of Managerial Change Potential (**IMCP**) and Index of Managerial Youth Potential (**IMYP**). Together, they determine the potential of organizational youth. The results of these indexes are presented in the table 4.

The **Index of Managerial Change Potential (IMCP)** was developed on the basis of 10 constituents relating to change and competences, perception of change, attitude o change and motivation to act in this respect. We made an assumption that in mobile organizations the employees see organizational change both as it is implemented and planned, and take a positive view on the effectiveness of the change. The change is extensive and covers various areas of the organization. Managers in the organization are optimistic about its future and are committed to change, feel motivated and the organization invests in their development.

1.	2.	1+2	
Index of Managerial	Index of Managerial	Potential of Organiza-	POV Level
Youth Potential (IMYP)	Change Potential (IMCP)	tional Youth (POY)	IOI Level
Н	Н	2H	High
А	Н	H, A	Relatively High
Н	А	A, H	Relatively High
А	А	2 A	Average
L	Н	H, L	Average
Н	L	L, H	Average
А	L	L, A	Relatively Low
L	А	A, L	Relatively Low
L	L	2L	Low

Table 4. Distribution of sub-index values determining potential of organizational youth of Mobile Organization (POY) (*source: self study*)

The **Index of Managerial Youth Potential (IMYP)** was developed on the basis of five constituents: commitment to change, optimism, indication of significant skills in making change (e.g. focus on the future, discovery of new products, markets, conceptual skills, learning, risk taking), possessing change management competences in self-assessment.

#### Index of Managerial Change Potential (IMCP)

- The results for 40 organizations indicate a relatively low managerial change potential. For 16 companies IMCP is above average and so they can be included among organizations with average change potential. One of the organizations is on the border line of high change potential, and three are above average.
- 2. It was observed that **IMCP** is connected  $(chi^2 = 0,000)$  with the following features of the respondent organizations:
  - **scope of business** (IMCP is the highest in national organizations),
  - **type of production** (IMCP is the highest in companies engaged in the provision of services and the manufacturing of consumer products),
  - **legal form** (IMCP is the highest in all types of companies and partnerships – limited liability company, joint-stock company and civil partnership and the lowest in state enterprises),
  - **type of business** (higher IMCP is reported in service, financial/insurance and construction/trading organizations),
  - **age of organization** (higher IMCP is reported in young and adult organizations).

- **3.** IMCP is not high in construction organizations (old industry), local organizations and sole proprietorships as well as state enterprises.
- 4. The percentage distributions show a large number of managers (nearly 60%) with low IMCP in old organizations and nearly 50% in adult organizations.

Given the incidence of low managerial change competences, the above information is hardly good news. While young companies, by effective selection of managers, stand a better chance to rebuild or supplement this potential, the task will not be easy since nearly every third manager has a low IMCP. We have to bear in mind that some of the managers do not know the strategy, have an operational orientation, and are not interested in the future.

#### Index of Managerial Youth Potential (IMYP)

1. The other sub-index of the potential of organizational youth is the Index of Managerial Youth Potential. The values reported for IMYP are at an average level. In 4 organizations the index was above average (industry: branch of an IT multinational, medium-sized consumer electronics company, large food products company, medium-sized automobile manufacturing and sales company, however these are different companies than the ones reporting a high IMCP. The highest IMYP index was reported in a large IT company in which the managers scored even the highest level of IMYP. The maximum level of the index was also reported for individual managers in 3 organizations. For other managers in these companies the index was low which is a reflection of large differentiation of ma-



Figure 1. Relations among Variables (source: self study)

nagerial potential in the same organization and perhaps also of the need to change the personnel policy

- 2. A high IMYP was reported in companies with an average (up to 300) and high (over 301 employees) **number of employees**. The relationship is statistically significant (chi<sup>2</sup> = 0,03). The percentage distribution of managers in a group with high youth potential is as follows: in medium-sized organizations 50,0%, in large 44,7% and in small 5,3% of the respondents.
- 3. The more extensive the **scope of business**, the higher IMYP ( $chi^2 = 0,000$ ). Organizations in which managers report high IMYP offer services and consumer products ( $chi^2 = 0,003$ ). The type of business includes services and industrial ( $chi^2 = 0,000$ ), with a domination of companies and partnerships ( $chi^2 = 0,002$ ).
- 4. At the higher **levels** of management, managers report a higher IMYP. High IMYP occurs also at lower levels of management and such managers, in our opinion, should be promoted first.
- 5. Age of Organization. The adult organizations report most managers with a high IMYP (20,0%) and in young organizations, set up after 1989, 17,1% of respondents demonstrate high IMYP. Managers (45,1%) in old companies, established prior to 1980, report a low managerial youth potential.

We made a preliminary assumption in the project that the age of respondent managers and their seniority in the position held may be connected with the Managerial Youth Potential. However the findings of research did not confirm that assumption. We were also interested in the relationship between **IMCP** and **IMYP** which is presented in Table 7.

One quarter of the respondents report both high IMYP and IMCP. The group of mobile managers with change competences and high youth potential in the project is therefore relatively high  $(chi^2 = 0,000)$ .

Still more numerous however is a group reporting low IMYP and IMCP. The most numerous is the group with average IMCP and IMYP. High IMCP is never accompanied by low IMYP. Low IMCP is most often associated with low and average IMYP.

Summing up the analysis of the relationship between the properties of the organization and features of respondent managers, and IMCP and IMYP of the respondents, it should be stressed that **there are statistically significant relationships between IMCP and IMYP** and certain properties of the organizations and features of their managers. As indicated by the earlier analysis, higher IMCP and IMYP occur more frequently in national organizations set up after 1989, that is in the young organizations.

#### Index of Organizational Youth (IOY)

The application of the full IOY helps differentiate organizations in terms of their youth potential, location of the organization on a continuum between mobility and immobility, and then propose a youth maintenance or restoration programme. IOY measuring the potential of organizational youth may help make the management aware of the need to take action to reinstate youth which is necessary for an organization to effectively compete for the customer and be open to the signals from the external environment. In order to win battles with competition, organizations must have youthful energy, openness and confidence in themselves, others and the system facilitating, as R. Kanter [5] puts it, practising cooperation, innovation and responsibility.

Over one half of the reviewed organizations demonstrate an average youth potential. Only two organizations have a relatively high IOY and therefore can be recognised as <u>mobile organizations</u> (electronics and IT) and their behaviour in change treated as a model (benchmark) for other companies. These companies are young in two ways: firstly due to the actual age (young branch in Poland) and secondly due to their youth potential. If we take the change process seriously, then – rather than from imposing ready-made change patterns – we will start the process of change from preparing tailormade projects. This requires a measurement of the potential of organizational youth and stimulation of the interest in change among all the change beneficiaries.

The opening up of an organization to challenges through unleashing human potential is both necessary and the most difficult task for change strategists and leaders.

IMCP Age of Organization	Low	Average	High	TOTAL
Old	57,3	40,3	2,4	100
Adult	46,7	40,0	13,3	100
Young (set up after 1990)	30,7	52,8	16,5	100

Table 5. IMCP and Age of Organization (%) (source: self study)

	6	0		2	57
Age of Organization	IMYP	Low	Average	High	TOTAL
Old		45,1	48,8	6,1	100
Adult		33,3	46,7	20,0	100
Young (set up after 1989)		24,0	58,9	17,1	100

Table 6. IMYP and Age of Organization (%) (source: self study)

Table 7. Relationship between level of IMCP and IMYP in respondent managers (%) (source: self study)

IMYP	Low	Average	High	TOTAL
Low	55,6	37,0	7,4	100
Average	18,8	64,7	16,5	100
High	0,0	75,8	24,2	100

Table 8. List of Organizations and IMCP/IMYP Relationships with Other Variables of the Project	ct
(source: self study)	

Index	Numbers of highest poten-	Statistical relationship between organization potential and properties
	tial organizations	
IMCP	10, 32, 38	Scope of business, type of production, form of ownership, type of business,
		age of organization
IMYP	6, 8, 11, 33	Scope of business, type of production, form of ownership, type of business,
		age of organization and size of organization

#### 5. Summary

Mobile organizations are characterized by personal approach to employees, strategies activating intellectual capital, open and interactive attitude focusing on values like teamwork and trust. Thanks to this, organizations in motion are effective in uncertainty, are better protected against losing and in case of difficulties can faster move on to the winning cycle again [5].

From the viewpoint of management practice, the indexes developed, used to measure youth potential, can be applied to analyse organizational change and improve the understanding of change among managers. They can be used in organizational audits.

Using the indexes, organizations can be divided into Mobile Organizations, open to the environment, that can serve as models to others, and organizations that are more closed, immobile, with low youth potential. The latter require organizational revival projects to be prepared and implemented.

The MOs highlighted by the research are young organizations, set up after 1989 and operating in young industries. They have clear (to strategists and managers) development strategies, effectively introduce change, create conditions for everybody to participate in the change process, and invest in staff development. These organizations are open to the future, to constant change.

Organizations with high youth potential employ and develop managers with high youth potential. They select change-focused managers with change management competencies. MOs are aware of the relationship between the strategy and personnel policy. More often than in the other respondent organizations, in parallel with structural change, MOs introduce changes in compensation systems. Development of people is an important management staff appraisal criterion.

Managers have varied management competencies. The worst-performers are the traditional industry managers, while two foreign-owned high-tech companies reported best results. The management in these companies have among others good change management skills, good personality potential and high level of IT application knowledge.

The age of organizations is positively correlated with change management skills and management staff development, which confirms the impact of the new organizational culture; the older organizations still apply the traditional approach to management. However, part of "traditional" businesses in Poland remains under governmental protection and operates in non-modern sectors. They have learned how to resist changes, especially those of which scope and implementation they were not able to influence. In our research on organizational "motion" public enterprises in traditional industries came out slightly worse.

The situation differs in high technology sectors where winning depends on constant search of new, better products, creation of new markets and constant learning. Two companies (codes as: F06 – utility electronics, and F33 - informatics) that can be considered organizations in motion operate in such sectors. The companies are young in two dimensions – first of all because of their age (in case of the second company it's not the age of the company but of its branch in Poland), and second of all because of their high youth potential.

#### 6. References

- [1] Bratnicki M. Zarządzanie zmianami w przedsiębiorstwie. Wydawnictwo Akademii Ekonomicznej, Katowice 1997.
- [2] Drucker P. F. Spoleczeństwo postkapitalistyczne. PWN, Warszawa 1999.
- [3] Gierszewska G. *Kompetencje strategiczne na poziomie organizacji* [in] Zarządzanie kompetencjami w organizacji (ed. Masłyk-Musiał E.). Oficyna Wydawnicza WSM, Warszawa 2005.
- [4] Kanter R., Stein B.A., Jick T.D. *The Challenge of Organizational Change*. The Free Press, New York 1992.
- [5] Kanter R. M. Confidence. How Winning Streaks and Losing Streaks Begin and End. Crown Business, New York 2004.
- [6] Koźmiński A.K. Zarządzanie w warunkach niepewności. PWN, Warszawa 2004.
- [7] Masłyk-Musiał E. Organizacje w ruchu. Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków 2004.
- [8] Masłyk-Musiał E. (ed.) Zarządzanie kompetencjami w organizacji. WSM, Warszawa 2005.
- [9] Poole M.S., Van de Ven A. H., Dooley K., Holmes M.E. - Organization Change and Innovation Process: Theory and Method for Research. Oxford University Press, Oxford 2000.

#### INFORMATION AND KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT AS A NEW PHASE IN MANAGEMENT THEORY DEVELOPMENT

#### Jerzy KISIELNICKI

Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland jkis@wspiz.edu.pl

*Abstract:* The article presents the following hypothesis: currently we are witnessing a creation of a new management concept in organizational science and management. This concept, which was created after the system concept, can be called the information or knowledge management concept. It was created and is developing due to the development of IT (Information Technology). It is the result of a certain need connected with the development of management science and progress in economical sciences and IT technologies. Problems of electronic economy, the most dynamically developing branch of global economy, require quite a different approach than in current management methods. Therefore the development of this concept is linked with the development of IT and management methods connected with it.

*Key words:* Information, knowledge, management, management theory development, organizational science, Information Technology, e-commerce, virtual technology, virtual organization.

#### 1. Hypothesis and its justification

At the turn of XX and XXI century many qualitative step changes in the development of Management sciences took place. The following hypothesis can be presented:

A new theory was created in the science of management, which is different from previous management theories (classical, behavioral (psychological), quantitative with system approach). The fact that differentiates this theory from the others is a stress on information and knowledge management. It can be named as the information and knowledge management theory, what seems to be the most suitable definition or in a simpler way but with attention to the basic features of knowledge management.

Literature of the subject distinguishes the basic management theories (or directions) such as: classical, behavioural and quantitative with system approach (see [20, 16, 38]). Creation of the first ENIAC computer as well as development of the computer industry contributed to the development of the latter concept.

Current direction, similarly to the quantitative theory with system approach, is connected with the development of modern Information Technology. However modern IT faces different problems and has entirely different solutions than 50 years ago. In the beginning of IT development there were no such tools as the Internet, data banks, databases, multimedia systems, virtual technologies. Presented article is a continuation of earlier deliberations over this issue (see [22, 25, 26]). After these publications the author supported in relation to the correctness of presented hypothesis and decided to develop it.

#### 2. Characterization of the new theory

The new theory, which is usually defined as information and knowledge management theory, is created as:

- response to practical need connected with the creation of information society, which includes the creation of new organization functioning forms and the new role of an employee in a modern enterprise as well as the necessity to use such management methods and techniques that allow risk and change management; this allows dynamic decision making in the changing environment, which is defined as turbulent, virtual or elusive in the literature,
- on the other hand, it is created on the basis of possibilities provided by the rapid development of IT technologies such as the Internet and the creation of supporting systems like BI and e-BI, ERP-II and other e.g. agenda systems; due to the advanced and developing IT tools it is possible to meet all requirements of the customer.

However, the new theory brings threats and ethical issues (cyber terrorism and black PR are only an example of such threats). This issue will be described in detail further in the article. If one would take the disciplines, from which the biggest number of applicants was awarded the Nobel Prize, for the determinant of the development of selected scientific discipline, it should bring to a conclusion that information technology is the most rapidly developing science. These awards, usually connected with economy and physics, show many significant activities taking place in the world of information technology and the applications of this technology.

Fundamental works of authors such as P. M Sanga, I. Nonaka, H. Takeuchi, E.A. Feingenbaum, A. Jashapar, A. Tiwan and many others, are a part of the global canon of knowledge management. Many of such elaborations are also created in Poland.

If one would took a closer look at the situation in Poland, he would discover that the subjects of recently organized conferences, scientific seminaries, published monographs, articles and publications in magazines such as HBR, Manager Magazine, Computerworld are concerning mainly information and knowledge management.

Many publications from this field of science include A. Koźmiński and P. Jemielniak [17], W. M. Grudzewski and I. K. Hejduk (red) [13], J. Kisielnicki [27], S. Forlicz [9]. L. W Zachera [2008 – jubilee journal], K. Perechuda [34]. There are many more publication in this matter and the listed authors include only a small part of the ones that are most recognized (this article was submitted in the January of 2009). This article will not deal with the relations between management science and other social sciences. Readers interested in these issues should read the elaboration by S. Sudoł [39] or the opining submitted by W. M. Grudzewski [13] for the purpose of Organization and Management Committee of Polish Academy of Sciences.

Global literature frequently uses the term "new economy" for current period (J. Schermerhorn in [38] uses the more appropriate term of modern management).What is the essence of new economy and modern management? The essence of new economy is the use of Information Technology in information management process as well as knowledge management processes. Similarly to most of Organization and Management Committee of Polish Academy of Sciences members [committee meeting reports from 2007 – 2008) the author claims that management should by now separate itself from economic sciences. In further deliberations the term of modern management is used.

Did the proper time for the functioning of the new theory have already come or are we witnessing the creation of it? However, what is proven in the article, changes in the theory and practice of management are significant, that is why one can speak of creation of the new concept. Even though the concept is connected with the traditional management theories, especially with the quantitative with system approach theory, it can be acclaimed as an independent concept. The term E-management is not used in the article not to limit the analyzed concepts only to the issues connected with Information Technology. The development of IT technology is significant what can be observed in the influence of the Internet on the new management directions [35]. IT gave a new impulse to the organizational and management sciences and forced us to reinvent our approach towards management theory.

When analyzing the previous experience of organizational and management sciences one assumes that it was dealing with the following problems in all of its development phases:

- efficiency (actions of humans are rational it is the paradigm of the classical theory including scientific management and ideal bureaucracy),
- motivation (people seek ways to improve their place in the society, properly motivated the can "lift mountains" – the basis of psychological or behavioral theory also known as social and human resources management),
- decisions (people aim at taking the right decisions in existing conditions – the leading direction in the quantitative with system approach theory).

Aiming at the management in the conditions of complete information is one of the common trends. Information is a specific resource, which allows to solve issues connected with the lack of other resources.

Management is a social science that deals with decision making in the situation of lack of resources such as: land, workforce, capital and drive and initiative. These decisions should also include the practically unlimited needs and requirements of the society. To fulfill such needs and face the lack of resources many different decision making procedures are used, which deal with the allocation of the limited resources. Modern management theory, supporting the economical sciences in this matter, deals with the decision making process that answers the following question: How does the modern society deal with the lacking resources?



Figure 1. Development of management schools (source: self study)

Solutions connected with information management, including knowledge management, contribute to the more efficient solutions for modern world problems. Due to Information Technology, especially global computer networks, we are operating in cyberspace.

Cyberspace is created by two basic elements:

- heterogeneous computers localized in different places of the physical space that are able to receive and transfer information,
- global computer networks able to transfer information.

Relations existing between these elements have the form of various relationships and are determined with existing procedures and communication protocols. Lack of possibility to determine the boundaries with physical measures and multi-directions of relations are the main characteristics of the cyberspace.

Computers in the cyberspace are mainly connected with WWW network, Electronic Data Interchange, multicast, P2P (peer to peer) and other solutions.

In this space the information transferring and decision making time is very short and is usually counted in split seconds. The basic management issue, which is managing with lacking resources, is usually dealt with new form, never used before:

- new market forms electronic market,
- new organizational forms virtual organizations,
- interactive portals with the active role of its users in its creation, development and exploitation,
- possibility to use the global knowledge banks such as the European Library,

 virtual participation in different endeavors such as possibility to join New Year's Eve party in Sydney (2008/2009).

New situation in management development causes many unexpected effects to appear, such as creation of information society, globalization and democratization of our everyday life. On the other hand there are many threats connected with this situation. One needs to be prepared for losses and dealing with types of crime never before present, such as cyber terror, financial and bank frauds, black PR.

The development of management theories is presented in the Figure 1. This Figure illustrates the tendencies that appear in management practice, which indicate that certain theories and concepts are constantly developing. Many new theories are created on the basis of the old ones, which are the main source of inspiration.

### **3.** Knowledge as the basic element of the new management theory functioning

Information and knowledge as well as procedures on its gathering, processing and adjusting to the needs of the final users, are the basic elements of the new theory. Modern organization is functioning in global economy, which is known for the fierce competitive rivalry in the market. Many mergers and alliances are usually of strategic nature and are aimed at strengthening the market position of an enterprise. This situation is present both in local and global market. Not only does the enterprise need data and information to realize set goals and mission, but also content related knowledge. Such knowledge is gathered from the employees as well as gained from the closer and farther environment of the enterprise. In his characterization of management sciences development Tiwana [41] is giving the following definition of the XXI century: knowledge management, intellectual capital, Integrated Informational Systems (such as ERP I /II, CIM), culture favoring knowledge transfer.

Development of knowledge and information management related sciences is possible only if it is supported with a proper management infrastructure. This infrastructure consists of such IT elements as: hardware, software, information transferring networks such as Internet, intranet and extranet. While developing this hypothesis one can claim that IT application, especially the creation of integrated information systems [SWD, SE, BI, ERP], together with tolls like: databases, data stores, knowledge and model bases, allows the practical use of knowledge management. Relation between knowledge management and an information system is presented in the Figure 2.

According to McDermott [6] IT technology is inspiring for knowledge management. The only factor that assures proper enterprise development strategy is the use of computers. It is said that the computer infrastructure is the basis for knowledge management. Grudzewski and Hejduk [12] in their analysis of the technology development impact on the enterprise of the future come to a conclusion that both gigantic Boeing manufacturing process and the activities of Bill Gates would not be possible without the use of modern management methods, high organizational culture, use of innovative technologies and modern IT. The authors claim, on the basis of theoretical deliberations on management theory those upcoming years will be the beginning of the age of information and data processing.

It is assumed that knowledge is the immaterial organizational resource connected with human activities, which can be the basis of competitive advantage of the enterprise. Knowledge is related to the possessed intellectual capital, which is: data, information, procedures as well as experience and education of the users. Knowledge is strongly connected with the following factors: culture, ethics, intuition, working conditions, management style. The latter has a major impact on the effectiveness and efficiency of knowledge management system what has an influence on the competitive position of a company. From the organizational point of view the main issue is not the knowledge itself but its practical applications, what was emphasized by Wawrzyniak [45]. One can assume that whether a resource is a data, informational or knowledge resource is determined through the practical use of it.

Sometimes it is assumed that knowledge is the type of immaterial resource which does not become obsolete, is not consumed and does not worn out while made accessible or popularized. This view is correct only when taking the physical data carrier into consideration. Knowledge recorded on data carriers or spoken out is not wearing out. However, in most cases, during the popularization process it loses its value and unique nature. It is similar to the situation of changing working conditions. Every person that is professionally dealing with knowledge gathering is encountering this problem.

This situation is a result of a simple dependence that a knowledge possessed by an individual has far greater value that the same knowledge possessed by many people. It is important to point out that knowledge that is not used becomes useless.

Toffler [43] names the following features that distinguish knowledge from the traditional resources:

- Domination knowledge is superior in relation to other resources. It is the success factor of an enterprise. Remaining resources are only supplementary to knowledge. Market future and competitive advantage relies on proper and effective knowledge management.
- 2. Inexhaustibility use of knowledge does not decrease the intellectual resources of the company. The use of knowledge models a new way of use of manufacturing resources. Experts claim that when the employees make the knowledge available, knowledge resources of the organization increase through gathering of new elements possessed in the knowledge transferring process. Concepts popular in traditional economy such as e.g. depreciation are not applicable in knowledge management.
- Simultaneousness in knowledge management it is a situation when the same knowledge can be simultaneously used by different people in different places.
- Nonlinearity This is defined as a lack of proper measurements of relations between the amount of knowledge and economical effect. Having large



Figure 2. Relation between knowledge management and information systems (source: [6])

amounts of knowledge does not necessarily mean that one enterprise has a competitive advantage over the other. At the same time a fraction of knowledge can cause a chain reaction and lead to gaining of market competitive advantage and other significant effects (this is usually defined as the "butterfly effect"). Nonlinearity is the impossibility to predict the effects of knowledge possession and the fact that the same knowledge can bring significant development in one organization and bring no effect at all in another. It leads to a conclusion that the chain: knowledge – high management competences – decisions, needs to be taken into consideration.

Immateriality is another significant feature of knowledge what was pointed out by Jarugowa and Strojny [16]. Knowledge cannot be simply counted and shown as an asset in accounting. It is a strange kind of resource that even if it is sold one is still in a possession of it. Franchising can be one of such examples – the more licenses are sold the bigger is the value of a mother company. Knowledge development and building up core competences requires time what means that gaining competitive advantage based on knowledge management can be hard do recognize [10].

Knowledge has the following features (see [30]):

- it is created in many different circumstances and can become a product, which can later be sold,
- it is not unambiguous it can be interpreted in different ways by different people,
- it is dynamic and quickly becomes obsolete,
- it materializes through products and services,
- in can be structured in different types of IT systems (especially in knowledge bases).

Knowledge classification, necessary for enterprise management, according to its adjustment and possibility of presentation with IT technology is crucial for this elaboration. Two approaches, with suitable simplification born in mind, can be distinguished for knowledge resources creation: Western and Japanese. One can also encounter a mixed Scandinavian approach, which is basing on enterprise's intellectual capital research and evaluation – so called estimation of business value. Western approach is supporting open knowledge. This approach is represented by Simon and Drucker and in this approach knowledge is equal to database record, chemical formula or a set of regulations. For example Arthur Andersen Consulting [32] based its functioning on the creation of formalized knowledge creation procedures. Does the application and sustaining of this rule led to the bankruptcy of the company is another issue. It seems that an efficient functioning of an enterprise requires also the Japanese approach. Application of this approach is extremely difficult, especially for people dealing with recording of knowledge resources.

Japanese approach is presented e.g. by Nonaka and Takeuchi [33], who claim that formalized knowledge, expressed in words and numbers, is only the tip of an iceberg. Japanese corporations take the "hidden knowledge" (tactic knowledge) approach, which means that knowledge is not directly visible or directly expressed. The knowledge that creates business value is highly individual and difficult to formalize. This is the reason why this knowledge is difficult to share and transfer to other employees. Such kind of knowledge includes intuition, gut-feeling, corporate culture thus everything that cannot be expressed in the artifacts of the enterprise. Moreover the knowledge is deeply hidden both in individual activities and experience as well as ideals, values and emotions.

Open knowledge is relatively easy to record with Information Technology tools. Application of such tools as databases and knowledge bases allow to record open knowledge. Knowledge is recorded through the use of different models such as PERT/CPM schedules, decision making tables, mental maps, goal trees, UML language and other models. Recording hidden knowledge is more difficult due to the fact that it usually exists in the mind of people.

K. Perechuda, during NTIE conference stated that "knowledge is hidden id us, therefore it cannot be transferred" (Morsko – NTIE 2004 Conference).

Different relations occur between the management system and the type of knowledge present in an organization – see Table 1.



Figure 3. Relations between data, information and knowledge (source: [44], p. 349)

Table 1 presents the type of knowledge that is more useful according to implemented management system: centralized or decentralized.

Table 1. Relations between management style and know-
ledge type (source: self study)

Туре	Centralized	Decentralized
	management	management
	system	system
Open	Crucial for the	Supporting the
Knowledge	decision mak-	decision mak-
	ing process	ing process
Hidden	Supporting the	Crucial for the
knowledge	decision mak-	decision mak-
	ing process	ing process

Therefore according to the main subject of the article, centralized management system is easier in terms of IT application. Demand for knowledge especially addresses the open knowledge, which, with the use of modern IT tools, is relatively easy to record in the knowledge base.

For the purpose of this article a different kind of division of basic kinds of knowledge is necessary. Presented proposition is a modification of Jehari window model, which is used for interpersonal communication analysis. Adaptation of this model for the classification of basic knowledge types is presented in the Table 2.

 Table 2. Classification of basic knowledge types (source: self study based on [11] and [39])

nowledge, in-
e for the organi-
d its employees
sible for the ex-
vironment.
n knowledge,
ble for the or-
n, employees
xternal envi-

#### 4. Information and knowledge management determinants

Recording of open, hidden or "blind" knowledge is not a problem for modern Information Technology. The only condition for the recording is for the knowledge to come into existence. However modern IT solutions, such as the use of semantic and related agenda systems, aim at possibility of recording of unknown knowledge. This is favored by the development in IT tools responsible for data gathering. It relates to shallow and deep gathering of information from the Internet (for more details please see the monograph by Abramowicz [1]).

When speaking about the new management theory it is crucial to point out the features, which distinguish it from theoretical and practical solutions of traditional management theories. The main difference between classical theories and the new approach is that the new theory is based on specific resources of knowledge and information, which were never explored before. Knowledge is gathered from information what is presented in the Fig. 2. What is knowledge and what is its function in the management process. The answer to this question is presented in the previous definition of knowledge as a basic element of functioning for the new management theory. It is necessary to emphasize that even seemingly irrelevant piece of knowledge can lead to unexpected and great benefits inversely proportional to the resources used to gain it. World is constantly changing, business processes are subjected to transformation and only the possession of information and knowledge resources assure the possibility to monitor the change processes and make proper corrective and development decisions.

Features that are the result of the specific character of the information resource have both micro and macro character.

Main macro determinants include:

- creation of information society,
- creation of new electronic forms of global organizations and the global market, which through trans-

formation replace traditional structures and cause cultural changes in management systems – knowledge based intercultural management,

- modification of old organizational structures in the economy and administration,
- cultural changes in management systems.

Main micro determinants include:

- direct knowledge and data transferring system, which eliminates intermediaries through creation of hubs allows decentralization and democratization of management, elimination classical hierarchical organizational structures,
- creation of flexible organizational forms, so called virtual teams, which are directed at knowledge sharing in task realization, independently of the geographical location of team members,
- different from the traditional approach formulation of basic elements of economic calculations such as: investment expenses, boundary production costs and relation of these costs to the scale of production,
- use of such knowledge management methods and techniques, including expert systems, which allow fast decision-making in constantly changing environment.

Listed features are the most crucial ones but are they adequate and sufficient to speak of new management theory? In this case answers may vary. However, it is not possible to discuss all related issues in one article or even a series of articles.

The assumption is that the article points out the problem and starts a discussion on the subject of the development of the new science area. This discussion should pay special attention to the virtualization process realized through IT and the new type of organizations created on the basis of these processes. According to Hammer and Champy [15] this process leads to revolutionary changes both in the theory and practice of management science. Current theory is not always suitable for new conditions and its practical usability is limited. Virtualization process includes also advantages brought by virtual technology, which will be described in the following part of the article.

#### 5. Role of IT technology and tools in the creation of the new theory

IT technology is supporting modern management infrastructure, which is providing information and knowledge to its users. The role of Internet can be compared

to the one played by one the first computers ENIAC, which was the basis for the creation of quantitative with system approach theory. It is a similar situation because technical resources again allowed reaching a new quality in management. The most significant elements of these organizations are the global computer networks, large and dispersed databases, data warehouses and knowledge bases, which function independently of existing country boundaries. The World Trade Forum discussed in 1997 the topic of "Building of networking societies". Even though over ten years passes since that event, issues and problems signaled there are still significant and important (see [5]). Creation of global networks and knowledge bases is a chance of development for different organizational forms as well a chance for individual society members Relationships of particular elements of virtual organization are for example: Internet global network, WAN networks or urban MAN networks.

Computer network is a cooperation channel between virtual and real elements of the organization in the global market. Usually computer system access and proper use of it becomes the success factor. For example, virtual technology changes the manner of business contact and negotiation between the transaction participants. It is different from traditional contact between the purchaser and the salesman and is realized via MRP/ERP system or with CRM (Consumer Relation Management).

According to E. Tiwana ([42], p. 34-35), while analyzing relations between knowledge management and CRM systems, "While processes are becoming more and more dependent on knowledge—transaction costs are decreasing and current needs are deciding about new relations". The author also points out that a major integration of customer based knowledge leads to a situation where "Enterprises which are able to change the knowledge in the minds of its employees and customers into practical possibilities and relations, will become leaders".

Functioning communicational systems have the greatest influence on the realized uses of virtual technology. Traditional systems of communication are often replaced with virtual technology or modified with the use of it. Contrary to still commonly used traditional systems; new communication systems function in the cyberspace. One of the main features of the cyberspace is that the place, time and way of transaction realization are not relevant. Examples of appliance of virtual technology listed in the table can be defined as ecommerce. E-commerce subjects, procedures and information is using infrastructure basing on teleinformational networks. Communication with the use of such networks is a necessary condition or the existence of e-commerce.

E-commerce can be presented as a building (Fig. 4), of which:

- "foundation" is the IT that consist of: Electronic Data Interchange, modern programming languages such as Java and HTML, databases, knowledge and model bases, data storages as well as computer network of different types (global, local, urban or municipal),
- "walls (pillars)" are people, organization, procedures, corporate culture, economic and social policy,
- "roof" consists of two particular applications in banking, trade, industry and marketing.

When considering e-commerce in terms of communicational system it can be defined as a system that allows provision of information, production, services, financial resources with the use of technical resources such as computer networks and other electronic data interchange resources. Therefore, according to application we deal with different properties of the communicational system. Communication system used in business appliances is characterized extreme pace and directness of realization (elimination of intermediaries and activities).

E-commerce is the part of market, which is functioning due to Information Technology. This technology allows the realization of material, informational and financial flows.

From the business perspective e-commerce allows the use of proper IT technology that allows automatic business transactions. Main benefits are: speed of reaction, reduction of errors and mistakes number, possibility of transactions between market participants, who normally would not perform it.

Communication system functioning in e-commerce is based in interactions and relations network. This has both advantages and disadvantages. Limitations occurring in everyday life like building or street renovation or seeking of a place to file in the complaint will not affect the functioning.

Virtual technology contributed to the creation of the greatest market in the history of our civilization –



Figure 4. E-commerce structure (source: self study)

the e-market. This technology is used to create virtual organizations as well as providing products and services, real or virtual. It uses tools that are different than in classic approach, such as: virtual machines, modeling, and simulation.

Virtual technology can be considered in two aspects:

- technology used for the creation of virtual products,
- tools, which allow replacing traditional tools with more efficient and effective ones.

It also means the entity of knowledge that concerns creation of virtual product such as: virtual organization, virtual education, virtual teams and virtual reality. In order to create such products, ITC knowledge is necessary, especially about communication platforms, multimedia systems, portals. It is also a kind of information technology, which allows the influence on real environment controlled by the computer or computer emulated. The latter aspect leads to computer simulation that replaces traditional reality with virtual reality. As a result we can efficiently research a problem without taking personal risk (thermo-nuclear reactions, radioactive pollution and other subjects like stock market simulation without the risk of losing financial assets).

Modeling allows broadening the possibilities of our activities in the changing environment and to become more competitive as well as gain new experience without the necessity of functioning in the real world. Table 3 collects selected possibilities given by virtual technology. Presented table can be considerably extended, especially in the areas like medicine, transport, agriculture.

The success of particular people or organizations often depends on the access and ability to effectively use the virtual technology. For example, virtual technology changes the manner of business contact and negotiation between the transaction participants. It is different from

Area of activity Object of activity	Business	Administration	Education	Culture
Human	Electronic banking, Management cockpit	Tax return	E-learning	Movie selection
Organization	Virtual team, Virtual organization	Participation in offer bidding	Virtual University, E-learning	Virtual museums and art galleries
Organization system	E-market	E-government	Virtual, global li- brarian collection	Virtual, global museum collection

Table 3. Examples of virtual technology appliance (source: self study)

traditional contact between the purchaser and the salesman, realized via MRP/ERP system, CRM (Consumer Relation Management) or with the BI (Business Intelligence)

### 6. Information and knowledge management – development perspectives

Near future will reveal whether the new information and knowledge management theory will be implemented into professional activities. Are there going to be created organizations which will require changes in the existing, traditional theories and adapting to changing market situation?

Virtual technologies are going to be the experimental ground due to the use of Information Technology. Issues of e-commerce and e-business will require the use of new management methods. Therefore the development of this new management theory depends on the development of IT tools. Never before has there been such a great stress laid on resources like information and knowledge. Globalization processes forced effective management to be based on information and knowledge from different areas of human activity and his or hers environment.

Controlling complex processes triggers demand for current information and knowledge. Knowledge features such as dominance, inexhaustibility, simultaneousness, nonlinearity, immateriality, are efficient with the use of modern management methods. In many kinds of science the knowledge passed to students in the beginning of the semester becomes obsolete in the end of it.

Does the issue end here? Wisdom management becomes a current topic of discussions. The main problem of this concept is a clear definition of wisdom and its relation with knowledge. Modern World can be presented as a large system. Information system is a sub-element of the World system. Subsystem plays the role of a nervous system, which provides different informational signals to all objects that are creating it.

According to G. Morgan ([31], p. 399) "Organizations are simultaneously many different things" and further (p. 418) that they should be analyzed as "decision making and communication system". To analyze this statement one needs broad research on information that is describing the organization as well as the one describing its environment.

Currently large fully accessible knowledge bases are built in many countries individually and in cooperation. European Union realizes the "E-Europe Strategy" as one of the virtual technology initiatives. This especially concerns productivity increase with the provision of knowledge about new markets and public services. It stops being an egalitarian good and starts to be an accessible good. In the knowledge bases it is stored as a hidden knowledge and as an open knowledge. Access to the gathered knowledge requires proper preparation of the users. Its basis is the realization of the statements: "My knowledge base is where my laptop is and I can use it whenever I need it" and "I am using the necessary knowledge in suitable time".

Presented article describes selected issues of presented new management theory. Presented aspects, even though being only a small part of all related issues, are crucial and sufficient to support presented hypothesis. Theoretical basis of the new school were already defined by other authors. It is important to mention the works of famous cybernetics like Wiener [46], Beer [3] or Ashby [2]. These works have drawn the attention to the fact that everything can be analyzed in the aspect of information. These researchers did not have proper tools to verify their hypothesis. Currently the situation has changed – we have suitable tools and methods. Management theory is developing, what allows to move from management in stable conditions to dynamic management in constantly changing environment.

#### 7. References

- [1] Abramowicz W. *Filtracja informacji*. Wyd. Akademii Ekonomicznej w Poznaniu, Poznań 2007.
- [2] Ashby R.W. *Wstęp do cybernetyki*. PWN, Warszawa 1963.
- [3] Beer M. Organization Change and Development. Goodyear Publishing Company, Santa Monica 1980.
- [4] Byrne J.A., Brandt R. *The Virtual Corporation*, [in] Business Week, 8.02.1993.
- [5] Celary W. (ed.) Polska w drodze do globalnego spoleczeństwa informacyjnego – raport o rozwoju społecznym. NDP, Warszawa 2002.
- [6] Drucker P. *The New Organization* [in] Harvard Business Review, No. 1-2, 1998.
- [7] Drucker P. *The Next Society, A Survey of the Near Future* [in] The Economist, Vol. 361, No. 8246, 2001.
- [8] Forlicz S. *Informacja w biznesie*. PWE, Warszawa 2008.
- [9] Gierszewska G. *Zarządzanie wiedzą*. WSHiP, Warszawa 2009.
- [10] Griffin R.W. Podstawy zarządzania organizacją. PWN, Warszawa 1996.
- [11] Grodkowski W. *Komunikowanie interpersonalne*. Hansa Communication. Warszawa 2001.
- [12] Grudzewski W.M., Hejduk I. K. (ed.) *W poszukiwaniu* nowych paradygmatów zarządzania. Szkoła Główna Handlowa w Warszawie, Warszawa 2008.
- [13] Grudzewski W.M., Hejduk I.K. (ed.) Przedsiębiorstwo przyszłości – wizja strategiczna. Difin, Warszawa 2002.
- [14] Hammer M, Champy J. *Reengineering the Corporation*. HarperCollins, New York 1993.
- [15] Jarugowa A., Fijałkowska Rachunkowość i zarządzanie kapitałem intelektualnym. Koncepcja i praktyka,. ODiDK, Gdańsk 2002.
- [16] Jemielniak D., Koźmiński A. (ed.) Zarządzanie wiedzą. Wydawnictwa Akademickie i Profesjonalne, Warszawa 2008.
- [17] Kindar J., Management, D.C. *Heath and Company*. Lexington, Toronto 1988.
- [18] Kisielnicki J. Szkoła zarządzania informacja i wiedzą jako nowy kierunek rozwoju nauk organizacji i zarządzania [in] Zeszyty naukowe Wydziału Zarządzania UW, No. 1/2005, pp. 8–18, Warszawa 2005.
- [19] Kisielnicki J (ed.) Modern Organization in Virtual Communities. IRMA - Press Hershey, London, Bejing 2002.
- [20] Kisielnicki J. (ed.) Informatyka narzędziem zarządzania w XXI wieku. PJWSTK, Warszawa 2003.
- [21] Kisielnicki J. (ed.) Zarządzanie wiedzą we współczesnych organizacjach. WSHiP, Warszawa 2003.

- [22] Kisielnicki J. Zarządzanie informacją, czyli rozważania nad tym czy powstaje nowa szkoła w naukach organizacji i zarządzania? [in] Organizacja i Kierowanie, No. 4, pp. 121, 2002.
- [23] Kisielnicki J. Zarządzanie. PWE, Warszawa 2008.
- [24] Kisielnicki J. Virtual Organization as a Product of Information Society [in] Informatica No. 22, pp. 3, 1998.
- [25] Kołodko G. Wirujący świat. Wydawnictwa Akademickie i Profesjonalne, Warszawa 2007.
- [26] Koźmiński A.. Jak stworzyć gospodarkę opartą na wiedzy [in] Strategia rozwoju Polski u progu XX wieku, Komitet Prognoz" Polska 200 Plus" PAN, Warszawa 2001.
- [27] Martin J. Cybercorp. The New Business Revolution, New York 1996.
- [28] Martyniak Z (ed.) Zarządzanie informacją i komunikacją. Wyd. Akademii Ekonomicznej, Kraków 2000.
- [29] McDermott R. Why Information Technology Inspired But Cannot Deliver Know Management [in] California Management Review, Vol. 41, No. 4, 1999.
- [30] Mikuła B., Pietruszka Ortyl A., Potocki A. Zarządzanie przedsiębiorstwem XXI wieku: Wybrane koncepcje i metody. Difin, Warszawa 2002.
- [31] Morgan G. *Obrazy organizacji*. PWN, Warszawa 1997.
- [32] Nanda A. Family Freud: Andersen v. Andersen [in] HBS Working Paper, No. 9-800-064, 2002.
- [33] Nonaka I., Takeuchi H. *Kreowanie wiedzą w organi*zacji. Poltext, Warszawa 2000.
- [34] Perechuda K. Dyfuzja wiedzy w przedsiębiorstwach sieciowych. Wyd AE we Wrocławiu, Wrocław 2007.
- [35] Porter M.E. *Strategy and the Internet* [in] Harvard Business Review, pp. 63-78, March 2001.
- [36] Quinn. J.B. *The Intelligent Enterprise*. The Free Press, New York 1992.
- [37] Schermerhorn J. R. jr. *Zarządzanie*. PWE, Warszawa 2008.
- [38] Scholzch Ch. Virtuelle Unternehmen Organisatorische Revolution mit Strategischer Implikation [in] Management & Computer, No. 2, 1996.
- [39] Steward J. Mosty zamiast murów. O komunikowaniu się miedzy ludźmi. WN-PWN, Warszawa 2000.
- [40] Sudoł S. Nauki o zarządzaniu węzłowe problemy i kontrowersje. TNOIK, Toruń 2007.
- [41] Tiwana A. Przewodnik po zarządzaniu wiedzą e-biznes i zastosowania CRM. Placet, Warszawa 2003.
- [42] Tiwana A. *The Practical Techniques for Building a Knowledge Management System*, Prentice Hall PTR, New Jersey 1999.
- [43] Toffler A., Toffler H. Budowanie nowej cywilizacji. Polityka trzeciej fali. Zysk S-ka, Poznań 1999.
- [44] Turban E, Aronson, J.E. *DSS and Intelligent Systems*. Prentice Hall, New Jersey 2001.
- [45] Wawrzyniak B. Od koncepcji do praktyki zarządzania wiedzą w przedsiębiorstwie [in] Zarządzanie wiedzą w przedsiębiorstwie, Polska Fundacja Promocji Kadr i WSPiZ, Warszawa 2001.
- [46] Wiener N. Cybernetyka, czyli sterowanie i komunikacja w człowieku i maszynie. WNT, Warszawa 1971.

#### FORECASTING THE EFFECTS OF INVESTMENTS IN KNOWLEDGE-WORKERS IN THE SME SECTOR, USING THE GMDH METHOD

Justyna PATALAS-MALISZEWSKA\*, Tadeusz KRUPA\*\*,

\*Institute of Computer Science and Production Management, University of Zielona Góra, 65-417 Zielona Góra e-mail: j.patalas@iizp.uz.zgora.pl

\*\*Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland e-mail: T.Krupa@wz.pw.edu.pl

Abstract: The enterprises functioning in market economy have to implement changes in systems of organization and management that they use. In economy practice making a decision in enterprise is conditioned by competitors' action, changing factors of environments, e.g. technical progress and results of the research works. Added value for SME can be determine as knowledge, employees' skills and abilities, social relation, know-how, and particularly effective investing in intellectual capital. The enterprises which invest in knowledge and systems of work are achieved competitive advantage, because of their workers' readiness to learning and qualifying themselves and also thanks to effective information and communication transfers. In this paper we allowed to respond to the following question: whether a given algorithm that enables the characteristics of the knowledge-workers and the expected results of expenditures on the intellectual capital (potential benefits from investing in the knowledge-workers) binding? This paper presents prediction effects of investments in knowledge-workers in the SME sector when using the neural systems GMDH basing on the Ivachnienko algorithm.

Key words: Intellectual capital in SME, GMDH method, investing in intellectual capital.

#### 1. Introduction

Currently, the advantage of a company in the SME sector is determined by effectiveness and the extent of the knowledge-workers' involvement. The role of human capital management consists in striving to increase the share of immaterial resources (at the costs of the material ones) in the generated products, services, and the total market value of an organization [10]. It is an important part of the intellectual capital of an organization, as it influences the development of its other elements, i.e.: the structural capital and the customers' capital [2]. The subject literature includes various definitions of the intellectual capital. "Intellectual capital means the possessed knowledge, experience, organizational technology, relations with customers, and professional skills which provide [...] competitive advantage on the market" [5]. "It is a knowledge which can be turned into value" [8].

Building the company's intellectual capital, the employees must cooperate in creation of the company's value. In this context, the employees should be convinced that they work in a strategic partnership and generate benefits in the company. Such employees are distinguished by specific traits (intelligence, involvement, energy, positive attitude, reliability, honesty), ability to learn (receptivity of the mind, imagination, analytical thinking), and motivation for sharing the information and knowledge [15].

On the basis of the definitions, it can be assumed that a knowledge-worker is distinguished by:

- creativity (C),
- knowledge (K),
- qualifications (Q),
- reliability (R),
- skills (S),
- involvement (I),
- honesty (H).

In the SME sector, the knowledge-employees can be evaluated according to the aforementioned characteristics:

$$Kw = \{C, K, Q, R, S, I, H\} = \{C = 1,..., n; K = 1,..., 5; Q = 1,..., 5; R = 1,..., n; S = 1,..., p; I = 1,..., n; H = 1,..., p\},$$

where each trait of an employee is precisely defined, and has an ascribed value:

- C creativity ability to generate new, innovative ideas (index: number of ideas (new solutions, created by the employee during a year),
- K knowledge proper processing and usage of information (index: results of a specialist test of the given employee, the test is constructed depending on the employee's profile, graded 1 to 5: 1-poor result, 5-the best result),
- Q qualifications education and professional experience (index: graduating from studies, post-graduate education, courses, trainings secondary education: 1, higher education: 2, additional specialist courses: 3, post-graduate studies: 4, MBA studies: 5),
- R reliability preciseness of the completed tasks (index: number of complaints from the customers during a year,
- S skills quality the completed tasks (index: work productivity),
- I involvement creating productive relations in a company (index: number of new customers gained during a year),
- H honesty completing tasks based on trust (index: number of employees' meetings in which the employee participated and given the new ideas to the number of all the meetings during a year).

For a company, investing in the knowledge-workers comes down to organizing trainings for the employees (the second chapter of this article presents the remaining factors of intellectual capital development). Treating the training as an investment results in expectations of reimbursement of the incurred expenditures in a specific time. Yet, assessing profitability of an investment in the intellectual capital requires the so-called soft categories, e.g. the company's organizational culture. A method, which on the one hand would allow for demonstration of relationship between the knowledgeworkers' characteristics, and company's benefits, and on the other would allow for estimation of the potential results of expenditures incurred on the intellectual capital, is sought.

The following research thesis has been put forward: There is a very specific relationship between the characteristics of the knowledge - workers, and the expected results of expenditures on the intellectual capital (potential benefits from investing in the knowledge-workers). In other words, investing in the intellectual capital is profitable, if the value of the potential benefits function B(Kw) is acceptable for the management of the SME sector company.

Furthermore, the following research problem has been formulated: Important potential benefits generated by the intellectual capital are distinguished in the SME sector company. Is there a method allowing to estimate the return on an investment in the intellectual capital, in the category of gaining the expected benefits?

The second charter of the article presents a conception of knowledge-workers management in the SME. Factors influencing the development of the intellectual capital in the SME were defined, and the expected benefits from expenditures incurred on the intellectual capital were distinguished. Methods of evaluating profitability of investments in the intellectual capital, known from the subject literature, were demonstrated. The need of applying econometrical methods to solve the stated research problem was emphasized.

The third chapter contains characteristics of the GMDH as a method allowing to define the potential return on investment in the intellectual capital. Current examples of applying this method were presented.

The fourth charter presents the process of forecasting the return on investment in the intellectual capital, in the aspect of gaining expected benefits by the company management.

The summary presents directions of further works.

#### 2. Managing intellectual capital in SMEs

The process of managing intellectual capital should consist of two stages: identifying and measuring. Literature distinguishes qualitative measures (e.g. Danish project of IC measurement, 'Scandia' navigator, intangible assets monitor, IC model - TM Rating, VCSTM, balanced result sheet, report by Saratoga Institute) and methods of valuating intellectual capital (e.g. MV/ MB, q-Tobin, CIV, KCE, VAICTM, economic added value, IAV model, Strassmann's method, IAMVTM, technology broker). Attempts are made continuously to find methods for measuring intellectual capital and still there is no one recognised method enabling to build an intellectual capital reporting system. The difficulty is that the majority of concepts are prepared for specific companies, in other words such measuring methods are tailor made and their general application is not possible. [4, 5, 7, 9, 12].

Methods of valuating intellectual capital	Advantages	Weakness
Ross's method - indicators in two classes: human capital, structural capital	Value of intellectual capi- tal's indicators	Subjective choice of intellectual capital's indicators
Danish project of IC measurement - indicators in 4 classes: human capital, structural capital, organization technology, relations with clients	Dynamic matrix of intel- lectual capital's indicators	Insufficiently number of intel- lectual capital's indicators
Scandia navigator – measuring intellectual capital based on analysis of 5 areas: client, finance, processes, person- nel, organization's development)	Monitoring of organiza- tion's productivity.	Subjective choice of intellectual capital's indicators.
IC – Rating <sup>TM</sup> - measuring intellectual capital based on 4 areas: business policy, human capital, relation's capital	Intellectual capital as or- ganization's added value	Subjective choice of intellectual capital's indicators.
Intangible assets monitor - intellectual capital's indicators in 3. areas: inner and external structure and competence. In the each area in 4. classes: increase, regeneration, prod- uctivity, stability.	Controlling in the area: in- tellectual capital	Subjective choice of intellectual capital indicators
Balance Scorecard – indicators in 4 areas: finance, client, inner's processes and learning process.	Logic matrix of intellec- tual capital indicators	Static matrix of intellectual capi- tal indicators
VCS <sup>TM</sup> - indicators in 3 phases: design of new product, analysis of technological processes, initiation of product in the market.	Research of main enter- prises information's needs.	External reports
<ul> <li>Value discoverer – 3 stages:</li> <li>1) identification of competence and of intangible assets;</li> <li>2) valuating of weakness and advantages of intangible assets;</li> <li>3) resource allocation.</li> </ul>	Indentifying of main com- petences.	Subjective choice of intellectual capital indicators.
Report by Saratoga Institute – indicators in the 6 area of intellectual capital: organization's productivity, human resource structure, salary, added welfare, dismissal, train- ing	Matrix of a few area of managing intellectual capi- tal.	Not for SMEs
MV/MB – relation between the market and account value, (if the relations is more than 1, that the intellectual capital exists.	Simply calculation	Over - simplification
Q – Tonbina - relation between market value and intangi- ble assets value (if more than 1 and ,,q" competition enter- prises, that the profit of intellectual capital exists.	Simply calculation	Over - simplification
CIV – value of "current prizes"	Simply calculation	Average value of indicators
VAIC <sup>TM</sup> (KCE) – value of intellectual capital	Correlation between profit of intellectual capital and profit of organization's ac- tivity	Profit of material assets, finance assets and intangible assets

Table 1. Analysis of methods of valuating intellectual capital (source: self study on the basis of [4, 9, 15])

Methods of valuating intellectual capital	Advantages	Weakness
Economic added value	Correlation between profit of intellectual capital and profit of organization's ac- tivity	Complicated model
IAV – the organization's value based on innovation and business assets	Meaning of innovation and business assets in added value creating.	Profit of material assets, finance assets and intangible assets
Strassmann's method - knowledge's base (market value and cost of knowledge's capital)	Exact date's base	Over - simplification
$IAMV^{TM}$ – definition of market value as the account and market value.	Indentifying of main intel- lectual capital's parame- ters	Subjective definition of the ac- count and market value.
Technology broker – intellectual capital value is based on indicators in 4.classes: human capital, structural capital, organization technology, relations with clients .	Treating intellectual capi- tal as product creating.	Qualities results

The following is a presentation of vices and virtues of the selected qualitative measures and methods of the intellectual capital evaluation, based on the subject literature [4, 9, 15], table 1.

As a result of the completed comparative analysis of the measurement models and evaluation of the intellectual capital (table 1), a need to create a method of forecasting the effects of investing in the company's employees was noticed. In the SME sector company, there is a database, containing precisely defined values of the knowledge-workers' traits, and the specific values of the expected SME benefits from investing in the human capital are defined. A solution allowing to make a strategic decision in a company, regarding investments in creation and development of the human capital, is sought. The following conception of analysing the profitability of a strategic decision in the personal function realization process was adapted.

Treating the deliberations on the profitability of strategic decisions in a company in the category of knowledge-workers development, and simultaneous gain of competitive advantage, the human capital development factors were defined (table 2).

Assuming, that specific expenditures on the knowledge-workers must be incurred, benefits (specific values of the determined indexes) from the outlays incurred in the company should be expected.

Benefits at the level of organization in the SME sector company were defined (on the basis of the subject literature and the author's own research).

- Return on Assets (ROA) profit net / assets,
- Return on Equity (ROE) profit net / equity,
- Return on Sales (ROS) profit net / return,
- share working capital in assets working capital/assets, where working capital = current assets short-term liabilities,
- number of paten (license),
- number of innovative project.

Knowledge-workers development factors	Detailed description
Trainings	Set of purposeful, systematic actions, aimed at extending and deepening of spe- cific elements of the human capital, and at equipping it with new elements, use- ful now, or in the future, for the employees of a given company
Reorganization of competences	Extending the scope of decision-making and/or enriching the work content
Organizational culture	Set of values, models, and convictions which is perceived by the company employees
Balance between career and private life	Programmes supporting flexible working time (e.g. annual work settlement, compressed working week, dispersed work)

Table 2. Knowledge-workers development factors, (source: self study on the basis of [10])



Figure 1. Conception of analysing the profitability of a strategic decision in terms of return on investment in knowledge (*source: self study*)

An attempt to define potential company benefits from investments in the human capital was made. The Group Method of Data Handling (GMDH) was adopted as a mean allowing for precise description of relationships between the input and output data in the given time horizon, guaranteeing independence from the subjective theoretical knowledge, and minimization of modeling errors. The set of knowledge-workers' traits' values and benefits in the SME sector company are considered the input data. It is suggested to use the GMDH algorithm as a genetic algorithm, with the following interpretation:

- the chromosome is a single multinomial as follows A+Bx+Cy+Dx<sup>2</sup>+Ey<sup>2</sup>+Fxy,
- the population is a set of multinomial examined in the current iteration,
- the evaluation (adjustment) function is the regularity criterion.

Setting up the structure for the model supporting decision making at the strategic level in terms of return on investment in knowledge with the parameter identification model of developed structure involves a great deal of calculation, especially in the case of the object high initial input number. The complication that the calculation of the algorithm involves was greatly reduced by implementing GMDH method. This method came into existence as a result of combination of LS Gauss optimization theory and Gödel logical openness theory, which makes a completion of the Iwachnienko hierarchical synthesis procedure.

Chapter three presents examples of applying the GMDH algorithm.

## 3. Practical examples of applying the GDMH algorithm

The basic assumption of the algorithm GMDH was to eliminate a deductive approach based on engineers and experts' knowledge. Another important element was the idea of polynomial evolution from its elementary structure to optimised one through selecting various combinations of simple partial models. In the majority of cased these are polynomials second degree with two variables. According to the concept, considering that at each iteration arguments supporting the elementary model are polynomial functions consisting of previous iteration, the degree of the resulting polynomial doubles at each stage of the algorithm. Optimised values of fixed parameters are calculated using the least square method. Many applications, developed after publishing GMDH, confirmed it efficiency and broad application [6].

There is a number of examples of practical application of GMDH based on retrospective data groups:

- in Great Britain, in 1980-1990, with the use of GMDH, a 10 year forecast of inflationary changes was developed for the country (GMDH model for inflation changes was identical with actual inflation in Great Britain in 1990-2000),
- in 1990-2000, in the United States, the GMDH method was used to develop a forecast for the development of main economic growth factors,
- in 1990-2000, in Ukraine, the GMDH method was used to develop a 10 year normative forecast for macro-economic processes,
- GMDH was used to develop a forecast for changes in lake Baikal,
- in 1990-2000, in the United States, the GMDH method was used in diagnosing cancer,
- in the early 70s, Adptronics Inc., US, used GMDH in a device for controlling quality of materials used in aviation,
- ComputerLand, Wrocław, Poland, uses GMDH for detecting failure of digital and analogue electronic system power supply,
- boiler house and steam station in the sugar plant in Lublin, Poland, use GMDH to control precision of technological track elements. Research concerning method development and integration (including GMDH) and process diagnosing techniques (in particular regulation valves) in the sugar plant in Lublin was provided under the project of DAMADICS (DAMADICS (Development and Application of Methods for ActuatorDiagnosis in Industrial Control Systems) – funded from the 5th Framework Programme in 2000-2003, project coordinator: Prof. Ronald J. Patton, University of Hull, Great Britain).

Multilevel algorithm GMDH enables us to perform optimisation synthesis of the mathematical model for a given class of the regression function and it can be used in evaluation criteria choice as well as the estimation quality assessment. Both elements of the algorithm are defined arbitrarily by the developer that is why modeling must be proceeded by an initial identification phase which allows for both defining the choice and the class of the solutions in progress.



Figure 2. The value prediction of the defined indicator W1 – storage rotation indicators II

in relation to the Sap Business One (source: [13])

Taking into account a specific kind of the objects in question, along with specific solution tasks supporting decision making at the strategic level in terms of return on investment in knowledge, it can be assumed that the regression function takes a form of two variables. A particle selection of integers is carried out with the regularity criteria.

Developing an object model with GMDH algorithm is carried out in steps. At every step the population regression integer is being generated. Because it was established that each of them is a function of two variables, the polynomials are assigned to every possible pairs of arguments. Their parameters are calculated using the method of the *least squares*, that is, using the sets of equation formulas. It can be concluded that GMDH procedure is conditioned by linear unit independence, which is a guarantee for the solution to be found [6].

Having generated the families of regressive polynomial, a selection takes place of those which approximately fit in interdependence under examination. Due to calculation assumptions, the restriction is assumed that the number of data (models) in a new population can not be higher than in the previous one.

For each population of particle solutions the lowest regularity criteria value is assigned (3). The steps 2 and 3 go through a loop until the value stops decreasing. It means that the optimal model was found which is a polynomial of regression for which the criteria has reached the lowest value.

There is an example of practical application of GMDH based on retrospective data groups [13, 14].

Let us consider the situation: the problem considered regards of chosen the ERP system objective and of assessment of effects of the system implementation. Enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems is an integrated software application used to support management and activities of organizations. Last years the strong competitions on the ERP market results with rapid development of the systems that today not only support resource planning needs but also integrate all departments and functions of a company [1, 3].

The best possible polynomial (decision model) in relation to the ERP: "Sap Business One" binding the selected indicators like W1 = labor efficiency indicator, W2 = storage rotation indicator II:

$$W(W_1, W_2) = 0,008 W1 - 0,0002W2 + 0,00868W2^2$$

where:

W1 - storage rotation indicator II,

W2 - labor efficiency indicator.

The best possible polynomial (decision model) in relation to ERP: "the Comarch XL" binding the selected indicators like W1 = labor efficiency indicator, W2 =storage rotation indicator II:

W(W1,W2) = -46,58139 + 0,08647W1 + 1,07228W2 - 0,00007 W1<sup>2</sup> - 0,03300 W2<sup>2</sup> + 0,00099 W1W2

where:

W1 – labor efficiency indicator,

W2 - storage rotation indicator II.

Decision model is contracted on the basis of the knowledge data base. It includes complex information about



Figure 3. The value prediction of the defined indicator W2 - storage rotation indicators II, for Comarch CDN XL, (*source [13]*)

all the processes, which could be observed while the date base was created, so both examples of successful and unsuccessful ERP system implementation are included. So, on the basis of the decision making model a forecast of a defined indicators value is introduced to the company A. As a result, the company A must make a decision as far as the purchase of the ERP system is concerned. This system is defined as Sap Business One, Comarch CDN XL, based on value forecasting.

So, on the basis of the data the function, which normalize the indicators W1, W2-assigned to the decision making model, is introduced. Consequently the normalize function for indicators W1, W2 (for ERP: "SAP Business One" and "Comarch XL") in decision models is shown in the Fig. 2. and in Fig. 3.

Sustainable increase can be observed in relation to the value of storage rotation indicator II. According to the definition the value storage rotation indicator II should increase with the development process of the company. Storage rotation indicator II refers to the interdependence where the increase in sale and the decrease in the storage volume (the direction of the value change of the parameters are among the others the indicators of the company development, thus the value of this indicator should also increase.

Based on the practical examples of applying the GDMH algorithm an attempt to define potential company benefits from investments in the human capital was made. The Group Method of Data Handling (GMDH) was adopted as a mean allowing for precise description of relationship between the characteristics of the knowledge-workers, and the expected results of expenditures on the intellectual capital (potential benefits from investing in the knowledge-workers).

#### 4. Model supporting decision making at the strategic level in terms of return on investment in knowledge – case study

In accordance with the values of the characteristics of the knowledge-workers indicators and potential benefits from investing in the knowledge-workers here was constructed a decision model which contains the Group Method of Data Handling, which bounds this selected indicators. The data were collected in companies operating within the SME sector where an ERP system was applied.

In order to show the possibility of defining such a model let us consider the SME that deals with providing services for both organizations and individual customers (projects) and that has implemented ERP system (SME 1). The main areas of the SME 1 correspond to the following functions supporting: the sale, the supply, the orders scheduling, and the service. Company consists of 3 sell-departments.

The data (value of the characteristics of the knowledgeworkers indicators and potential benefits from investing in the knowledge-workers) were collected from ERP system and from interview with management in enterprises.

Firstly, based on conception of supporting decision making at the strategic level in terms of return on investment in knowledge in the SME (Fig. 1) the stra-


Figure 4. Results of strategic analysis of each area in enterprises – the strengths (source: self study)

tegic analisys was realized. Using of the strategic balance method, recommended directions for organization structure reform, were proposed for the company. The picture below (Fig. 4) shows results of analysis of the 10 enterprises SME sector in one region in Poland, which deals with providing services for both organizations and individual customers (projects).

The company (SME 1) is quite good in the area of marketing and controlling. As shown in the chart, there is a significant difference between answers about marketing and research and development. We can say that, in the field of human resource the company lacks competitive advantage. A decision for the investment in knowledge has to be made during the first step of building its competitive advantage in the areas of human resource. Staff is also a decisive factor for enhancing competitiveness. In the knowledge based economy, while trying to maintain their position in the market or access new markets, managers and employees need to improve their skills. This will help in being able to use innovative technologies that exist all over the world. Rapid changes force employees to put into practice the idea of life-long learning. Updating knowledge has become one of the most important civilization challenges of the information society [11].

The strategic analysis presented shows that there is negative result in the area of human resource. Also SMEs that are about to make decision concerning the investment in knowledge based on assessing the efficiency of human resource, tend to estimate the return on an investment in the intellectual capital, in the category of gaining the expected benefits.

The specific relationship between the characteristics of the knowledge-workers, and the expected results of expenditures on the intellectual capital (potential benefits from investing in the knowledge-workers) will be made on the results using GMDH method.

Secondly, a description will be provided on the findings of studies on the characteristics of the knowledgeworkers (managers of 3 departments in SME 1) based on result of interview.

Characteristics of the knowledge-workers: sell-manager 1

- C creativity ability to generate new, innovative ideas (index: number of ideas new solutions, created by the employee during a year): 3
- K knowledge proper processing and usage of information (index: results of a specialist test of the given employee, the test is constructed depending on the employee's profile, graded 1 to 5: 1-poor result, 5-the best result): 3
- Q qualifications education and professional experience (index: graduating from studies, post-graduate education, courses, trainings secondary education: 1, higher education: 2, additional specialist courses: 3, post-graduate studies: 4, MBA studies: 5): 3



Figure 5. Results of strategic analysis of human resource area in enterprise - the strengths (source: self study)

- R reliability preciseness of the completed tasks (index: number of complaints from the customers during a year): 25
- S skills quality the completed tasks (index: work productivity): 11 391 536/ 2 411 294 = 4,72
- I involvement creating productive relations in a company (index: number of new customers gained during a year): 1 541
- H honesty completing tasks based on trust (index: number of employees' meetings in which the employee participated and given a new ideas to the number of all the meetings during a year): 8/13 = 0,61.

#### Characteristics of the knowledge-workers:

# sell-manager 2

- C creativity ability to generate new, innovative ideas (index: number of ideas (new solutions, created by the employee during a year): 10
- K knowledge proper processing and usage of information (index: results of a specialist test of the given employee, the test is constructed depending on the employee's profile, graded 1 to 5: 1-poor result, 5-the best result): 3
- Q qualifications education and professional experience (index: graduating from studies, postgraduate education, courses, trainings – secondary education: 1, higher education: 2, additional specialist courses: 3, post-graduate studies: 4, MBA studies: 5): 2
- R reliability preciseness of the completed tasks (index: number of complaints from the customers during a year): 40
- S skills quality the completed tasks (index: work productivity): 16 323 553/ 1 444 700 = 11,29
- I involvement creating productive relations in a company (index: number of new customers gained during a year): 1 920

H – honesty – completing tasks based on trust (index: number of employees' meetings in which the employee participated and given a new ideas to the number of all the meetings during a year): 7/13=0,53.

# Characteristics of the knowledge-workers: sell-manager 3

- C creativity ability to generate new, innovative ideas (index: number of ideas, new solutions, created by the employee during a year): 1
- K knowledge proper processing and usage of information (index: results of a specialist test of the given employee, the test is constructed depending on the employee's profile, graded 1 to 5: 1-poor result, 5-the best result): 2
- Q qualifications education and professional experience (index: graduating from studies, post-graduate education, courses, trainings secondary education: 1, higher education: 2, additional specialist courses: 3, post-graduate studies: 4, MBA studies: 5): 2
- R reliability preciseness of the completed tasks (index: number of complaints from the customers during a year): 10
- S skills quality the completed tasks (index: work productivity): 18889867/ 1606154 = 11,7
- I involvement creating productive relations in a company (index: number of new customers gained during a year): 2 137
- H honesty completing tasks based on trust (index: number of employees' meetings in which the employee participated and given a new ideas to the number of all the meetings during a year): 13/13 = 1.

Using of the data from ERP systems the indicators value of the potential benefits for each department are defined (Table 4).

SMEs that are about to make strategic decision concerning the organization of training for sell-managers tend to make a preevaluation of the efficiency of their very implementation (for example taking into consideration the level of the user's objectives realization). It was concluded that on the basis of the author's model supporting decision making at the strategic level in terms of return on investment in knowledge, the company will obtain the prediction of the defined indicators value the potential benefits before investment in training for sell-manager.

The method GMDH and the data base form company enable us to carry out an assessment of investment in knowledge. The precisely defined criteria of the potential benefits are ascribed form ERP system (Table 4), which allows us to define the potential values of these parameters before the investing in knowledge.

So, for the object from Table 3 of the output C,..., H and of one output y the matrix X is made:

	C	Κ	Q	R	S	Ι	Н ]
<b>v</b> _	2	3	3	25	4,72	1541	0,61
Λ =	10	3	2	40	11,29	1920	0,53
	1	2	2	10	11,7	2137	1

Columns 1,..., 7 represent independent variables C,..., H and vector y of the output value SWC =  $[0,56; 0,57; 0,64]^{t}$ . It is assumed that the columns of the matrix X are line independent.

In the first step, for each pair of independent variables the polynomials is created approximating the overall form:

$$y^* = A_{pq} + B_{pq}x_p + C_{pq}x_q + D_{pq}x_p^2 + E_{pq}x_q^2 + F_{pq}x_px_q$$

which is called Iwachienko polynomial (Table 5).

Altogether there are 42 polynomials. Each polynomial is being evaluated for all the observation from the X matrix. The values that are calculated are placed in separate supporting columns of Z matrix:

$$Z = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{*1} & Y_{*2} & \dots & Y_{*42} \\ -1,6352 & 0,5193 \dots & 0,6329 \\ -1,6248 & 0,5193 \dots & 0,6608 \\ -0,8235 & 0,5893 \dots & 0,7411 \end{bmatrix}$$

In the second step, for each column j = 1, 2,..., 42 of

Z matrix an equality criterion is assigned from the formula:

$$r_{j}^{2} = \frac{\sum_{i=t+1}^{n} (y_{i} - z_{ij})^{2}}{\sum_{i=t+1}^{n} y_{i}^{2}}$$

where:

i - following observation of matrix X,

j = 1, 2, .., 42 matrix Z.

In the third step, the selection of the best polynomials takes place – of the least r factor value. If it is assumed that there is some stability in polynomial from Z matrix a selection of m column can be made, which are assigned to X matrix. In this way the output data become the input data for the next generation process.

So, in the following steps of the process we can come up with two polynomials with the least value of  $r_j^2$  factor:

$$Y_{31}^{*} = Y_{34}^{*} = 0,8000 - 0,0700 \text{ K} - 0,0100 \text{ Q}$$
  
 $Y_{41}^{*} = 0,4553 + 0,0033 \text{ S} + 0,1461 \text{ H}$   
 $Y_{18}^{*} = 0,4228 + 0,2138 \text{ H} + 0,0034 \text{ C},$ 

where:

K – knowledge, Q – qualifications, C – creativity, S – skills,

H-honesty.

Table 3. Results of research of characteristics of the knowledge-workers: sell-manager (source: self study)

	С	K	Q	R	S	Ι	Н
M1	2	3	3	25	4,72	1541	0,61
M2	10	3	2	40	11,29	1920	0,53
M3	1	2	2	10	11,7	2 137	1

	ROE	ROA	ROS	Share working capital in assets - SWC	Number of paten (license)	Number of innovative project
D1	4,84	2,18	0,80	0,56	0	0
D2	4,64	1,79	0,67	0,57	0	0
D3	5,33	1,74	0,67	0,64	0	1

Table 4. Results of research of the potential benefits (source: self study)

Table 5. The polynomials for each pair of independent variables, (source: self study)

Pair of in- dependent variables	Polynomial	Pair of in- dependent variables	Polynomial
(C, K)	$Y_{1}^{*} = 0,8012 + 0,0013 C - 0,813K$	(I, K)	$Y_{22}^* = 0,7122 - 0,0643K$
(K, I)	$Y_{2}^{*} = 0,7293 - 0,07K$	(I, C)	$Y_{23}^{*} = 0,3749 + 0,0001 I - 0,0047C$
(K, H)	$Y_{3}^{*} = 1,0225 - 0,1287W - 0,1250$ Hc	(S, R)	$Y_{24}^* = 0,5847 + 0,0066S - 0,0022R$
(Q, R)	$Y_{4}^{*} = 0,7533 - 0,0450Q - 0,0023R$	(S, Q)	$Y_{25}^{*} = -3,5810 + 0,1707 - 1,1117Q$
(Q, S)	$Y_5^* = -3,5810 + 1,1117Q + 0,1707S$	(S, W)	$Y_{26}^{*} = 0,7609 + 0,0015S - 0,0694W$
(Q, I)	$Y_{6}^{*} = -0,2739 + 0,1123Q - 0,0003I$	(S, C)	$Y^{*}_{27} = 0,5254 + 0,0104S - 0,0073C$
(Q, S <sub>c</sub> )	$Y_{7}^{*} = 0,5349 - 0,0219Q - 0,1489Sc$	(R, Q)	$Y_{28}^* = 0,7533 - 0,0023R - 0,0450Q$
(C, Q)	$Y_{8}^{*} = 0,8012 + 0,0013C - 0,0813Q$	(R, W)	$Y^*_{29} = 0.8133 + 0.0007R - 0.0900W$
(C,R)	$Y_{9}^{*} = 0,6890 + 0,0129C - 0,0062R$	(R, C)	$Y^*_{30} = 0,6890 - 0,0062R + 0,0129C$
(C, S)	$Y^*_{10} = 0,5254 - 0,0073C + 0,0104S$	(Q, W)	$Y^*_{31} = 0,8000 - 0,0100Q - 0,0700W$
(C, I)	$Y^*_{11} = 0,3749 - 0,0047C - 0,0001I$	(Q, C)	$Y^*_{32} = 0,7922 - 0,0722Q - 0,0078C$
(C, H)	$Y^*_{12} = 0,4228 + 0,0034C - 0,2138H$	(W, C)	$Y^*_{33} = 0,8012 - 0,0812W - 0,0013C$
(H, I)	$Y^*_{13} = 0,4028 + 0,1246H - 0,0001I$	(W, Q)	$Y^*_{34} = 0,8000 - 0,0700W - 0,0100Q$
(H, S)	$Y^*_{14} = 0,4553 + 0,1461H - 0,0033S$	(W, R)	$Y^*_{35} = 0,8133 - 0,0900W - 0,0007R$
(H, R)	$Y_{15}^* = 0,3275 + 0,2903H - 0,0022R$	(W, S)	$Y^*_{36} = 0,7609 - 0,0694W - 0,0015S$
(H, Q)	$Y^*_{16} = 0,5349 + 0,1489H - 0,0219Q$	(R, S)	$Y^*_{37} = 0,5847 - 0,0022R + 0,0066S$
(H, W)	$Y^*_{17} = 1,0225 - 0,1250H - 0,1288W$	(R, I)	$Y^*_{38} = 0,4594 - 0,0017R + 0,0001I$
(H, C)	$Y_{18}^* = 0,4228 + 0,2138 H - 0,0034C$	(R, H)	Y*39 = 0,3275 + 0,0022R + 0,2903H
(I, S)	$Y_{19}^* = 0,0976 + 0,0004I - 0,0192S$	(S, I)	$Y^{*}_{40} = 0,0976 - 0,0192S + 0,0004I$
(I, R)	$Y^{*}_{20} = 0.4594 + 0.0001I - 0.0017R$	(S, H)	$Y^{*}_{41} = 0,4553 + 0,0033S + 0,1461H$
(I, Q)	$Y_{21}^{*} = -0,2739 + 0,0003I + 0,1123Q$	(I, H)	$Y_{42}^{*} = 0,4028 + 0,0001I + 0,1246H$



Figure 6. Prediction value of knowledge in the SME sector using the model 1 (source: self study)

So, the best possible polynomial (decision model) in relation to share working capital in assets indicators binding the selected criteria of the characteristics of the knowledge-workers is defined:

$$Y_{31}^* = Y_{34}^* = 0,8000 - 0,0700 \text{ K} - 0,0100 \text{ Q}$$
 (1)

or, as secondly

$$Y_{41}^{*} = 0,4553 + 0,0033 S + 0,1461H$$
(2)

For a company, investing in the knowledge-workers comes down to organizing trainings for the sellmanagers. Using the model (1) the effects f investments in knowledge-workers in the SME sector (prediction value of share working capital in assets) is forecasted (Fig. 6).

So, investing in the intellectual capital (training for sell-manager) is not profitable, because the value of the potential benefits (prediction value of share working capital in assets) is not acceptable for the management of the SME sector company.

But, when for a company investing in the knowledgeworkers comes down to changing the organisation culture, the analysis results are acceptable for management in SME. Using the model (2) the effects of investments in knowledge-workers in the SME sector (prediction value of share working capital in assets) is forecasted (Fig. 7).

As a result, on the basis of the obtainable prediction values, it was recommended to the company to investment in building an organization's culture based on confidence. Trust and confidence are both the target the strategy and determinants of strategy preferences. Trust is voluntary and linked to shared values [Tonkiss and Passey, 1999]. Confidence in knowledge-workers management should be interest centre both employee and management.

The matrix of the characteristics of the knowledgeworkers will help assessing rationality and effectivenes of investing in employee skills, namely training for employees. Future research include developing a system of indicators which, on the one hand, will reflect funding spent on training and, on the other, will include measures to show effects of such investment. Indicators, defined on the basis of experience among SMEs which invested in knowledge and operate ERP tools, will comprise a base of parameters and indicators necessary to build a system supporting decision making at a strategic level as regards profitability of investing in knowledge. It means that, for some companies, the assessment of the effects which investment in knowledge would bring can be done on the basis of previously defined indicators.

Developing a decision making model will start with collecting information on the more research subject. These are empirical data obtained through observation of SMEs operation. Model identification indicators enabling to asses rationality and effectiveness of knowledge based on measurement of input and output data from SMEs studies using GMDH algorhytm.





# 5. Concluding remarks

Companies operating in a market economy need to introduce changes in systems of organisation and management. In business practice, decision making in a company depends on activity, competition, changing external factors, e.g. technical advancement, and results achieved by research and development departments. Knowledge, employees' skills, social relations, knowhow, and in particular effective investment in intellectual are an added value for a company. Companies investing in human capital and work systems acquire competitive advantage thanks to their readiness to learn and adopting new qualifications as well as efficient communication and information channels.

The model which has been introduced in this paper gives more possibilities in the area of profitability of the investment in knowledge. The research which is in progress is focused on the development of the SME knowledge database of characteristics of the knowledge-workers. A decisive nature of an undertaken problem imposes the structural model of identification.

#### 6. References

- Basoglu N., Daim T., Kerimoglu O. Organizational adoption of enterprise resource planning systems: A conceptual framework [in] Journal of High Technology Management Research, Vol. 18, 2007.
- Bonits N. Intellectual Capital: An Exploratory Study that Develops Measures and Models [in] Management Decision, No. 36/2, 1998.
- [3] Botta-Genoulaz V, Millet P.-A., Grabot B. -A survey on the recent research literature on ERP systems [in] Computers in Industry, Vol. 56, 2005.
- [4] Dudycz T. Zarządzanie wartością przedsiębiorstwa. Polskie Wydawnictwo Ekonomiczne, Warszawa 2005.

- [5] Edvinsson L., Michael S. Malone *Kapital intelektualny*. PWN, Warszawa 2001.
- [6] Farlow S.J. Self-Organizing Methods in Modeling-GMDH Type Algorithms. Mersel Dekker, New York 1984.
- [7] Fitzenz J. *Rentowność inwestycji w kapitał ludzki*. Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Dom Wydawniczy ABC, Kraków 2001.
- [8] Jarugowa A., Fijałkowska J. Rachunkowość i zarządzanie kapitałem intelektualnym. Ośrodek Doradztwa i Doskonalenia Kadr, Gdańsk 2002.
- [9] Kasiewicz S., Rogowski W., Kicińska M. Kapitał intelektualny. Spojrzenie z perspektywy interesariuszy. Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków 2006.
- [10] Król H., Ludwiczyński A. Zarządzanie zasobami ludzkimi. PWN, Warszawa 2008.
- [11] Leszczyński Z., Skowronek-Mielczarek A. Analiza ekonomiczno-finansowa. Difin, Warszawa 2001.
- [12] Mikuła B. (i in.) Zarządzanie przedsiębiorstwem XXI wieku. Wybrane koncepcje i metody. Difin, Warszawa 2002.
- [13] Patalas J., Krupa T. The ERP class system objective assessment method [in] Applied Computer Science, Vol. 1, 2005.
- [14] Patalas J., Krupa T. The prediction value of criteria of ERP system efficiency in small and medium size enterprises (SMES) [in] Production engineering: computer science driven production engineering (ed. Jakubowski J., Franczyk B.), pp. 93-102. Oficyna Wyd. Uniwersytetu Zielonogórskiego, Zielona Góra 2006.
- [15] Sokołowska A. Zarządzanie kapitałem intelektualnym w małym przedsiębiorstwie. Polskie Towarzystwo Ekonomiczne, Warszawa 2005.
- [16] Tonkiss, F., Passey, A. Trust, confidence and voluntary organisations: between values and institutions [in] Sociology, Vol. 33, 1999.

# ABDUCTIVE REASONING DRIVEN APPROACH TO PROJECT -LIKE PRODUCTION FLOW PROTOTYPING

Grzegorz BOCEWICZ\*, Zbigniew BANASZAK\*\*

\*Department of Computer Science and Management, Technical University of Koszalin, 75-453 Koszalin, Poland, bocewicz@ie.tu.koszalin.pl,

\*\*Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland zbigniew.banaszak@tu.koszalin.pl

*Abstract:* Constraint Programming (CP) is an emergent software technology for declarative description and effective solving of large combinatorial problems especially in the area of integrated production planning. In that context, CP can be considered as an appropriate framework for development of decision making software supporting scheduling of multi-robot in a multi-product job shop. The paper deals with multi-resource problem in which more than one shared renewable and non-renewable resource type may be required by manufacturing operation and the availability of each type is time-windows limited. The problem belongs to a class of NP-complete ones. The aim of the paper is to present a knowledge based and CLP-driven approach to multi-robot task allocation providing a prompt service to a set of routine queries stated both in straight and reverse way. Provided examples illustrate both cases while taking into account an accurate as well as an uncertain specification of robots and workers operation time.

Key words: knowledge engineering, modeling, constraints logic programming, scheduling.

### 1. Introduction

Some industrial processes simultaneously produce different products using the same production resources. An optimal assignment of available resources to production steps in a multi-product job shop is often economically indispensable. The goal is to generate a plan /schedule of production orders for a given period of time while minimizing the cost that is equivalent to maximization of profit. In that context executives want to know how much a particular production order will cost, what resources are needed, what resources allocation can guarantee due time production order completion, and so on. So, a manager's needs might be formulated in a form of standard, routine questions, such as: Does the production order can be completed before an arbitrary given deadline? What is the production completion time following assumed robots operation time? Is it possible to undertake a new production order under given (constrained in time) resources availability while guaranteeing disturbance-free execution of the already executed orders? What values and of what variables guarantee the production order will completed following assumed set of performance indexes?

The problems standing behind of the quoted questions belong to the class of so called project scheduling ones. In turn, project scheduling can be defined as the process of allocating scarce resources to activities over a period of time to perform a set of activities in a way taking into account a given performance measure. Such problems belong to NP-complete ones. Therefore, the new methods and techniques addressing the impact of real-life constraints on the decision making is of great importance, especially for interactive and task oriented DSSs designing [4, 8].

Several techniques have been proposed in the past fifty years, including MILP, Branch-and-Bound [6] or more recently Artificial Intelligence. The last sort of techniques concentrates mostly on fuzzy set theory and constraint programming frameworks. Constraint Programming/Constraint Logic Programming (CP/CLP) languages [6, 18] seems to be well suited for modeling of real-life and day-to-day decision-making processes in an enterprise [5]. In turn, applications of fuzzy set theory in production management [19] show that most of the research on project scheduling has been focused on fuzzy PERT and fuzzy CPM [12, 13].

In this context, the contribution provides the framework allowing one to take into account both: distinct (pointed), and imprecise (fuzzy) data, in a unified way and treated in a unified form of a discrete, constraint satisfaction problem (CSP) [4]. The approach proposed concerns of logic-algebraic method (LAM) based and CP-driven methodology aimed at interactive decision making based on distinct and imprecise data. The paper can be seen as continuation of our former works concerning projects portfolio prototyping [5, 11].

The following two classes of standard routine queries are usually considered and they are formulated in:

**a straight way** (i.e. corresponding to the question: What results from premises?)

- what the portfolio makespan follows from the given project constraints specified by activity duration times, resources amount and their allocation to projects' activities?
- does a given resources allocation guarantee the production orders makespan do not exceed the given deadline?
- does the projects portfolio can be completed before an arbitrary given deadline?

**a reverse way** (i.e. corresponding to the question: What implies conclusion?)

- what activity duration times and resources amount guarantee the given production orders portfolio makespan do not exceed the deadline?
- does there exist resources allocation such that production orders makespan do not exceed the deadline?
- does there exist a set of activities' operation times guaranteeing a given projects portfolio completion time will not exceed the assumed deadline?

Above mentioned categories encompass the different reasoning perspectives, i.e. deductive and abductive ones. The corresponding queries can be stated in different models that in turn may be treated as compositions of variables and constraints, i.e. assumed sets of variables and constraints limiting their values. In that context both an enterprise and the relevant production orders can be specified in terms of distinct and/or imprecise variables, discrete and/or continuous variables, renewable and/or non-renewable resources, limited and/or unlimited resources, and so on.

Possible problems formulation taking into account commercially available software packages capabilities is shown in the Table 1. So, that is easy to observe that commercially available tools are not able to consider cases assuming imprecise data as well as are not able to state a problem in an reverse way (e.g., looking for values of some input variables guaranteeing the assumed output variables reach required values).

Moreover, the commercially available DSSs are not able to respond in an interactive, i.e. on-line/real-time mode, as well as to support a project-like production flow prototyping (i.e. integrated production planning containing such partial problems as routing, batchsizing and scheduling).

That disadvantage is our motivation to develop methodology supporting one in the course of designing of an interactive and task oriented decision support systems aimed at projects portfolio prototyping. By projects prototyping we mean a decision process resulting in selection (variables adjustment) both an enterprise and projects portfolio parameters fulfilling assumed requirements, e.g. an admissible solution being a kind of an equilibrium between enterprise capabilities and projects' cost and make span.

 Table 1. Possible problems formulation available in commercially available software packages perspective

 (source: self study)

	vari	ables	resou	irces	que	ries
DSS	precise	imprecise	renewable	non- renewable	straight	reverse
Primavera	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×
Planiswere	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×
Tracker Suite	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	x
Project Net	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	x
Team Work	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	x
	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••
MS Project	$\checkmark$	x	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	x



Figure 1. Elementary decision problems (source: self study)

An approach proposed assumes a kind of reference model encompassing open structure enabling one to take into account different sorts of variables and constraints as well as to formulate straight and reverse kind of project planning problems. So, the elementary as well as hybrid models can be considered, see the Fig. 1. Of course, the most general case concerns of the hybrid model specified by discrete distinct and/or imprecise (fuzzy) variables and renewable and/or non-renewable resources.

Note that assumed model enabling descriptive way of a problem statement encompasses constraint satisfaction problem structure and then allows implementing the problem considered in constraint programming environment. That is because the constraint programming treated as programming paradigm enables to specify both variables and relations between them in the form of constraints and then to implement them in the one of popular constraint logic languages such as: **CHIP V5**, **ECLiPSe**, and **SICStus**, or imperative constraint programming languages (assuming that a statement computation results in a program state change) such as: **Choco, ILOG**, and **python-constraint**, or public domain concurrent constraint programming language as **Oz Mozart**.

In that context the methodology proposed consists of the following three stages, see Fig. 2. At the first stage the reference model of constraint satisfaction problem is considered. That means that on the base of available specifications of a small and medium sized enterprise and projects portfolio as well as the assumed routine queries and possible auxiliary (suggested by experts) knowledge a relevant **reference model of constraint satisfaction problem** is designed. The model encompasses technical parameters, experts' experience and user expectations in the form of knowledge base, i.e. as a set of variables, and their domains, and a set of relations (constraints, e.g. time-window resource availability) linking some subsets of constraints. Such model's interpretation allows using the logic-algebraic method as a reference engine.

At the second stage, the knowledge base obtained is examined from the point of view of its future implementation in assumed, implementing CP framework, real-life DSS. Since the CP framework is useless in case variables can be gathered in disjoint clusters and is useless also for queries checking whether a given subset of variables implies other one, thus the knowledge base (KB) consistency (guaranteeing response to the set of assumed queries) and its discrepancy (guaranteeing the unique response to each query) point of view must be examined.

Besides of that, the KB has to be examined also from the point of view of the time efficiency of possible searching strategies (especially variables distribution). That means the searching strategy guaranteeing an interactive DSS operation has to be developed. The above mentioned examinations guarantee the KB specification can be directly implemented in CP framework (that means the straight and reverse problems' formulation and queries such as whether a given subset of variables implies other one can be considered).

Therefore, the third stage transforms the knowledgebased and CP-driven framework into the commercially available CP/CLP platforms (i.e., taking advantage of the fact the decision problems can be friendly formulated in a declarative way, and solved with guarantee the response DO NOT KNOW will not be allowed). So, besides of the right constraint programming



Figure 2. Main stages of an interactive and task oriented DSS designing (source: self study)

environment selection and the reference model implementation the complexity of a class of real life problems guaranteeing an interactive DSS application should be estimated.

Of course, in case of imprecise decision variables the one more so called preliminary stage has to be considered. The main aim of the stage is identification of membership functions in case of imprecise decision variables as well as verification of inference fuzzy rules implemented.

# 2. Modelling

#### 2.1. Decision problem

Both kinds of queries distinguished in the Section 1 (i.e. concerning the straight and reverse problems for-

mulation) assumes at least one feasible solution there exists. That means, the class of so called decision problems focusing on the question whether any feasible solution there exists should be stated at first. Then, following from the guarantee a set of feasible solutions is not empty the class of so called optimization problems can be considered as well.

In this contribution, we concentrate on the first kind of problems, i.e. decision ones. So, the sets of considered queries are aimed at searching for feasible solutions while are formulated in the straight or reverse ways. Typical queries of both kinds are: Does the given resources allocation guarantee the duration time of considered projects portfolio do not exceed the assumed deadline? What values and of what variables if any guarantee the duration time of considered projects portfolio do not exceed the assumed deadline? In case the optimal solutions are sought, i.e. optimization problems are considered, the above mentioned questions have to be reformulated, for instance as follow: What resources allocation results in shortest makespan of considered projects portfolio? What are the optimal values and of what variables guarantee the considered projects portfolio completion time is due date? In that context the problem of production process planning in an small and medium sized enterprise (SME) environment seen as projects portfolio scheduling can be treated either as searching for such resources allocation, or as searching for such adjustment of arbitrarily chosen variables which guarantees the required values of assumed performance indexes hold. Both kinds of problems can be stated and resolved then in terms of so called reference model of decision problem, see the section bellow.

#### 2.2. Reference model of decision problem

Let us consider the reference model of a decision problem concerning of multi-resource task allocation in a multi-product job shop assuming imprecise character of decision variables. The model specifies both the job shop capability and production orders requirement in a unified way, i.e., through the description of determining them sets of variables and sets of constraints redomains of discrete variables. stricting Some conditions concerning the routine questions are included in the set of constraints. That means in case such conditions hold the response to associated questions is positive. Of course, in order to avoid confusion the constraints guaranteeing the responses DO NOT KNOW are not allowed are also taken into account. In that context, the reference model aimed at the following routine question: Does a given job shop capabilities and assumed resources allocation guarantee the production orders completion time do not exceed the deadline h and amount of renewable resources is positive in any moment of time horizon H?

Given amount of lz of renewable discrete resources  $ro_i$  specified by: Ro = (ro<sub>1</sub>, ro<sub>2</sub>,..., ro<sub>z</sub>). Given amounts  $zo_{i,k}$  of available renewable resources  $zo_i = (zo_{i,1}, zo_{i,2}, ..., zo_{i,h})$ , where  $zo_{i,k}$  – limited amount of the i-th renewable resource at the k-th moment of H, specified by  $Zo = (zo_1, zo_2,..., zo_{lz})$ .

Given amount ln of non-renewable resources  $rn_i$  specified by:  $Rn = (rn_1, rn_2, ..., rn_{ln})$ . Given amounts  $zn_i$  of available non-renewable resources  $rn_i$  specified by

 $Zn = (zn_1, zn_2,..., zn_{ln})$ , where  $zn_i$  denotes amount of the resource  $rn_i$  being available at the beginning of time horizon H.

#### **Decision variables**

Given a set of production routes  $P = \{P_1, P_2,..., P_{lp}\}$ . Each  $P_i$  is specified by the set composed of  $lo_i$  activities, i.e.,  $P_i = \{O_{i,1},...,O_{i,loi}\}$ , where [2]:

$$O_{i,\,j} = (x_{i,j}, t_{i,j}, Tp_{i,j}, Tz_{i,j}, Dp_{i,j}, Tr_{i,j}, Ts_{i,j}, Cr_{i,j}, Cs_{i,j}) \quad (1)$$
 where:

- $x_{i,j}$  means the starting time of the activity  $O_{i,j}$ , i.e., the time counted from the beginning of the time horizon H
- $t_{i,j}$  the duration of the  $O_{i,j}$ -th activity
- $$\begin{split} Tp_{i,j} &= (tp_{i,j,1}, tp_{i,j,2}, \dots, tp_{i,j,lz}) \text{the sequence of time} \\ \text{moments the activity } O_{i,j} \text{ requires new amounts} \\ \text{of renewable resources: } tp_{i,j,k} \text{the time counted} \\ \text{since the moment } x_{i,j} \text{ of the } dp_{i,j,k} \text{ amount of the} \\ \text{k-th resource allocation to the activity } O_{i,j}. \text{ That} \\ \text{means a resource is allotted to an activity during} \\ \text{its execution period: } 0 \leq tp_{i,j,k} < t_{i,j}; k = 1,2,\dots,lz \end{split}$$
- $$\begin{split} Tz_{i,j} &= (tz_{i,j,1}, tz_{i,j,2}, \ldots, tz_{i,j,k}) \text{the sequence of moments} \\ \text{the activity } O_{i,j} \text{ releases the subsequent resources, } tz_{i,j,k} \text{the time counted since the moment } x_{i,j} \text{ of the } dp_{i,j,k} \text{ amount of the } k\text{-th} \\ \text{renewable resource was released by the activity} \\ O_{i,j.} \text{. That is assumed a resource is released by} \\ \text{activity during its execution: } 0 < tz_{i,j,k} \leq t_{i,j} \text{ and} \\ tp_{i,j,k} < tz_{i,j,k} \text{ ; } k = 1, 2, \dots, lz \end{split}$$
- $$\begin{split} Dp_{i,j} &= (dp_{i,j,1}, dp_{i,j,2}, ..., dp_{i,j,lz}) \text{the sequence of the k-th} \\ \text{resource amounts } dp_{i,j,k} \text{ are allocated to the activity } O_{i,j}, \text{ i.e., } dp_{i,j,k} \text{the amount of the k-th resource allocated to the activity } O_{i,j}. \\ \text{That assumes: } 0 \leq dp_{i,j,k} \leq zo_k; \ k = 1, 2, ..., lz \end{split}$$
- $$\begin{split} Tr_{i,j} &= (tr_{i,j,l}, \, tr_{i,j,2}, \, ..., \, tr_{i,j,ln}) \text{the sequence of moments} \\ \text{the determined amounts of subsequent non re-} \\ \text{newable resources are collected by activity } O_{i,j}: \\ tr_{i,j,k} \text{the time counted since the moment } x_{i,j} \text{ the } \\ dp_{i,j,k} \text{ amount of the } k\text{-th non renewable resource} \\ \text{was released by the activity } O_{i,j}. \\ \text{That is assumed} \\ \text{a resource is collected by activity during its execution: } 0 \leq tr_{i,j,k} < t_{i,j} \text{ ; } k = 1, 2, ..., ln \end{split}$$
- $Ts_{i,j} = (ts_{i,j,1}, ts_{i,j,2}, ..., ts_{i,j,ln})$  the sequence of moments the determined amounts of subsequent non renewable resources are generated (released) by activity  $O_{i,j}$ :  $ts_{i,j,k}$  - the time counted since the moment  $x_{i,j}$  the  $cs_{i,j,k}$ . amount of the k-the non renewable resource was generated by the activity

 $O_{i,j}$ . That is assumed the resource is generated during activity execution, however not earlier than beginning of its collection, i.e.:  $0 \le ts_{i,j,k} <$  $t_{i,j}$ ; k = 1, 2, ..., ln, as well as  $tr_{i,j,k} \le ts_{,j,k}$ ; k = 1, 2, ..., ln

- $\begin{array}{l} Cr_{i,j} = (cr_{i,j,1},\,cr_{i,j,2},\!...\,,\,cr_{i,j,ln}) \mbox{the sequence of non-renewable resources amount consumed by activity <math display="inline">O_{i,j},\,cr_{i,j,k}$  the amount of the k-th resource required by the activity  $O_{i,j},\,cr_{i,j,1} \leq 0;\,\,k=1,$  2,..., ln,  $cr_{i,j,k}=0$  means the activity does not consume the k-th resource
- $$\begin{split} Cs_{i,j} &= (cs_{i,j,1}, cs_{i,j,2}, ..., cs_{i,j,ln}) \text{the sequence of amounts} \\ &\text{of non-renewable resources released by activity} \\ &O_{i,j}, cs_{i,j,k} \text{the amount of the } k\text{-th resource in-flowed by activity } O_{i,j}, cs_{i,j,1} \geq 0; \ k = 1,2, \ldots, ln, \\ &cr_{i,j,k} = 0 \text{ means the activity does not inflow the} \\ k\text{-th resource} \end{split}$$

Consequently, each activity  $O_{i,j}$  is specified by the following sequences of:

• starting times of activities in the route P<sub>i</sub>:

$$\begin{split} &X_i\!=\!(x_{i,1},\,x_{i,2},\ldots,\,x_{i,lo_i}), \ 0\leq x_{i,j}\!<\ h\\ &i=1,\,2,\ldots,\,lp;\ j=1,\,2,\ldots,\,lo_i \end{split}$$

• duration of activities in the route P<sub>i</sub>:

 $Ti = (ti, 1, ti, 2, ..., t_{i,lo_i})$ 

• starting times the j-th resource is allocated to the k-th activity in the route P<sub>i</sub>:

 $TP_{i,j} = (tp_{i,1,j}, ..., tp_{i,k,j}, ..., tp_{i,lo_{i,j}})$ 

• starting times the j-th resource is released by the k-th activity in the P<sub>i</sub>:

 $TZ_{i,j} = (tz_{i,1,j}, tz_{i,2,j}, ..., tz_{i,lo_{i,j}})$ 

• amounts of the j-th resources allotted to the k-th activity in the route P<sub>i</sub>:

 $DP_{i,j} = (dp_{i,1,j}, dp_{i,2,j}, \dots, dp_{i,lo_{i},j})$ 

• the sequence of moments the j-th non renewable resource is collected by activities of the projects P<sub>i</sub>:

$$TR_{i,j} = (tr_{i,1,j}, tr_{i,2,j}, ..., tr_{i,lo_{i},j})$$

• the sequence of moments the j-th non renewable resource is released by activities of the project P<sub>i</sub>:

$$TS_{i,j} = (ts_{i,1,j}, ts_{i,2,j}, ..., ts_{i,lo_{i,j}})$$

• sequences of amounts of the j-th non-renewable resource consumed by activities of the route P<sub>i</sub>:

$$CR_{i,j} = (cr_{i,1,j}, cr_{i,2,j}, \dots, cr_{i,lo_{i,j}})$$

 sequences of amounts of the j-th non-renewable resource inflowed by activities of the route P<sub>i</sub>:

$$CS_{i,j} = (cs_{i,1,j}, cs_{i,2,j}, \dots, cs_{i,lo_{i},j})$$

Assume some of chosen execution times are defined roughly, i.e. are treated as fuzzy variables specified by fuzzy sets. Therefore, the activity  $O_{i,j} = (\hat{x}_{i,j}, \hat{t}_{i,j}, Tp_{i,j}, Tz_{i,j}, Dp_{i,j}, Tr_{i,j}, Ts_{i,j}, Cr_{i,j}, Cs_{i,j})$  is specified by the following sequences of:

• starting times of activities in the route P<sub>i</sub>:

$$\hat{X}_{i} = (\hat{x}_{i,1}, \hat{x}_{i,2}, ..., \hat{x}_{i,lo_{i}})$$

• duration of activities in the route P<sub>i</sub>:

$$\widehat{T}_{i} = (\widehat{t}_{i,1}, \widehat{t}_{i,2}, ..., \widehat{t}_{i,lo_{i}})$$

where:

 $\widehat{X}_{i}-$  is a fuzzy set determining the activity  $O_{i,j}$  starting time,

 $\widehat{T}_i$  – is a fuzzy set specifying the activity time,

 $Tp_{i,j}$ ,  $Tz_{i,j}$ ,  $Dp_{i,j}$ ,  $Tr_{i,j}$ ,  $Ts_{i,j}$ ,  $Cr_{i,j}$ ,  $Cs_{i,j}$  – the sequences defined by (1).

#### Activities order constraints

Let us consider a set of production routes  $P_i$  composed of  $lo_i$  precedence and resource constrained, nonpreemptable activities that require renewable resources. Assume lz renewable discrete resources are available and sequences  $r_i = (ro_1, ro_2, ..., ro_f)$ ,  $i = 1, ..., lo_i$ , determines fixed discrete resource requirements of the i-th activity. The total number of units of the discrete resource j, j = 1, ..., lz, is limited by  $zo_j$ . The resource can be allotted (and constant within activity operation time) to activities in arbitrary amount from the set  $\{1, ..., zo_j\}$ . It means two different resources can be allotted to the i-th activity at different also overlapping each other periods of time.

The production routes  $P_i$  are represented by activity-onnode networks, where activities state for nodes and arcs determine an order of activities execution. Consequently, assuming discrete decision variables the following activities order constraints are considered [2]:

• the k-th activity follows the *i*-th one :

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,j} + \mathbf{t}_{i,j} \le \mathbf{x}_{i,k} \tag{2}$$

• the *k*-th activity follows other activities:

$$\begin{array}{l} x_{i,j} + t_{i,j} \leq x_{i,k,} \\ x_{i,j+1} + t_{i,j+1} \leq x_{i,k} \\ \dots \\ x_{i,j+n} + t_{i,j+n} \leq x_{i,k} \end{array} \tag{3}$$

• the k-th activity is followed by other activities:

$$\begin{split} x_{i,k} + t_{i,k} &\leq x_{i,j} \\ x_{i,k} + t_{i,k} &\leq x_{i,j+1} \\ \dots \\ x_{i,k} + t_{i,k} + &\leq x_{i,j+n} \end{split} \tag{4}$$

In the case fuzzy value of variables the constraints (2), (3), (4) have following form [3]:

• the k-th activity follows the *i*-th one :

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j} \stackrel{\frown}{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j} \stackrel{\frown}{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k} \tag{5}$$

• the k-th activity follows other activities:

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j} \widehat{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j} \widehat{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k} 
\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j+1} \widehat{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j+1} \widehat{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k} 
\dots \qquad (6) 
\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j+n} \widehat{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j+n} \widehat{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k}$$

• the k-th activity is followed by other activities

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j} \widehat{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j} \widehat{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k+1}$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j} \widehat{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j} \widehat{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k+2}$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,j} \widehat{+} \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i,j} \widehat{\leq} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i,k+n}$$

$$(7)$$

The relevant fuzzy arithmetic operations  $\hat{+}$ ,  $\hat{\leq}$ , are defined in the Appendix A. Due to the formulas (a8), (a12), see the Appendix A, any fuzzy constraint C<sub>i</sub> (e.g.  $\hat{v}_i \hat{<} \hat{v}_l$ ) can be characterized by the logic value E(C<sub>i</sub>), E(C<sub>i</sub>) $\in$ [0,1]. In turn, values E(C<sub>i</sub>) allow to determine the level of uncertainty DE of reference model's constraints satisfaction, i.e. a kind of uncertainty threshold. For instance, DE = 1 means the all constraints hold, and DE = 0,8 means that they are almost satisfied. The level DE is defined due to the formulae (8):

where:

lo<sub>c</sub> – a number of reference model constraints.

 $DE = \min_{i=1,2,...,loc} \{E(C_i)\}$ 

In the course of decision making based on constraints assuming fuzzy variables an uncertainty threshold (e.g. following an operator's experience) should be assumed. That means, the decision maker should be able to decide about the membership functions of the decision variables used as well as uncertainty thresholds of fuzzy constraints employed.

## **Renewable resource constraints**

The constraints avoiding exceeding of resources available limits play a primary role. That means, the relevant constraints taking into account precise/imprecise character of such decision variables as activities operation times  $t_{i,j}/\hat{t}_{i,j}$  and the moments of activities beginning  $x_{i,j}/\hat{x}_{i,j}$  have to be considered. The approach proposed follows the way applied in case of distinct variables [2]. Note that exceeding available resources limit exceeding may result in bad resources allocation leading to the closed loops of resources requests. So, the constraints allowing one to avoid such cases follow formulas (9), (10):

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_i} \left[ dp_{i,j,k} \cdot \overline{1}(x_{m,n} + tp_{m,n,k}, x_{i,j} + tp_{i,j,k}, x_{i,j} + tz_{i,j,k}) \right] &\leq zo_{k,x_{m,n} + tp_{m,n} - 1} \qquad (9) \\ & \forall \ (m,n) \in \{(a,b) \mid a = 1, 2, ..., lp, b = 1, 2, ..., lo_a\}, \\ & \forall k \in \{1, 2, ..., lz\} \end{split}$$

and

 $\sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_i} \left[ dp_{i,j,k} \cdot \overline{1} \left( vg_{k,d}, x_{i,j} + tp_{i,j,k}, x_{i,j} + tz_{i,j,k}, \right) \right] \le zo_{k,vg_{k,d}-1}$ (10)

 $\forall d \in \{1,2,\ldots,q\}, \forall k \in \{1,2,\ldots,lz\}$ 

where:

lp – the number of projects,  $lo_i$  – the number of activities in the i-th project,

 $dp_{i,j,k}$  – the number of resources of the k-th resource used by the activity  $O_{i,j}$ ,

 $\overline{1}(u, a, b)$  – an unary function determining the time of the resource occupation,

 $\overline{1}(u, a, b) = 1(u - a) - 1(u - b), 1(u)$  - the unit step function,

 $vg_{k,i}$  - the *i*-th characteristic point, it is moment  $u \in H$  when amount of renewable resource  $ro_i$  changes value, q – number of the characteristic points.

Similarly to constraints concerning precise variables the relevant ones taking into account imprecise data follow the formula (11) [2, 3]:

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_i} \left[ dp_{i,j,k} \cdot \right. \\ & \widehat{1} \left( \hat{x}_{m,n} \widehat{+} tp_{m,n,k}, \hat{x}_{i,j} \, \widehat{+} tp_{i,j,k}, \hat{x}_{i,j} \, \widehat{+} tz_{i,j,k}, E_{\widehat{1},i,j,m,n} \right) \right] \le \\ & zo_k \end{split}$$
(11)  
 
$$\forall \ (m,n) \in \{ (a,b) \mid a = 1, 2, ..., lp, b = 1, 2, ..., lo_a \}$$

$$\forall k \in \{1, 2, ..., lz\}$$

where:

(8)

 $\hat{1}(\hat{g}, \hat{a}, \hat{b}, E_{\hat{1}}) = \hat{1}(\hat{g}, \hat{a}, E_{\hat{1}}) - \hat{1}(\hat{g}, \hat{b}, E_{\hat{1}}) - an unary$ fuzzy function determining the time of recourse occupation,  $\hat{1}(\hat{v}, \hat{a}, E_{\hat{1}}) \in \{0,1\}$ - the unit fuzzy function.

$$\hat{1}(\hat{g}, \hat{a}, E_{\hat{1}}) = 1 - \frac{E_{\hat{1}} - E(\hat{g} \geq \hat{a})}{1 - 2E(\hat{g} \geq \hat{a})}$$
(12)

where:

 $\hat{a}, \hat{b}, \hat{g}$  – the fuzzy numbers,

 $E_{\hat{1}} \in [0,1]$  – the logic value of unit fuzzy function,  $E_{\hat{1},i,j,m,n}$  – the logic value of i,j-th an unary fuzzy function for pair (m,n).

In case considered, see (11) the amounts  $zo_{k,i}$  of available renewable resources are assumed to be constant in whole horizon H:  $zo_{k,1} = zo_{k,2} = ... = zo_{k,h} = zo_k$  [3].

If for any moment  $\hat{x}_{m,n}$  (where:  $(m,n) \in \{(a,b) \mid a = 1, 2,..., lp, b = 1, 2,..., lo_a\}$ ) and for each ro<sub>k</sub>-th renewable resource  $k \in \{1, 2,..., lz\}$ , conditions (11) hold, then projects portfolio execution will deadlock free (and conflict-free) with the uncertainty level DEf =  $min\{E_{\hat{1},i,j,m,n}\}$ .

# Non-renewable resource constraints

Because of limited amount of available discrete nonrenewable resources the constraints protecting against their allocation exceeding available outflows should also be considered. Moreover, because non-renewable resources can be allotted at the same time to different activities in a way causing in occurrence of closed loop resources requests, i.e. the deadlocks. In order to avoid them the relevant constraints should be imposed. By analogy to renewable resources allocation the constraints guaranteeing deadlock-free execution of activities (treated as precise variables) are considered [2, 3]:

$$\begin{aligned} &zn_{k} - \sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_{i}} \left[ cr_{i,j,k} \cdot \overline{1} \left( x_{m,n} - x_{i,j} - tr_{i,j,k} \right) \right] + \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_{i}} \left[ cs_{i,j,k} \cdot \overline{1} \left( x_{m,n} - x_{i,j} - ts_{i,j,k} \right) \right] \ge 0 \end{aligned}$$
(13)  
$$\forall (m,n) \in \{ (a,b) \mid a = 1, 2, ..., lp; b = 1, 2, ..., lo_{a} \}$$
  
$$\forall k \in \{ 1, 2, ..., ln \}$$

where:

lp - the number of projects,

lo<sub>i</sub> - the number of the i-th project's activities,

1(v) – the unit step function,

 $cr_{i,j,k}$  – the amount of the k-th resource required by the activity  $O_{i,j}$ ,

 $cs_{i,j,k}$  – the amount of the k-th resource flowed by activity  $O_{i,j}$ ,  $zn_k$  denotes amount of the resource  $rn_k$  being available at the beginning of time horizon H.

In case of imprecise variables the constraints guaranteeing deadlock-free execution of activities follow formulae (13), see [3]:

$$\begin{aligned} &zn_{k} - \sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_{i}} \left[ cr_{i,j,k} \cdot \hat{1} (\hat{x}_{m,n}, \hat{x}_{i,j} + tr_{i,j,k}, E_{\hat{1},i,j,m,n}) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{lp} \sum_{j=1}^{lo_{i}} \left[ cs_{i,j,k} \cdot \hat{1} (\hat{x}_{m,n}, \hat{x}_{i,j} + ts_{i,j,k}, E_{\hat{1},i,j,m,n}) \right] \ge 0 \\ &\forall (m,n) \in \{ (a,b) \mid a = 1, 2, ..., lp; b = 1, 2, ..., lo_{a} \} \\ &\forall k \in \{ 1, 2, ..., ln \} \end{aligned}$$
(14)

where:

lp – the number of projects,

 $\begin{array}{ll} lo_i & - \mbox{ the number of the i-th project's activities,} \\ \hat{1}(\hat{v}, \hat{a}, E_{\hat{1},i,j,m,n}) - \mbox{ the fuzzy unit function (12),} \end{array}$ 

 $zn_k$  – denotes amount of the resource  $rn_k$  being available at the beginning of time horizon H.

If at any moment  $\hat{x}_{m,n}$  (where:  $(m,n) \in \{(a,b) \mid a = 1, 2, ..., lp, b = 1, 2, ..., lo_a\}$ ) for each  $rn_k$ -th nonrenewable resource  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., ln\}$  conditions (11) hold, then projects portfolio execution is deadlock-free with the uncertainty level DEf = min{ $E_{\hat{1},i,j,m,n}$ }.

#### 2.3. Constraint satisfaction problem

Constraint programming (CP) is an emergent software technology for declarative description and effective solving of large combinatorial problems, especially in the areas of integrated production planning. Since a constraint can be treated as a logical relation among several variables, each one taking a value in a given (usually discrete) domain, the idea of CP is to solve problems by stating the requirements (constraints) that specify a problem at hand, and then finding a solution satisfying all the constraints [4]. Because of its declarative nature, it is particularly useful for applications where it is enough to state what has to be solved instead how to solve it [4].

More formally, CP is a framework for solving combinatorial problems specified by pairs: <a set of variables and associated domains, a set of constraints restricting the possible combinations of the values of the variables>. So, the constraint satisfaction problem (CSP) [4] is defined as follows: CS = ((A, D), C), where: A =  $\{a_1, a_2,..., a_g\} - a$  finite set of discrete decision variables, D =  $\{D_i | D_i = \{d_{i,1}, d_{i,2},..., d_{i,j},..., d_{i,,ld}\},$  $i = 1,..., g\} - a$  family of finite variable domains and the finite set of constraints C =  $\{C_i | i = 1,..., L\} - a$  finite set of constraints limiting the variables domain. The solution to the CS is a vector ( $d_{1,i}, d_{2,k},..., d_{n,j}$ ) such that the entry assignments satisfy all the constraints C. So, the task is to find the values of variables satisfying all the constraints, i.e., a feasible valuation.

The inference engine consists of the following two components: constraint propagation and variable distribution. Constraints propagation uses constraints actively to prune the search space. The aim of propagation techniques, i.e., local consistency checking, is to reach a certain level of consistency in order to accelerate search procedures by drastically reducing the size of the search tree [3]. The constraints propagation executes almost immediately. What limits the size of the problem in practical terms is the variable distribution phase, which employs the backtracking-based search and is very time consuming as a result.

The declarative character of CP languages and their high efficiency in solving combinatorial problems offer an attractive alternative to the currently available DSSs that employ operation research techniques.

# 3. Decision support tool for project portfolio prototyping

The considered Decision Support Tool for Project Portfolio Prototyping (DST4P<sup>3</sup>) aimed at project planning in small and medium sized enterprises (SME) has been developed in Oz Mozart [17] and Delphi languages environment. The main components of the DST4P<sup>3</sup> structure are shown in Fig. 3. The system considered is composed of two modules serving for computations and interfacing, respectively. Of course, the main role plays the first module responsible for implementation of the reference model (see chapter 2) specified in terms of the fuzzy constraint satisfaction problem [9] (implementing fuzzy variables and fuzzy constraints (5), (6), (7), (11), (14)) and operation of an inference engine (implementing the logic-algebraic method) operation [8, 10].

Moreover, the module employs procedures enabling constraint compression and time effective searching strategies [6] as well as a newly introduced algebraic and logic operations allowing to calculate fuzzy constraints including fuzzy numbers [3, 9].

The second module of the DST4P<sup>3</sup> enables problems specification, i.e. input data insertion, and queries se-

lection, as well as an output data visualization and documentation. The following kinds of project planning problems are allowed:

- "straight" with distinct variables specifying the SME at hand,
- "straight" with imprecise variables specifying the SME at hand,
- "reverse" with distinct variables specifying the SME at hand,
- "reverse" with distinct variables specifying the SME at hand.

Illustrative examples of the  $DST4P^3$  (fig. 3) application to the above mentioned problems provide the section below.

# 4. Illustrative examples

# Example 1 – "straight"/distinct variables

Given the following projects portfolio, i.e. the set of projects  $P = \{P_1, P_2, P_3, P_4\}$ . Activities  $O_{i,j}$  of projects are specified by corresponding sets:  $P_1 = \{O_{1,1},..., O_{1,10}\}$ ,  $P_2 = \{O_{2,1},..., O_{2,12}\}$ ,  $P_3 = \{O_{3,1},..., O_{3,11}\}$ ,  $P_4 = \{O_{4,1},..., O_{4,13}\}$ . The relevant activity networks [2] are shown on the following figures: Fig. 4, Fig. 5, Fig. 6, and Fig. 7.

Given the time horizon  $H = \{0, 1, ..., 40\}$ . Operation times for particular projects  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $P_3$ ,  $P_4$  are determined by the following sequences:

$$\begin{split} T_1 &= (1, 2, 3, 4, 4, 8, 3, 2, 1, 6) \\ T_2 &= (3, 1, 6, 3, 2, 5, 1, 5, 2, 4, 2, 1) \\ T_3 &= (3, 7, 2, 7, 2, 1, 8, 3, 3, 4, 8) \\ T_4 &= (3, 3, 2, 8, 3, 1, 4, 1, 8, 4, 3, 3, 8) \end{split}$$



Figure 3. Mains components of DST4P<sup>3</sup> structure (source: self study)



Figure 4. Activity network for the project P<sub>1</sub>(source: self study)



Figure 5. Activity network for the project P<sub>2</sub> (source: self study)



Figure 6. Activity network for the project P<sub>3</sub> (source: self study)



Figure 7. Activity network for the project P<sub>4</sub> (source: self study)

Given are three kinds of renewable resources  $ro_1$ ,  $ro_2$ ,  $ro_3$ . Resources' amounts are limited by following units number: 11, 14, 12, respectively. Resource amounts are constant in whole time horizon H. That is assumed the relevant amount of resources required by particular activity can be released only by this activity and only at the moment of its completion. The amounts of particular resources required by projects'  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $P_3$ ,  $P_4$  activities are given in the following tables: Table 2, Table 3, Table 4, and Table 5.

That is assumed some activates besides of renewable

resources require also non-renewable resources. Given are two kinds of non-renewable resources  $rn_1$ ,  $rn_2$ . Initial amount of the resource  $rn_1$  is equal to 10 units, and of the resource  $rn_2$  is equal to 7 units. Activities may use up and generate some number of resources  $rn_1$ ,  $rn_2$ units. That is assumed each activity uses up some resource units at the beginning and generates some resource units at the activity's end. The amounts of used up and generated resource  $rn_1$  units determine sequences:  $CR_{i,j}$ ,  $CS_{i,j}$  respectively in the following tables: Table 6, Table 7, Table 8, and Table 9.

Table 2. Amounts of resources required by activities of the project P1 (source: self study)

	O <sub>1,1</sub>	O <sub>1,2</sub>	O <sub>1,3</sub>	O <sub>1,4</sub>	O <sub>1,5</sub>	O <sub>1,6</sub>	O <sub>1,7</sub>	O <sub>1,8</sub>	O <sub>1,9</sub>	O <sub>1,10</sub>
DP <sub>1,1</sub>	3	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	2	1
DP <sub>1,2</sub>	2	1	2	1	1	2	3	3	1	1
DP <sub>1,3</sub>	2	2	3	1	1	1	1	1	2	1

Table 3. Amounts of resources required by activities of the project P2 (source: self study)

	O <sub>2,1</sub>	<i>O</i> <sub>2,2</sub>	O 2,3	<i>O</i> <sub>2,4</sub>	O 2,5	O 2,6	<i>O</i> <sub>2,7</sub>	02,8	O 2,9	O 2,10	<i>O</i> <sub>2,11</sub>	O <sub>2,12</sub>
$DP_{2,1}$	4	3	2	2	1	1	1	3	1	2	2	2
$DP_{2,2}$	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	1	2	1	1
DP 2,3	2	1	1	1	3	1	2	2	2	1	1	1

Table 4. Amounts of resources required by activities of the project P3 (source: self study)

	O <sub>3,1</sub>	O <sub>3,2</sub>	O <sub>3,3</sub>	O <sub>3,4</sub>	O <sub>3,5</sub>	O <sub>3,6</sub>	O <sub>3,7</sub>	O <sub>3,8</sub>	O <sub>3,9</sub>	O <sub>3,10</sub>	O <sub>3,11</sub>
DP <sub>3,1</sub>	2	4	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	3
DP <sub>3,2</sub>	2	1	3	2	2	2	1	1	1	2	2
DP <sub>3,3</sub>	2	4	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	3

Table 5. Amounts of resources required by activities of the project P4 (source: self study)

	O <sub>4,1</sub>	O <sub>4,2</sub>	O <sub>4,3</sub>	O <sub>4,4</sub>	O <sub>4,5</sub>	O <sub>4,6</sub>	O <sub>4,7</sub>	O <sub>4,8</sub>	O <sub>4,9</sub>	O <sub>4,10</sub>	O <sub>4,11</sub>	O <sub>4,12</sub>	O <sub>4,13</sub>
DP <sub>4,1</sub>	1	2	3	4	3	2	2	1	1	1	3	1	4
DP <sub>4,2</sub>	1	1	1	2	1	2	1	3	2	2	2	1	2
DP <sub>4,3</sub>	1	2	2	1	1	2	4	1	2	2	2	1	2

Table 6. Amount of used up (CR) and generated (CS) non-renewable resources required by activities of the project P1 (*source: self study*)

	O <sub>1,1</sub>	O <sub>1,2</sub>	O <sub>1,3</sub>	O <sub>1,4</sub>	O <sub>1,5</sub>	O <sub>1,6</sub>	O <sub>1,7</sub>	O <sub>1,8</sub>	O <sub>1,9</sub>	O <sub>1,10</sub>
CR <sub>1,1</sub>	1	1	2	1	2	1	3	1	1	1
CR <sub>1,2</sub>	1	2	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1
CS <sub>1,1</sub>	3	2	0	2	4	4	2	0	2	4
CS <sub>1,2</sub>	1	2	3	2	2	2	0	2	1	2

	O <sub>2,1</sub>	O <sub>2,2</sub>	O <sub>2,3</sub>	O <sub>2,4</sub>	O <sub>2,5</sub>	O <sub>2,6</sub>	O <sub>2,7</sub>	O <sub>2,8</sub>	O <sub>2,9</sub>	O <sub>2,10</sub>	O <sub>2,11</sub>	O <sub>2,12</sub>
CR <sub>2,1</sub>	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	3	1	0	1	1
CR <sub>2,2</sub>	3	2	1	2	0	2	3	2	2	2	1	2
CS <sub>2,1</sub>	3	2	0	2	1	2	0	2	0	2	0	1
CS <sub>2,2</sub>	3	2	1	2	0	2	3	2	2	2	1	2

 Table 7. Amount of used up (CR) and generated (CS) non-renewable resources required by activities of the project P2 (source: self study)

Table 8. Amount of used up (CR) and generated (CS) non-renewable resources required by activities of the project P3 (*source: self study*)

	O <sub>3,1</sub>	O <sub>3,2</sub>	O <sub>3,3</sub>	O <sub>3,4</sub>	O <sub>3,5</sub>	O <sub>3,6</sub>	O <sub>3,7</sub>	O <sub>3,8</sub>	O <sub>3,9</sub>	O <sub>3,10</sub>	O <sub>3,11</sub>
CR <sub>3,1</sub>	1	1	2	1	1	1	0	1	3	1	1
CR <sub>3,2</sub>	0	1	1	0	2	1	1	1	3	1	0
CS <sub>3,1</sub>	2	3	2	0	2	1	2	2	2	3	2
CS <sub>3,2</sub>	3	2	1	2	0	2	3	2	2	2	1

 Table 9. Amount of used up (CR) and generated (CS) non-renewable resources required by activities of the project P4 (source: self study)

	O <sub>4,1</sub>	O <sub>4,2</sub>	O <sub>4,3</sub>	O <sub>4,4</sub>	O <sub>4,5</sub>	O <sub>4,6</sub>	O <sub>4,7</sub>	O <sub>4,8</sub>	O <sub>4,9</sub>	O <sub>4,10</sub>	O <sub>4,11</sub>	O <sub>4,12</sub>	O <sub>4,13</sub>
CR <sub>4,1</sub>	1	1	2	1	1	1	0	1	3	1	1	1	1
CR <sub>4,2</sub>	0	1	1	0	2	1	1	1	3	1	0	1	1
CS <sub>4,1</sub>	2	3	2	0	2	1	2	2	2	3	2	3	2
CS <sub>4,2</sub>	3	2	1	2	0	2	3	2	2	2	1	2	2

Let us assume each project's efficiency is measured by Net Present Value (*NPV*) performance index calculated due to the following formulae:

$$NPV = \sum_{t=0}^{n} \frac{CF_t}{(1+k)^t}$$

where:

- CFt the money netto flow expected in the year t,
- k the discount rate (alternative capital investment cost),
- n the period of a project exploitation [years].

The problem considered belongs to the class of ,,straight" ones and reduces to the following question: Does there exist a schedule following constraints assumed on availability of renewable and non-renewable resources and NPV > 0 such that production orders completion time not exceeds the deadline h?

Solution to the problem results in determination of moments the activities start their execution  $x_{i,j}$  [8]. So, the solution we are searching for has the form of the following sequences:  $X_1 = (x_{1,1}, ..., x_{1,10}), X_2 = (x_{2,1}, ..., x_{2,12}), X_3 = (x_{3,1}, ..., x_{3,11}), X_4 = (x_{4,1}, ..., x_{4,13}).$ 

The graphical representation of the projects portfolio schedule is shown in the Fig. 8. The schedule obtained follows all constrains imposed by an enterprise capacity and projects execution requirements. The system considered allows one to obtain the Gantt's-like chart illustrating the rates of resources usage both renewable and non-renewable ones.

An example of graphical representation of the resource  $zo_1$  usage rate containing assumed resource's limit in whole time horizon is shown on Fig. 9. It can be observed the assumed resource's limit was not exceeded, the same regards of resources  $zo_2$ ,  $zo_3$ . The Fig. 10 in turn illustrates changes regarding the rate of resource usage concerning of the non-renewable resource  $zn_2$ . That is easy to note that the assumed minimal level of resource usage equal to 0 was never exceeding in whole time horizon. The same remark concerns the resource  $zn_1$ .

Therefore, the example presented illustrates the main capabilities of the DST4P<sup>3</sup> package possessing capability of multi-criteria project planning (e.g. taking into account a particular project deadline, projects portfolio deadline, resources limits, and so on) and an interactive approach to projects prototyping problems formulated either in a straight or in a reverse way. The problem of the size just considered took less than 5 minutes (the AMD Athlon(tm)XP 2500 + 1,85 GHz, RAM 1,00 GB platform has been used).



Figure 8. Projects portfolio schedule (source: self study)



Figure 9. Gantt's-like chart of the renewable resource zo1 usage (source: self study)



Figure 10. Gantt's-like chart of the non-renewable resource zn2 usage (source: self study)

## Example 2 - "straight"/distinct variables

Given the following projects portfolio, i.e. the set of projects  $P = \{P_1, P_2, P_3, P_4\}$  specified by the same activity networks (see Fig. 4, Fig. 5, Fig. 6 and Fig. 7) and resources allocations (see the Table 2 – Table 9) as in the Example 1. However, the new time horizon  $H = \{0, 1, ..., 36\}$  is considered.

The problem considered belongs to the class of ,,straight" ones and reduces to the following question: Does there exist a schedule following constraints assumed on availability of renewable and non-renewable resources and NPV > 0 such that production orders completion time not exceeds the deadline h?

Similarly to the previous case the solution to the problem results in determination of the moments activities start their execution  $x_{i,j}$ . So, the solution we are searching for has the same form of the following sequences:  $X_1 = (x_{1,1},..., x_{1,10}), X_2 = (x_{2,1},..., x_{2,12}), X_3 = (x_{3,1},..., x_{3,11}), X_4 = (x_{4,1},..., x_{4,13})$ , however regards of the shorter deadline.

In the case considered, in 2 seconds, the DST $4P^3$  package's response was: *Lack of any solutions*. That means no schedule there exists. In such situation, however there is still a possibility to reformulate the problem considered by stating it in terms of imprecise variables, i.e. looking for a solution specified by an uncertainty measure. Such the case is just considered below.

# Example 3 – "straight"/imprecise variables

Given the following projects portfolio, i.e. the set of projects  $P = \{P_1, P_2, P_3, P_4\}$  specified by the same activity networks (see Fig. 4, Fig. 5, Fig. 6 and Fig. 7) and resources allocations (see Table 2 – Table 9) as in the Example 1. In case considered the industrial robots

guaranteeing distinct operation times and workers responsible for imprecise operation times are treated as available renewable resources. However, the new time horizon  $H = \{0, 1, ..., 36\}$  is considered.

Given the uncertainty threshold value  $DE \ge 0,7$  limiting uncertainty of constraints specifying projects portfolio. So, DE determines the minimal grade value guaranteeing the all constraints hold. For instance, DE = 0,9means that the makespan of the projects portfolio considered will hold within the given time horizon H. Moreover, the operations times of activities:  $O_{1,6}$ ,  $O_{1,10}$ ,  $O_{2,3}$ ,  $O_{2,6}$ ,  $O_{2,8}$ ,  $O_{3,2}$ ,  $O_{3,4}$ ,  $O_{3,7}$ ,  $O_{3,11}$ ,  $O_{4,4}$ ,  $O_{4,9}$ ,  $O_{4,13}$ have an imprecise character. So, the relevant sequences of activities' operation times are as follow:

 $\widehat{T}_1 = (1, 2, 3, 4, 4, \text{``about 6''}, 3, 2, 1, \text{``about 4''})$  $\widehat{T}_2 = (3, 1, \text{``about 4''}, 3, 2, \text{``about 3''}, 1, \text{``about 4''}, 2, 4, 2, 1)$ 

 $\hat{T}_3 = (3, \text{``about 5''}, 2, \text{``about 5''}, 2, 1, \text{``about 6''}, 3, 3, 4, (about 6'')$ 

 $\hat{T}_4 = (3, 3, 2, ,,about 6", 3, 1, 4, 1, ,,about 6", 4, 3, 3,"about 6")$ 

For instance, in the case the activity's  $O_{1,6}$  operation time is "about 6" (see Fig. 11) that means the activity can be executed within the time period of 4 till 8 units of time. In order to be able to distinguish crispy and imprecise variables the following symbol "^" is used.



Figure 11.  $\hat{t}_{1,6}$  = "about 6 " (source: self study)

The problem considered belongs to the class of "straight" ones and reduces to the following question: Does there exist a schedule following constraints assumed on availability of renewable and non-renewable resources and NPV > 0 such that production orders completion time not exceeds the deadline h with the uncertainty threshold DE  $\ge 0,7$  ?

The proposed problem formulation assumes the solutions obtained are imprecise, so their implementation can be risky because of such uncertainty. Moreover we assume some variables e.g. operations times, and uncertainty threshold value DE are imprecise.

Similarly to the Example 1 the solution to the problem results in determination of the moments activities start their execution  $x_{i,j}$ . So, the solution we are searching for has the same form of the following sequences:  $X_1 = (x_{1,1}, \dots, x_{1,10}), X_2 = (x_{2,1}, \dots, x_{2,12}), X_3 = (x_{3,1}, \dots, x_{3,11}), X_4 = (x_{4,1}, \dots x_{4,13})$ , however regards of the shorter dead-line, as in the Example 2.

The first admissible solution provided by  $DST4P^3$  (obtained in 10 s) has the following form:

$$\begin{split} X_1 &= (0, 1, 1, 4, 11, 15, 8, 11, 22, 23) \\ X_2 &= (0, 3, 10, 10, 13, 15, 19, 18, 23, 25, 25, 29) \\ X_3 &= (0, 3, 3, 9, 15, 5, 17, 15, 18, 24, 28) \\ X_4 &= (0, 0, 3, 5, 5, 3, 3, 13, 8, 6, 14, 16, 19) \end{split}$$

The NPV index value calculated for projects:  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $P_3$ ,  $P_4$  follow the requirement NPV > 0, i.e. NPV\_{P1} = 0,3649, NPV<sub>P2</sub> = 2,6024, NPV\_{P3} = 1,6177, NPV\_{P4} = 0,8165.

The graphical representation of the projects portfolio schedule is show in the Fig. 12. The schedule obtained follows all constrains imposed by an enterprise capacity and projects execution requirements.

Obtained schedule provides the plan for projects portfolio execution, where uncertainty threshold level for all constraints is equal or less than 0,7 (that one may interpret as a risk of due time completion on the level equal to 0,3).

The level the planed schedule fits its real live execution depends on a decision maker. The way such fitting can be adjusted is show in the Example 5.

The system considered allows one to obtain the Gantt's-like chart illustrating the rates of resources usage both renewable and non-renewable ones. An example of graphical representation of the renewable resource  $zo_4$  usage rate containing assumed resource's

limit (equal to 12 units) in whole time horizon is shown on Fig. 14.

Assumed resource's limit is distinguished by bold and dashed line. The chart considered provides information about the number of currently used resources units. For instance (see Fig. 13), between the first and the second unit of time there are used six resource units (i.e. with certainty equal to 1).



Figure 13. Illustration of the renewable resource usage rate estimation (*source: self study*)

That number changes, however with uncertainty level, for instance with the uncertainty level equal to 0,18, the 12 resource units are required. In turn, in the period between the second and the third units of time a risk level equal to 0,02 resulting in exceeding the assumed resource limit (by two units) is observed.

The similar cases concerning the resource limits exceeding can be observed for the resource  $zo_3$  (see Fig. 14). That means, due to the schedule from Fig. 12, resource shortage may occur at the following time units 12, 15 and 19.

Quite similar observations regards of the nonrenewable resource  $zn_2$  see Fig. 15. In this case, however any risk of the resource shortage does not occur. In turn, the constraint determining the minimal, i.e. equal to 0, amount of renewable resources holds in both kinds of resources in whole time horizon.

The problem of the size just considered took less than 1 minute (the AMD Athlon(tm)XP 2500 + 1,85 GHz, RAM 1,00 GB platform has been used).



Figure 12. Projects portfolio schedule with the uncertainty threshold  $\ge 0.7$  (source: self study)



Figure 14. Usage rate of renewable resource zo3 (source: self study)



Figure 15. Usage rate of non-renewable resource zn2 (source: self study)

#### Example 4 – ,,straight"/imprecise variables

Given the following projects portfolio, i.e. the set of projects  $P = \{P_1, P_2, P_3, P_4\}$  as in the Example 3. However, the new, shorter time horizon  $H = \{0, 1, ..., 33\}$  is considered.

The problem considered belongs to the class of ,,straight" ones and reduces to the following question: Does there exist a schedule following constraints assumed on availability of renewable and non-renewable resources and NPV > 0 such that production orders completion time not exceeds the deadline h with the uncertainty threshold DE  $\ge 0,7$ ?

In the case considered, in 3 seconds, the DST4P<sup>3</sup> package's response was: *Lack of any solutions*. That means no schedule there exists under assumption of the uncertainty threshold  $DE \ge 0.7$ . In such situation, however there is still a possibility to reformulate the problem considered by assuming greater uncertainty level (less value of DE). In case the increasing of an uncertainty level is not acceptable the decision maker can reformulate the problem statement, e.g. stating it in a reverse way. In such a new formulation the decision maker is looking for the values of a subset of assumed decision variables guaranteeing the makespan of considered projects portfolio will not exceed the deadline h. Such the case is just considered below.

# Example 5 – "reverse"/imprecise variables

Given the following projects portfolio, i.e. the set of projects  $P = \{P_1, P_2, P_3, P_4\}$  as in the Example 4.  $H = \{0,1,...,33\}$  is the time horizon considered.

Given the uncertainty threshold value  $DE \ge 0,7$  limiting uncertainty of constraints specifying projects portfolio. Similarly to the Example 4, the operations times of activities:  $O_{1,6}$ ,  $O_{1,10}$ ,  $O_{2,3}$ ,  $O_{2,6}$ ,  $O_{2,8}$ ,  $O_{3,2}$ ,  $O_{3,4}$ ,  $O_{3,7}$ ,  $O_{3,11}$ ,  $O_{4,4}$ ,  $O_{4,9}$ ,  $O_{4,13}$  have an imprecise character. Moreover, let us assume that besides of operation times of the following activates  $O_{3,7}$  and  $O_{3,11}$  the values of all rest parameters are known. Given is the following relationship linking operation times of activates  $O_{3,7}$  and  $O_{3,11}$ :  $\hat{t}_{3,7} + \hat{t}_{3,8} = about 8$ .

The problem considered belongs to the class of ,,reverse" ones and reduces to the following question: do there exist such activities operation times guaranteeing production orders completion time not exceeds the deadline h with the uncertainty threshold DE  $\ge 0,7$ while constraints assumed on availability of renewable and non-renewable resources and NPV > 0 hold?

In such problem formulation the searched solution regards of the values of some decision variables guaranteeing the makespan of considered projects portfolio do exceed the deadline h. So, in the particular case the considered variables are activities  $O_{3,7}$  and  $O_{3,11}$ , and the searched values concerns of activities operation times  $\hat{t}_{3,7}$ ,  $\hat{t}_{3,11}$  and moments of activities  $x_{i,j}$  beginning, i.e. the components of the following sequences:  $X_1 =$  $(x_{1,1}, ..., x_{1,10})$ ,  $X_2 = (x_{2,1}, ..., x_{2,12})$ ,  $X_3 = (x_{3,1}, ..., x_{3,11})$ ,  $X_4 = (x_{4,1}, ..., x_{4,13})$ .

The first admissible solution provided by  $DST4P^3$  (obtained in 15 s) has the following form concerning the

operation times:  $\hat{t}_{3,7} = 6$ ,  $\hat{t}_{3,11} =$  "about 3" (see Fig. 16) and the following form concerning the moments of activities start:

$$\begin{split} X_1 &= (0, 1, 1, 4, 11, 15, 8, 11, 22, 23) \\ X_2 &= (0, 3, 10, 10, 13, 15, 19, 18, 23, 25, 25, 29) \\ X_3 &= (0, 3, 3, 9, 15, 5, 17, 15, 18, 24, 28) \\ X_4 &= (0, 0, 3, 5, 5, 3, 3, 12, 8, 6, 13, 15, 18) \end{split}$$



Figure 16.  $\hat{t}_{3,11}$  = "about 3" (source: self study)

The NPV index value calculated for projects:  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $P_3$ ,  $P_4$  follow the requirement NPV > 0, i.e. NPV\_{P1} = 0,3649, NPV<sub>P2</sub> = 2,6024, NPV<sub>P3</sub> = 1,6014, NPV<sub>P4</sub> = 0,8165.

The graphical representation of the projects portfolio schedule is show on the Fig. 17. The schedule obtained assumes operation times of activities  $O_{3,7}$ ,  $O_{3,11}$  equal to "about 6" and "about 3", respectively, and follows all constrains imposed by an enterprise capacity and projects execution requirements.

Obtained schedule provides the plan for projects portfolio execution, and provides a base for further adjustment aimed at fitting to real live execution [3]. The adjustment process consist in narrowing down the periods of operation times (by changing the beginning and ending moments of activities executions) as to avoid their overlapping, i.e. removing the confusion regarding the cases where an activity's ending exceeds its begging. It that context the schedule fitting leads to a minimal, confusion-free periods of operation times. The illustration of such fitting is shown on Fig. 18 presenting the projects portfolio schedule assuming the uncertainty threshold value  $DE \ge 0.5$ . The new schedule has been obtained from the former one shown in the Fig. 17 under assumption the uncertainty threshold value  $DE \ge 0,7$ .



Figure 17. Projects portfolio schedule with the uncertainty threshold  $\geq 0.7$  (source: self study)



Figure 18. Projects portfolio schedule with the uncertainty threshold  $\geq 0.5$  (source: self study)

# 5. Concluding remarks

Our approach to an interactive task oriented decision support tools provides the framework allowing one to take into account both: straight and reverse problems formulation. This advantage can be seen as a possibility to response (besides of such standard questions as Is it possible to complete a given set of production orders at a scheduled project deadline?) to the questions like: What variables value guarantee the production orders makespan follows the assumed deadline? Constraint programming paradigm standing behind of the methodology aimed for such tools designing allows to take into account both distinct and imprecise character of the decision variables as well as to consider of multicriteria decision problems.

The methodology developed is based on the concept of the decision problem reference model [3]. The model considered can be seen as a knowledge base encompassing the structure of a constraint satisfaction problem, where the logic-algebraic method plays a role of inference engine. So, the main idea standing behind of the methodology lies in a way the knowledge base is "adjusted", i.e. adding the conditions guaranteeing the responses to the standard queries there exist as well as conditions guaranteeing the employed them searching strategies can be used in an on-line mode for the reallife size of project planning problems.

Provided multiple examples illustrate a way some arbitrary selected cases can be managed by DST4P<sup>3</sup> package. Its current version is aimed at an interactive projects portfolio prototyping aimed at SMEs where the number of simultaneously considered projects do not exceeds 5 and whole number of activities do not exceeds 80. In that context the approach presented can be considered as a new alternative contribution to projectdriven production flow management, and its DSS implementation can be applied in make-to-order manufacturing as well as for prototyping of the virtual organization structures.

#### 6. References

[1] Parcher, N., Chasemzadech F. - An integrated framework for project portfolio selection [in] Int. Journal of Project Management, Vol. 17, No. 4, pp. 207-216;1999.

- [2] Bach I., Bocewicz G., Banaszak Z. Constraint programming approach to time-window and multiresource-constrained projects portfolio prototyping [in] Industrial, Engineering and Other Applications of Applied Intelligent Systems, IEA/AIE 2008 (ed. Nguyen N.T.). Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence 5027, pp. 767–776, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg 2008.
- [3] Bach I., Wójcik R., Bocewicz G. Projects portfolio prototyping subject to imprecise activities speci-fication [in] Proceedings of 14<sup>th</sup> International Congress of Cybernetics and Systems of WOSC – ICCS'08, pp. 261-272, Wroclaw 2008.
- [4] Banaszak Z. CP-based decision support for project-driven manufacturing [in] Perspectives in Modern Project Scheduling, (ed. Józefowska J., Węglarz J.). International Series in Operations Research and Management Science, Vol. 92, pp. 409-437, Springer Verlag, New York 2006.
- [5] Banaszak Z., Zaremba M., Muszyński W. CPbased decision making for SME [in] Preprints of the 16<sup>th</sup> IFAC World Congress (ed. Horacek P., Simandl M., Zitek P.). DVD, Prague 2005.
- [6] Barták R. Incomplete Depth-First Search Techniques: A Short Survey [in] Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> Workshop on Constraint Programming for Decision and Control (ed. Figwer J.), pp. 7-14, 2004.
- [7] Beale E. M. L. Branch and bound methods for mathematical programming systems [in] Discrete Optimization II (ed. Hammer P. L., Johnson E. L., Korte B. H.), pp. 201–219. North Holland Publishing Co., 1979.
- [8] Bocewicz G., Banaszak Z., Wójcik R. Design of admissible schedules for AGV systems with constraints: a logic-algebraic approach [in] Agent and Multi-Agent Systems: Technologies and Applications (ed. Nguyen N.T., Grzech A., Howlett R.J., Jain L.C.), pp. 578-587. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence 4496, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg 2007.
- [9] Bocewicz G., Wójcik R., Bzdyra K. Fuzzy Logic And Logic-Algebraic Method For Constraint Programming - Driven Project Prototyping [in] IT and Knowledge Management (ed. Orłowski C., Kowalczuk Z., Szczerbicki E.), pp. 317-326. PWNT, Gdańsk 2008.
- [10] Bubnicki Z. Logic-algebraic method for a class of knowledge based system [in] Computer Aided Systems Theory. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (ed. Picher F., Moreno Diaz R.). Springer-Verlag, Berlin 1997.
- [11] Bubnicki Z. Learning processes and logicalgebraic method for the systems with knowledge representation [in] Systems Analysis and Management. PAS, Warsaw 1999.

- [12] Chanas S., Komburowski J. The use of fuzzy variables in PERT [in] Fuzzy Sets and Systems, No. 5(1), pp. 11-19, 1981.
- [13] Dubois D., Fargier H., Fortemps P. Fuzzy scheduling: Modeling flexible constraints vs. coping with incomplete knowledge [in] European Journal of Operational Research, No. 147, pp. 231 – 252, 2003.
- [14] Linderoth T., Savelsbergh. M. W. P. A computational study of search strategies in mixed integer programming [in] INFORMS Journal on Computing, No. 11, pp.173–187, 1999.
- [15] Martinez, E. C., D., Duje G.A. Perez On performance modeling of project-oriented production [in] Computers and Industrial Engineering, Vol. 32, pp. 509-527, 1997.
- [16] Piegat A. *Fuzzy modeling and control.* Exit, Warsaw 1999.
- [17] Schutle H., Smolka G., Wurtz J. *Finite Domain Constraint Programming in Oz.* German Research Center for Artificial Inteligence, Saarbrucken 1998.
- [18] Van Hentenryck P. Constraint Logic Programming [in] Knowledge Engineering Review, No. 6, pp. 151–194, 1991.
- [19] Zimmermann H.J. *Fuzzy sets theory and its applications*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, London 1994.

#### APPENDIX A

Imprecise variables specified by fuzzy sets and determined by convex membership function can be characterized by  $\alpha$  - cuts (Piegat, 1999), and then defined by pairs (a1):

$$(A_i, \alpha)$$
 (a1)

where:

 $A_i = \{A_{z_i,1}, A_{z_i,2}, \dots, A_{z_i,lz}\}$  finite set of so called z - cuts,

 $\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{i,j} = \{\alpha_{i,1}, \ \alpha_{i,2}, \dots, \ \alpha_{i,lz}\} - is \ a \ set \ A_{z_i,1}, A_{z_i,2}, \dots, A_{z_i,la} \\ & \text{of values corresponding to } \alpha \text{ - cuts at levels } \alpha_{i,j}, \end{aligned}$ 

lz - a number of z-cuts

and (a2)

$$A_{z_{i},k} = [a_{i,k}, b_{i,k}]_{N}$$
 (a2)

where:

 $a_{i,k}$ ,  $b_{i,k}$  – is the smallest and the highest value of the k-th  $\alpha$  - cut,  $a_{i,k}$ ,  $b_{i,k} \in N$ .

The z-cut can be seen as a discretized form of the  $\alpha$ -cut, i.e.  $A_{z_i,k} = A_{\alpha_i,k} \cap N$ , see Fig. 1a.



Figure 1a. Fuzzy set  $\hat{v}_i$  specified by: a)  $\alpha$  - cuts, b) discretized  $\alpha$  - cuts, i.e., z-cuts (source: self study)

Note, that in the assumed specification distinct values are represented by relevant singletons.

Imprecise character of decision variables, e.g.,  $\hat{x}_{i,j}$ ,  $\hat{t}_{i,j}$ , implies imprecise character of employing them constraints, which in turn can be considered as a consequence of implementation of assumed operations. Therefore, consider the set of fuzzy operations: " $\hat{=}$ ", " $\hat{<}$ ", " $\hat{>}$ ", encompassing standard algebraic operations such as: = $\neq$ , <, >,  $\geq$ ,  $\leq$ . Of course, the considered fuzzy operations linking two fuzzy variables  $\hat{v}_i$ ,  $\hat{v}_l$ have to follow the condition (a3):

$$E(\hat{v}_i \stackrel{<}{\sim} \hat{v}_l) + E(\hat{v}_i \stackrel{=}{=} \hat{v}_l) + E(\hat{v}_i \stackrel{>}{>} \hat{v}_l) = 1 \quad (a3)$$

where:

E(a) – the fuzzy logic value of the proposition  $a, E(a) \in [0,1]$ .

In order to define fuzzy operations used for description of the deadlock avoidance conditions (a10) the following auxiliary sets  $v_i^{L}$ ,  $v_i^{*}$ ,  $v_i^{P}$  and  $v_l^{L}$ ,  $v_l^{*}$ ,  $v_l^{P}$  are defined as well as the concept of a size of fuzzy variable  $S_i$  and the size of subsets  $S_i^{L}$ ,  $S_i^{P}$ ,  $S_l^{L}$ ,  $S^{*}$ ,  $S_i^{P}$  of  $S_i$ .

For each pair of fuzzy variables  $\hat{v}_i$ ,  $\hat{v}_l$  defined by  $\{(\mu_i(v), v)\}, \forall v \in K_i$ , where:  $K_i$  is the domain of the variable  $\hat{v}_i$ , the following sets can be distinguished:  $v_i^L$ ,  $v_i^*$ ,  $v_i^P$  i  $v_l^L$ ,  $v_l^*$ ,  $v_l^P$ . For instance, for the set  $\hat{v}_l$  the following subsets can be determined:

- $v_i{}^L$  the set composed of elements v being less (smaller) than all elements from  $\hat{v}_l$ ,
- $v_{i,i}^*$  the set of elements shared with  $\hat{v}_l$ ,

 $v_i^P$  – the set composed of elements v being greater (bigger) than all elements from  $\hat{v}_l$ .

The sets  $v_i^{L}$ ,  $v_i^{*}$ ,  $v_i^{P}$  are defined as follows:

$$v_i^{L} = \{(\mu_i^{L}(v), v)\}, \forall v \in K_i,$$

$$(a4)$$

where:

$$\begin{split} \mu_{i}^{L}(v) &= \begin{cases} & \mu_{i}(v) - \mu_{l}(v) \text{ if } \mu_{i}(v) \geq \mu_{i}(v), v < w_{min} \\ & 0 & \text{ if } \mu_{i}(v) < \mu_{i}(v), v < w_{min} \\ & \text{ or } v \geq w_{min} \end{cases} \\ w_{min} &= \min \{K_{w}\}, K_{w} = \{v: v \in K_{i}, \mu_{l}(v) = 1\}, \end{split}$$

$$v_i^* = \{(\mu_i^*(v), v_i)\}, \forall v \in K_i,$$
 (a5)

where:

$$\mu_{i}^{*}(v) = \min\{\mu_{i}(v), \mu_{l}(v)\}$$
$$v_{i}^{P} = \{(\mu_{i}^{P}(v), v)\}, \ \forall v \in K_{i},$$
(a6)

where:

$$\mu_{i}^{P}(v) = \begin{cases} \mu_{i}(v) - \mu_{l}(v) \text{ if } \mu_{i}(v) \ge \mu_{i}(v), v > w_{max} \\ 0 & \text{ if } \mu_{i}(v) < \mu_{i}(v), v > w_{max} \\ \text{ or } v \le w_{max} \end{cases}$$

 $w_{max} = max \left\{ K_w \right\}, K_w = \{v: v \in K_i, \mu_l(v) = 1\}.$ 

Subsets  $v_1^*$ ,  $v_1^P$  corresponding to the fuzzy variable  $\hat{v}_1$  are defined in the same way.

To each fuzzy variable  $\hat{v}_i$ ,  $\hat{v}_l$  and the corresponding subset  $v_i^L$ ,  $v_i^*$ ,  $v_i^P$ ,  $v_l^L$ ,  $v_l^*$ ,  $v_l^P$  an associated size value can be determined. For instance, the size value  $S_i$ 

corresponding to the fuzzy variable  $v_i$ , and specified in terms of z-cuts can be defined as (a7):

$$S_i = \sum_{k=1}^{l_z} ||A_{z_i,k}||,$$
 (a7)

where:

 $\|A_{z_{i},k}\|$  – a number of elements of the set  $A_{z_{i},k}$ .

In the similar way the values  $S_i^{L}$ ,  $S_l^{*}$ ,  $S_l^{P}$ ,  $S_l^{L}$ ,  $S_i^{*}$ ,  $S_l^{P}$  corresponding to the sets  $v_i^{L}$ ,  $v_i^{*}$ ,  $v_i^{P}$ ,  $v_l^{L}$ ,  $v_l^{*}$ ,  $v_l^{P}$  are defined.

In the case considered, the equation  $S_l^* = S_i^*$  holds for the given  $v_i^*, v_l^*$  because the decision variables  $\hat{v}_i$ ,  $\hat{v}_l$  belong to the time domain. Therefore, for the sake of simplicity, in further considerations the sizes  $S_l^*, S_i^*$  are denoted by the same symbol  $S^*$ .

Given fuzzy variables  $\hat{v}_i$ ,  $\hat{v}_l$ . Consider algebraic-like fuzzy operations following the condition (a3). Fuzzy logic value of the proposition  $\hat{v}_i \cong \hat{v}_l$  is defined by (a8):

$$E(\hat{v}_i \cong \hat{v}_l) = \frac{2S^*}{S_i + S_l}$$
(a8)

where:

 $S_i-\text{the size of } \ \widehat{v}_i,$ 

 $S_l$  – the size of  $\hat{v}_l$ ,

 $\boldsymbol{S}^*$  – the size of the common part of sets  $\boldsymbol{\hat{v}}_i,\,\boldsymbol{\hat{v}}_l.$ 

Fuzzy logic value of the proposition  $\hat{v}_i \stackrel{<}{<} \hat{v}_l$  is defined by (a9):

$$E(\hat{v}_i \stackrel{<}{\stackrel{<}{\sim}} \hat{v}_l) = \frac{S_i^{L} + S_l^{P}}{S_i + S_l}$$
(a9)

where:

 $S_i$  – the size of  $\, \widehat{v}_i, \, S_l$  – the size of  $\widehat{v}_l$  ,

$$S_i^L$$
 - the size of  $v_i^L$ 

 $S_1^P$  - the size of  $v_i^P$ .

Fuzzy logic value of the proposition  $\hat{v}_i \ge \hat{v}_l$  is defined by (a10):

$$E(\hat{v}_i > \hat{v}_l) = \frac{S_l^{P} + S_l^{L}}{S_l + S_l}$$
(a10)

Fuzzy logic value of the proposition  $\hat{v}_i \ge \hat{v}_l$  is defined by (a11):

$$E(\hat{v}_{i} \ge \hat{v}_{l}) = \frac{2S^{*} + S_{i}^{P} + S_{l}^{L}}{S_{j} + S_{l}}$$
(a11)

Fuzzy logic value of the proposition  $\hat{v}_i \leq \hat{v}_l$  is defined by (a12):

$$E(\hat{v}_{i} \le \hat{v}_{l}) = \frac{2S^{*} + S_{i}{}^{L} + S_{l}{}^{P}}{S_{i} + S_{l}}$$
(a12)

Formulaes (a8), (a9), (a10), (a11), (a12) allow one to design constraints describing basic relations among two fuzzy variables, such as equality, less than, greater than, less or equal, and greater or equal.

In order to allow one to consider other constraints, e.g., taking into acount distinct variables, the fuzzy operations such as fuzzy addition and fuzzy subtraction have to be employed as well. The relevant operations  $,,\hat{+},,,\hat{-}$  can be found in [17].

#### **BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE FOR INSURANCE COMPANIES**

Katarzyna ROSTEK

Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland email: K.Rostek@wz.pw.edu.pl

*Abstract:* The article presents current status of IT implementation in Polish insurance companies. Afterwards the man issues connected with information management and proposal of dealing with these issues, due to the implementation of Business Intelligence system, is presented. Definition, structure and scope of application as well as the Business Intelligence system implementation methodology, with a particular consideration for the insurance market character, are presented. Article is summed up with examples of effective Business Intelligence systems implementations in selected insurance companies.

*Key words:* Business Intelligence, insurance company, analytical data processing, data mining, OLAP, data warehouse.

#### 1. Introduction

Currently there are no insurance companies without implemented IT systems and many of them work with specialized applications with a narrow scope of implementation and without the possibility for quick and easy data exchange. Even though, data gathered at the transactional level is broad and concern most aspects of enterprise's activities, number of used IT solutions causes difficulties in the use of gathered resources. Even in case of an integrated system the data is usually dispersed in many modules and difficult to access in order to gain cross-sectional managerial reviews.

New needs emerge in the field of data migration, integration of existing solutions and a free access to integrated and processed information, which influences the quality and effectiveness of corporate management.

In such case, *Business Intelligence* application tools, which enable the construction of integrated managerial information systems and allow the access to complete, updated and real information, support managerial processes in the enterprise, become essential. The article presents the definition, structure, scope of application and implementation methodology for the *Business Intelligence* systems, which assure effective use of IT resources – gathered and processed by the insurance company.

# 2. Polish BI market and insurance IT systems

Insurance companies provide insurance products to the market, which take the equitable transfer of the risk of a loss, from one entity to another. Business processes in insurance companies, their unique character and attributes, influence the character of implemented IT solutions. Poland is a relatively large and not entirely occupied market for insurance companies in comparison with highly industrialized countries. During 1999-2004 from 50-70 million of different insurance policies were sold in Poland [7]. The number of active insurance companies has been growing in Poland since 1991. According to the data from the third quarter of 2004 the number was equal to 72 insurance companies and dropped to 69 in the end of 2004. More consolidations took place in 2005 [7]. One of the conditions for further development of the insurance market in Poland is the awareness of the fact that IT solutions grant a better competitive position in the market.

According to the estimations of the DiS analytical company [7] the value of insurance IT market in 2004 was equal to 690 million PLN. Let's take a closer look at the expenses structure in this sector. Approximately 120 software products used in insurance sector were analyzed in the DiS report on insurance IT [7]:

- one third of those programs is used in insurance services,
- integrated insurance systems are 25% of applications presented in the report,
- 11% of presented applications are the Business Intelligence tools,
- ERP packages are the 10% of presented titles,
- remaining products are the self-reliant software titles, which deal with asset management, CRM and e-learning.



Figure 1. Idea of Business Intelligence System functioning (source: self study)

In case of BI and CRM solutions, apart from representation in the form of individual systems, they are a part of inbuilt element of both integrated insurance systems as well as systems supporting insurance agencies. Still the level of BI and CRM solutions usage in Polish insurance companies is relatively low.

The biggest limitation in the usage of the possibilities offered by BI is the lack of automation in the areas of data processing and analysis. Using the improvements provided by BI is lower if the company is using manual data processing.

Together with the development of technology the number of data types and sources increased – today we can speak of not only structured data but also data without a formal structure: text, graphics or multimedia.

Gathered data is usually stored in a way that limits the data usage possibilities when one is using application other than the mother one. On the other hand the data users usually are not aware of the data significance and do not know how it can be used in a useful and purposeful way.

There are cases when different departments do not want to share the data or avoid determining a clear rules and responsibility for data management.

As a result analysts from different departments are preparing reports on the same subjects based on seemingly same data, reaching different results, which, apart from the waste of time, undermines the reliability of such reports.

The article presents practical approach towards system implementation, which enables effective information management and optimal usage of owned data resources, with special attention to the environment of the insurance company. IT systems supporting managerial processes are currently present in every insurance company. Considerable amount of data is gathered, from every area that the insurance company is interested in, so called transitional data. However the large number of IT solutions is disturbing the data gathering process – even in case of integrated systems the data is dispersed in many modules and not easy to access if one needs to gather data for the sectional managerial report. Therefore implementation of Business Intelligence solution, IT system that transforms transactional data into managerial information understandable, useful and reliable for analysts and managers, becomes justified.

Analytical and forecast preparation aiding applications as well as data mining are the elements of such solution. Business Intelligence becomes an essential tool in insurance company management, which allows diagnosing current and predicting future states.

According to Gartner Group (Gartner Group report, September 1996): "BI solution can be defined as a system that provides technology and set of products allowing access to information necessary to perform business activities and undertake strategic business decisions."

Alexander Miler from Oracle states that [4]: "Business Intelligence is a collection of technology for gathering, storing, sharing and analyzing of information about the enterprise."

According to Andrzej Kicinger from SAS Institute Polska [4]: "Business Intelligence is an integrated corporate informational architecture with interfaces dedicated to different user groups, which allows quick and easy access to credible information in the decision making process".



Figure 2. Data sources for Business Intelligence System (self study)

# 3. Definition of Business Intelligence System

Business Intelligence solutions are usually understood as dedicated analytic and reporting software with a graphical user interface, which processes and visualizes information required for managerial decision making processes.

In reality the functioning of managerial information system is based on a structured transformation sequence of data gathered by the enterprise (Fig. 1).

Data provided to the BI system consists of operational data from many different sources, such as: internal resources and customers, resources gathered or purchased from external companies or Internet. This data can be structured or non-structured, stored in many different formats and originate from various applications and transactional systems. Business Intelligence solutions, as an integration element, allow the access to different dispersed data from sources of different structure and format (Fig. 2).

Moreover, BI systems allow the data analysis based on classification, forecasting and simulation methods, what allows gathering new and useful business information. BI systems are especially useful in the following types of analysis:

- financial researching the income and expenses cost, income statement, profit and loss account with classification of expenses by function, balance and break-even analysis, financial markets analysis and extended controlling system,
- marketing sales income analysis, sales and margin profitability, sales plan realization, lead time, competition activities analysis, stock prices,
- customers customer maintaining period, customer profitability, customer relation and activity modelling, customer satisfaction analysis,
- production management identification of production bottle-necks, order delays, production dynamics study, comparison of production results between departments, plants etc.,
- logistics quick identification of value chain creation partners,
- salary financial data specification of salaries according to function, form the company structure perspective, salary specification according to the type of employment, salary surcharges, average salary analysis,
- personal data employment fluctuation study, employment possibilities according to the division proposed by the Central Statistical Office, employee personal data access.



Figure 3. Role of Business Intelligence System in the process of management (source: [1], pp. 13)

Analysis results are shared with a variety of tools such as: reporting and analytical systems, informational portals and IT knowledge bases.

Knowledge is the basis for specific managerial decisions. Implementation of taken decisions into business practice assures effective enterprise management and the possibility of gaining competitive advantage in the market.

BI systems are used for gathering, storing and sharing of data as well as information management with the use of various analytical tools. BI systems aim at improvment of information management processes in the strategic, tactical and operational areas (Fig. 3, [10]):

- strategic level allow precise target setting and tracking of the realization; allow to elaborate different comparison specifications e.g. historical data, profitability of offers, effectiveness of distribution channels etc. as well as performing of development simulations, prediction of future results with set assumptions,
- tactical level bring basis for decision making in the scope of marketing, sales, finance and capital management; allow to optimize future activities and properly modify organizational, financial and technological aspects of enterprises functioning,

to allow more efficient realization of set strategic targets,

 operational level – used for ad hoc analysis, tend to answer questions connected with current operations of departments, current financial situation, sales, supplier, wholesaler, customer cooperation etc.

Summing up, enterprises use BI systems to aid corporate management, customer relationship optimization, business activities supervision, reporting, planning and decision making aiding. Main strengths of Business Intelligence solutions are:

- shortening of analysis and decision making time,
- simplifying of temporary, collective and other report elaboration with detailed and aggregated data,
- complex reporting systems,
- short response time for user inquiry,
- consolidation, allocation and drilling of data,
- moving the point of balance from data introduction to analysis, exploration of tacit data and detailed interpretation,
- relatively easy localization of significant states in the company e.g. according to cost, delivery on time, customer service etc.,
- providing actual and forecasted data,
- quick and easy system exploration,
- possibility to develop the model and the continuous influence of the user on the system modelling process,
- diversification of data sources.

Problems that can limit BI system implementation are as follows:

- high user training cost,
- requirement of considerable knowledge about analysis techniques (systems generate large amounts of data, therefore the user can have problems with proper interpretation of the data),
- relatively costly and time-consuming implementation,
- high software and hardware requirements,
- vulnerability of the system to poor quality and inconsistency of data, high cost of system administration and development.

Many of these problems can be solved with the proper preparation of BI system implementation – through support of proper implementation methodology and the creation of system, which is essential for and properly used by the company. The following chapter presents the most important areas of the application of managerial information system in insurance companies.

# 4. BI applications for insurance business

Maintenance of the market position requires from the insurance companies a constant analysis of needs and requirements of the customers as well as adjustment of all business processes in a value chain (Fig. 4) in a way to assure its effective fulfillment.

INSURANCE CO	CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT				
HUMAN RESOUT					
FINANCE MANA		$\rangle$			
DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL MANAGEMENT	ACTURAY	POLICY AND RISK MANAGEMENT	LOSS LIQUIDATION		

Figure 4. Value chain in an insurance company (source: [14], pp. 19)

In order to fulfill these assumptions, insurance companies need to be able to process considerable amount of data (about customers, agents, compensations and policies) into useful business information, which allows proper decision making processes. Business Intelligence tools can greatly improve the goal achievement in different parts of the value chain.

#### 4.1 BI for Customer Relationship Management

Three steps can be distinguished in the insurance company CRM process [13]:

- identification of the most profitable current customers and the ones that will be profitable in the future,
- identification and understanding of customers selected in the previous step and the analysis of their needs,
- cooperation with identified customers in order to fulfil their expectations.

Business Intelligence in particular stages of CRM process is presented in the Fig. 5. It starts with the identification of the most profitable customers in order to improve the quality of cooperation with them. Customer identification includes the determination of customer's profitability and his lifetime value (Fig. 5).

Profitability analysis should provide answer for the following question: why some customers are profitable and other are not? Customer profitability analysis helps to develop new products and adjust the products to the current customer needs and to proper customer segments. Customer lifetime value is an extremely useful measure. For example, data mining tools are used to model customer lifetime value, registering all the factors connected with customer value in the process of all his contacts with the insurance company. Understanding of the needs of customers selected in the previous stage is based on a multidimensional analysis that includes: segmentation, switching cost and similarity analysis. Segmentation is used to determine customer segments with common characteristics. Such established segments can be treated as separate units and the future cooperation can be adjusted directly to their needs.

Customer segmentation allows preparing offers dedicated to certain groups of customers, what decreases marketing cost and considerably increases its effectiveness. Customers are grouped according to the set of characteristics: personal, demographic, psychological, service cost and profitability of the cooperation. Usually the purchase of an insurance product is a decision with a long time horizon for the customer and if he decides to change the insurance provider, it is highly unlikely that he will come back to the old provider. Therefore maintaining of customers should be the top priority.

Customer resignation causes analysis is the first step to reach the high maintenance of the customers. It requires the analysis of data gathered during the customer contact in different stages of the cooperation.

Customer contact data is connected with other data sources in order to complete the customer resignation analysis.

Created data collections are linked with particular customers and they allow identifying and understanding the causes of their made decisions.

Analysis results can be also helpful in the improvement of particular customer contact stages. Similarities analysis, also known as market-basket analysis, is based on the search of products that present a certain degree of



Figure 5. Business Intelligence in CRM (source:[13], pp. 20)

similarity. This similarity causes that it is likely for these products to be purchased together. Similar analysis can be performed in relation to customers and their common behavior in the contacts with the insurance company.

Business Intelligence tools, precisely reflecting the activities consumed in the process of customer service can provide useful guidelines in the scope of adjustment of services processes to the needs and requirements of customers. Identification and knowledge of the customer leads to better communication, which is also supported by the analysis connected with the cooperation stage: direct marketing, marketing campaign analysis and cross-selling.

Direct marketing is aimed at a particular customer group – the natural consequence of performed customer segmentation. When customer segments are distinguished, Business Intelligence tools are used to research the products that will be most likely purchased by particular segments. Marketing campaigns directed at particular customer segments are designed on the basis of such information. Marketing campaign analysis is used to analyze the effectiveness of performed marketing and promotional campaigns. Effects of particular campaigns in the scope of the sales of promoted products can be tracked with the use of Business Intelligence tools.

Usually increase in sales of promoted products can cause drop in sales for similar products. Business Intelligence tools also support the identification of such relations. Cross selling is one of the main income sources for the insurance business. Insurance provider needs to highlight this data, which can lead to quick and costeffective reaching of customers, who probably expect it, with new products. Due to this fact new products can be offered to potential customers during following contact.

### 4.2 BI for distribution channels management

Traditional distribution channels for the insurance companies are [14]: independent insurance agents, brokers, direct sales agencies and Internet. Business Intelligence tools allow the insurers to gather information from the scope of:

- placement of agents and sales agencies,
- agent network and CRM development,
- distribution channel analysis,
- e-business development.

Placement of agents and sales agencies is based on the geographical analysis of the customer base and depends on the optimal placement of proper agent number and sales agencies in particular localizations. The analysis should include the information about potential customers for new and existing products offered by the insurer.

Agent network and CRM development can also be supported with BI tools. Sales data is analyzed according to the history of activities and sales results of agents and salesmen. Such analysis allows identifying the best agents and salesmen, what helps to prepare the salary strategy. Analysis can be extended with additional aspects of behavior and activities of the sales personnel, what can be used in designing of training programs for agents or salesmen.

Distribution channel analysis concerns the evaluation of activities of particular sales channels. Insurers can compare the results of activities in different channels and perform analysis with different level of detail – to the level of a single agent or product, with the use of Business Intelligence tools. Activities results could be continuously tracked in order to allow the insurer to make right decisions that improve the effectiveness of particular distribution channels.

Special attention should be paid to the evaluation of profitability of particular distribution channels in relation to products sold through and customers gained and serviced through these channels in the process of distribution channel effectiveness evaluation. Servicing cost analysis of particular customer segments in distribution channels and the product sharing cost analysis are the basis for the profitability evaluation and profitability improvement.

Different analysis concerning products and services can be performed on the basis of the data gathered via the Internet. It facilitates the design process of marketing campaigns aimed at the customers purchasing through the Internet, which contribute to the development of e-business. Web log files are another source of useful data that can improve the online operation services. Web log files analysis includes [14]:

- path analysis analysis of a typical click-stream of the user during website browsing as well as analysis of the most popular pages. Such types of analysis help to optimize the website and its better adjustment to the needs and expectations of the customer,
- link analysis determines the websites that generate

movement on insurers site through links and references,

- error analysis reveals the errors encountered by the user in website browsing. It is especially useful in problem solving and increase of the website's quality,
- keyword analysis analysis of the most popular keywords used in internet browsers that lead to the website of the insurer.

Listed examples indicate that it is another area of the insurance company management, which is strongly supported by Business Intelligence solutions.

# 4.3 BI for actuary analysis

Actuary function is crucial in the functioning of an insurance company [14]. It concerns risk approximation in relation to the insured property. In case of health and life insurances it concerns the calculation of accident or death probability, basing on various demographic and environmental characteristics. Activities of actuary departments are very complex and have strategic meaning for the insurance company. Actuary uses complex mathematical models, which are used to calculate future insurance premiums and allocation of their part for reinsurance. Business Intelligence tools can also be used in this area [14]:

- risk modelling,
- reinsurance,
- profitability analysis.

Risk modelling, with the use of data mining tools, is based on building of models that identify the insurance risk profiles in different customer segments. These models include risk measures such as average value of the damage, frequency of damage occurrence, loss ratio. Various risk measures can be calculated for a customer segment and afterwards, they should be used for the calculation of a proper insurance premium.

Reinsurance institution takes on itself part of the insurer risk and in return gets part of the insurance premium paid by the customer. In case of damage the reinsurance institution pays out a suitable compensation. Actuary determines proper value of reinsurance, which maximizes the profit with an acceptable level of risk of the insurance company. Data mining tools allow building approximation models, which help to establish the reinsurance level based on the data from paid insurance compensations. Such models identify these policies, which should be assigned for reinsurance, on the basis of experience with similar losses in previous years.

Profitability of existing products can be tracked in relation to various factors such as: product lines, geographical regions, agencies, customer segments, distribution channels etc. It is usually the first step in the prediction of the product life-cycle of new products.

Actuaries build more complex data mining models, which approximate the demand on new products and identify most profitable customer segments for the products, are based on historical profitability analyses. Profitability of insurance products can be determined on the basis of detailed product cost data (cost of activities and resources consumed in processes of elaboration, sales, administration and liquidation of insurance products). Managerial information systems, equipped with dedicated cost models based on activity cost calculation, are the basis for such analysis.

# 4.4 BI for risk evaluation and policy management

Risk evaluating teams decide whether the risk taken in the process of insuring a customer is acceptable for the company and determine the proper value of insurance premium that will be collected. Business Intelligence tools are supporting such types of analysis [14], taking into consideration such actors as: damageability of the policy, incurred losses and other data that is relevant in case of risk evaluation and policy management. Premium and losses analysis can also be used in such cases, including the support of BI tools.

Insurance premium analysis allows tracking the effectiveness of the premium level in relation to [14]:

- particular products or product lines,
- geographical regions,
- agencies, particular agents of company branches.

Results of such analysis are helpful in the determination of optimal premium value, what can influence the attractiveness of offered insurance products and the competitive position of the company in the market.

Loss analysis is especially helpful for these products or product lines, which have the insurance premium fee lower than the servicing cost. Such kind of loss can be a result of a rough estimation of the preliminary risk or higher than expected cost of servicing and administration of products. Therefore the need of the insurer for constant loss data monitoring is necessary and ob-
vious in order set the cost of recruiting new regaining old customers for products and product lines that are bringing losses. Such kinds of analysis are especially useful in the improvement of profitability level, risk evaluation improvement programs and financial resources protection.

#### 4.5 BI for insurance claims settlement

Quick and efficient dealing with losses creates a basis for good customer relationship management [13, 15]. At the same time the insurer needs to deal with the increasing number of insurance frauds. Insurance frauds are currently very common and most of additional costs for the insurers come from such activities what is, unfortunately, transferred to the customers in the form of increased insurance premium. This draws to a conclusion that quick payoff of compensations contributes to the increase of fraud related cost and the slowly fraud recognition process results in the increased number of such activities leading to increase of insurance premium and decrease of customer satisfaction.

Therefore proper and safe loss liquidation is extremely important for the insurance company. Experience of different institutions show that efficient and long term decrease of fraud and beguilement number is not possible without analytical tools. Business Intelligence analyzes, which can support the activities in the scope of loss liquidation, are [15]:

- loss and compensation analysis,
- fraud detection,
- loss and compensation approximation.

Loss and compensation analysis is one of the basic types of analysis in the scope of BI solutions for insurance companies. They concern the data analysis from the scope of compensations, connected with other data sources, such as policies and risk evaluation. In the first place they are used for the evaluation of loss liquidation process efficiency, which is directly linked to customer satisfaction. Loss and compensation analysis is also helpful in the observation of new trends, which otherwise would be difficult to spot. For example the observation of loss liquidation and sustaining losses trends allows easier optimizing of resources management with simultaneous risk level decrease and increase in resources designated for investments.

Loss and compensation analysis facilitates fraud detection due to detailed analysis of money pay outs according to different factors such as: localization, insurance agent, customer, insurance type.

**Fraud detection** during loss liquidation can be detected through multilevel analysis of compensation data connected with other internal and external data such as: payment history or risk evaluation. Data mining tools used for the construction of models, which detect fraud and beguilement patterns, are extremely helpful.

Loss and compensation estimation is relatively difficult due to the fact that the real value of losses is unknown before the introduction of new products into the market. In such cases the estimated value must be saved in the form of cash reserves and such funds cannot be used in the process of long-term investments. Therefore the precision of such estimations has a major influence on the profitability of the insurance institution. Multidimensional OLAP analysis can be used for the compensation data analysis according to customer segments or geographical factors in order to estimate future compensations more accurately. In order to reach a better accuracy of such analysis, one can use data mining tools and their advanced compensation estimation models.

## 4.6 BI for finance management

Financial resources eared from investments used to be the main source of income for insurers in the past and they generally determined the profitability of the insurance company [15]. At the same time the risk evaluation cost was decreasing the profitability of the company. Therefore insurers need to increase the return of investment and decrease the risk evaluation cost and preparation of policies. This requires a direct access to financial data in order to perform the analysis. Many institutions try to improve the financial reporting and decision making, through interfering into financial data in the Financial Data Warehouse (FDW).

Budgeting is an example of another process, which can be supported with the Business Intelligence system. Data warehouses allow performance of analyses that compare cost recorded in the budget to actual cost of promotional campaigns, risk evaluation expenses, provisions etc. Equipping data warehouses with BI tools, based on well-established cost analysis methods (ABC/M) and sharing the analytical models, allow deepening of the OLAP analyzes what allows analyzing cost increase causes in many different aspects. Moreover the analysis results can be used in budget determination processes for following financial periods. Budgeting based on demand and activities and resources usage effectiveness indicators became possible due to the ABC/M models implemented in the BI solutions. This element is crucial in the improvement process of planning and budgeting quality. Budgeting of various analysis based on the cost models (ABC/M) is useful in control improvement and betted cost allocation.

Property management can be also supported by the managerial information systems. Models based on BI tools can be built in order to measure the level of exposure to risk of the insurer to various risk factors such as: share structure change, instability of stock market etc.

Designed models help to predict the effectiveness of the portfolio in different established economical scenarios as well as the future need of the insurer for working capital.

Financial indicator analysis such as: debt and liquidity indicators can be performed for particular time periods. Ability to provide detail and enclose various related report and analyses, provided mainly by OLAP multifactor analysis, allow simplifying the analysis and making it more intuitive.

Profitability analysis – individual products, product lines, customers and their segments, distribution channels and investment activities are also supported by BI solutions. The main factor of profitability analysis is the direct and throughout analysis of cost taken in customer gaining activities, risk evaluation and policies preparation, which are the main factor of insurance institution overall cost reduction. Activity cost analysis is the basis for cost calculation of those and other processes in the insurance company.

## 4.7 BI for human resources management

Business Intelligence solutions are especially helpful in human relations management strategy in the overall strategy of the enterprise [15]. They present the integrated picture of the employment and facilitate the employee maintaining schemes, productivity increase and cost reduction. BI application usage in HR departments includes mostly [15]:

- human resources applications and reports,
- workforce allocation analyzes,
- introduction of HR portal,

• training and career path planning.

Reports and analyzes concerning human resources support the integrated data revision concerning employment. Various analyzes can concern migration and staff accomplishments, employee resignation, employee accomplishments and other adjusted to the needs of analysis and reporting. Human resources data can be connected with set employment criteria noted in the insurance business, what allow generating various reports that reveal the employment data in comparison with data from the whole industry.

Analyses that present workforce allocation are based on the introduction of new products into the market. People employed in the sales departments, according to the growing demand, can be allocated in various regions, which have the demand higher and it is likely to grow in the future.

Training and career path planning can also be supported with BI solutions. Detailed data on the competence level of the staff can be stored in a data warehouse. It is useful in competence improvement plan design and effective career path planning for particular employees.

#### 4.8 BI for insurance company management

High management of insurance company has specific requirements towards Business Intelligence [15]. Usually the information management department is responsible for provision of all necessary reports. The department is also responsible for provision of different reports required by various agencies and preparation of information necessary inside and outside of the organization, designated for customers in the form of analyses and reports. Business Intelligence environment is aimed at collection of data from all elements of the value chain, what seems to be the most efficient and reasonable solution for the department.

Reports prepared for the top-management have direct influence on the efficiency and effectiveness of the corporate management. Effectiveness measures such as product or product line profitability as well as customers and distribution channels, total cost of main processes and activities, ROI for investment portfolio etc. can be presented in the reports designated for topmanagement, which supports the decision making processes. Moreover mentioned reports provide signals about reaching of alarming level of particular effectiveness measures what triggers performance of corrective actions. The reports are also the basis for external expert and researchers reports.

Insurers are required to provide a number of reports to external agencies, government institutions and branch consortiums. Reports required by law can also be easily generated with Business Intelligence tools.

Customer information system is also one of the elements of managerial information system. Historical compensation data can be essential for the institutional customers, which are offered the employee insurance in case of accidents. Such data might help the customer to identify main trends in accidents and damages in order to start corrective actions to limit such events. Customer information system not only reduces cost connected with damage liquidation, but also significantly improves the preservation of customer-insurer relations.

### 5. Methodology of building BI System

There are three necessary conditions for successful managerial information system implementation:

- experience and knowledge of the designing and implementation team,
- intensive cooperation between designers and users in the whole design and implementation period,
- use of proper implementation methodology, which includes the process break down into smaller projects.

According to [8] the managerial information system design methodology should consist of six stages divided into particular steps (Fig. 6).

## **Stage 1 – Justification**

#### Step 1 – Business case assessment

Managerial information system is an extremely complex project, which needs to be carefully prepared and managed. Business Intelligence is not only an IT tool, but also a collection of techniques, business solutions and a number of processes, which should be properly implemented. It is connected with organizational changes, management system and serious IT system structure and architecture changes. This leads to high financial resources consumption and, similar to other major IT implementations, huge investment risk. Therefore a detailed goal definition and indication of measurable and immeasurable profits of such implementation is necessary.

Questions that need to be asked and issues that need to be solved at this stage are [8]:

- information access:
  - what is the origin of information necessary for decision making?
  - what information is accessible and what information is missing?
  - what is the quality and is the information up-todate?
- business and finical project aims:
  - what are the business aims for the managerial information system realization? are there Business Intelligence applications functioning in the company and can they help in the realization of established business aims?
  - what financial resources are designated for this endeavour?
- who is responsible for financing of Business Intelligence projects in the company?
- evaluation of the company readiness for the Business Intelligence system implementation:
  - is the company ready for Business Intelligence implementation?
  - was the readiness evaluation performed and what results did it provide?
  - what is missing for the better implementation preparation: purchasing hardware and software, standard implementation or maybe hire new employees?
- risk evaluation:
  - what is the risk connected with the construction of managerial information system?
  - what negative impact will be brought by the cancelling of managerial information system implementation?
- cost evaluation:
  - are the predicted profits exceeding the estimated costs of the project?
  - o is the total cost of BI implementation known?
  - o does the new hardware need to be purchased?
  - does the computer network need to be modernized?
  - o are any new software tools necessary?
  - o is a Business Intelligence advisor necessary?



Figure 6. Methodology of building Business Intelligence System (source: [8], pp. 27)

- return of investment calculation of the ROI indicator on the basis of:
  - influence of the implemented system on customer service department performance,
  - influence of the implemented system on customer satisfaction,
  - influence of the implemented system on increase of company's profits,
  - influence of the implemented system on strategic decisions effectiveness,
  - influence of the implemented system on cost reduction,
  - influence of the implemented system on market share increase.

The list above should be treated as an analysis plan, which needs to be performed in the company before the final decision about the implementation of the managerial information system in the company is made. Broad scope of questions allows to determine the **readiness** of the company for the implementation and the possibility of the realization of such investment.

### Stage 2 – Planning

#### Step 2 – Infrastructure design

Whole infrastructure of the enterprise needs to be adjusted to the realization of the project, because managerial information system includes the whole organization. Some of the infrastructure elements remain intact but some of the elements need to be adjusted to the project specification. Infrastructure includes two types of components:

- technical infrastructure: hardware, software, network cables, peripherals, database systems, operational systems, network components, metadata repository, user applications etc.,
- non-technical infrastructure: metadata standards, data mining standards, logical database model, methods, textbooks, testing procedures, change control procedures, change management procedures etc.

#### Step 3 – System design

It is crucial that the project is dynamic and adjusted to the organizational, personal, budget, technological, production with sales and cooperation possibilities of the company. The design needs to be detailed, complete and updates in relation to current changes that emerge in the enterprise.

#### Stage 3 – Business Analysis

#### Step 4 – Business requirements analysis

Adjustment of the project, on one hand to the needs and on the other to the organizational and financial possibilities of the company, is one of the most difficult steps in the implementation of managerial information system. It is difficult to limit the natural strive of the user to creation of the system, which would include all necessary information at once and on the other hand, what results from previous experience, such complex implementation are usually unsuccessful.

It is important to divide the managerial information system implementation project into smaller stages, which will service particular subject areas and simultaneously each successive stage of implementation will become a scientific element for both designers and system users.

## Step 5 – Source data analysis

Quality of source data is a major challenge for every managerial information system implementation project. Poor quality of data, difficulties with data integration, problems with access to source databases – all of it contributes to the extension of time scheduled for the design stage and usually means the increase of project cost. Some data, which supply the managerial information system decide about its effectiveness and usefulness for the user, therefore proper amount of time and attention needs to be put into this stage by the design and implementation team.

#### Step 6 – Application prototype

Analytical system, which will function as a part of the project, can be successfully constructed with the method of prototyping, because it is a combination of applications and IT tools. The prototype allows better communication for designers and users as well as speed up to determine the final form and functionality of the analytical system.

#### Step 7 – Metadata repository analysis

Increase of the umber of IT tools used in the system means the increase of technical data amount in relation to business metadata, which is supported with these tools. Technical metadata need to be mapped on business metadata and next transferred into metadata repository. All metadata, which is introduced and stored in the repository, needs to be documented in logical metadata model. Additionally all metadata requirements need to be accessible to the user through online help function.

#### Stage 4 – Design

#### Step 8 – Database design

Source bases for the managerial information system can have various structures, not include multidimensional character and not be adjusted to real informational needs of the system users. Database structure design of the warehouse must include present source data resources, organize it in a manner that fulfills the informational needs of all analytical and reporting modules of the designed system.

#### Step 9 – ETL process design

Extract-Transform-Load process, also known as data integration process, is the most difficult element of the whole project. It also decides about the success of implementation and business usefulness of the whole project. The following elements influence the complexity level of the process:

- number and quality of data sources supplying the system base,
- source data access,
- informational scope included in the designed system,
- number and complexity degree of prepared reports,
- requirements of system users (number and complexity degree of "ad-hoc" report).

Properly designed and realized ETL process can reveal the previously unknown informational power of the data gathered by the enterprise.

## Step 10 - Metadata repository design

If one decides to purchase a ready product the metadata repository design includes only the consideration of these logical features of the model, which are necessary for the realization of designed system, and were not included by the license provider.

In case of dedicated metadata repository, the design must meet the requirements of the logical meta-model, which is based on the relational structure or the object structure.

## **Stage 5 – Construction**

#### Step 11 - ETL process construction

Many tools available in the market are designed to implement the ETL process. According to the degree of complexity of the cleanup and transformation of data (see Step 5) and the data analysis (see Step 9) different tools can be more or less useful in particular cases. Realization complexity of mentioned processes and determination of specific requirements is necessary in order to select a proper ETL solution.

## Step 12 - Application construction

Whenever the application prototype, created in Step 6, fulfills functional system requirements, it is possible to start the work on the development of access and analysis environment development. Constructed application can be only a simple transformation of the prototype into a fully functional system or a much more complex new project based on different IT tools. However in both cases this stage runs simultaneously to the ETL process implementation.

## Step 13 - Data mining

Many enterprises, which use the managerial information system, do not fully use the possibilities of their analytical environment and limits the use only to the collection of redefined reports that are most frequently used by the users. Meanwhile the true power of the system and maximal return on investment lies in the hidden data of the enterprise. These are not visible in the standard report group but are possible to gather if one uses such methods of multidimensional analysis like data mining. It is connected with the need to purchase and application of tools dedicated to mining analyses.

## Step 14 - Metadata repository construction

If the metadata repository is created for the system, instead of purchase of a ready product, separate taskforce team needs to be established. It is justified, because the repository development project is usually a broad subproject, which needs to consider: strategic goals, development strategy, business and market conditionings, predicted competition activities and many other aspects of enterprise development, which trigger the development of managerial information system, thus developing the metadata repository.

## **Stage 6 – Deployment**

## Step 15 - Testing

When the managerial information system application tests are finished it is necessary to start intensive training for all the people involved, which will use the application or metadata system. Trainings include:

- user application servicing,
- maintenance and development of the database,
- scheduling and ETL process start-up,
- database scaling planning and control.

## Step 16 - Implementation evaluation

It is crucial to draw conclusions and use the experience gathered in previous stages of its application, in the following stages of the system realization. If a considerable infringement of the budget or the project realization deadline took place, the root-cause should be closely researched so that such mistakes can be avoided in the following stages. Any kind of tools, methods and practices, which were not useful or disturbed the proper realization of the project, should be eliminated before the start of next implementations.

Many stages of the implementation can be performed in parallel, which allows shortening the entire time necessary for the realization of the project. Project realization time is also decreased due to the increasing experience of the design and implementation team. Success and effectiveness of future implementations can be built upon such bases.

Summing up three necessary conditions of successful managerial information system implementation can be listed:

- experience and knowledge of the design and implementation team,
- intensive cooperation of designers and users during the whole period of design and implementation of the project,
- division of the project into smaller subprojects.

Apart from that the managerial information system design needs to be developed during the whole period of its exploitation and in order to successfully support the enterprise management process it should:

- include the information life cycle: gathering, storing, cleanup, integration and analysis,
- use not only the information management technology, but also the information management policy,
- maintain the high quality of data, safe access to data and clear responsibility rules.

6. Examples of implementations BI in the insurance industry

# AIG PTE – example taken from the experience of the IBM Global Services [2]

AIG Universal Retirement Association (AIG PTE) is a part of the American International Group Incorporation (AIG) capital group. The customers of the AIG PTE are the members of the AIG Open Retirement Fund (AIG OFE) managed by AIG PTE. AIG OFE is obligated by law to provide a number of reports to the Polish Financial Supervision Authority. Apart from that AIG PTE, similar to other commercial endeavors. needs to perform a number of analyses and research of different parameters of managed business. Additionally the fund wants to create current reports about the usage of its electronic access channels (IVR, Internet). Obviously the realized similar analyses and reports in these three areas but even within one area it was using different IT tools. It required an IT system that would allow:

- realization of current reporting and analytical functions in a consistent and efficient manner,
- distribution of reports and analyses results in the intranet,
- performing of analyses to the employees with no IT experience (knowledge of SQL or RPG programming languages) in different departments of the company,
- maximal usage of previous experience and software protection of AIG PTE IT investigation.

AIG Universal Retirement Association decided to entrust the data warehouse and Business Intelligence system implementation to IBM Polska. AIG PTE indicated the business areas, which require the creation of reports and analyses. AIG PTE employees closely cooperated with the implementation team, providing necessary information on AIG PTE data sources. The result of this cooperation three layer system architecture was created:

- data sources: iSeries data server, Lotus format files and data in other formats of relational databases,
- repository layer realized at the iSeries server (SQL Views) and DB2 UDB database version 7.1 (on dual-core xSeries server),
- analytical layer, allowing the performance of multidimensional analyses, realized with the Business Objects software.

IBM Data Warehouse Center was used to manage the process of data flow between the layers of the system as well as metadata management (stored in DB2 UDB database). Creation of most aggregates as well as the loading of, so called, dimensions is performed through a repository. Data loading between layers is performed offline. Analysts use the online system while working in data storages prepared with Business Objects software.

Created system corresponds with the technical requirements of AIG PTE and the whole implementation fulfilled the basic success criteria. It is important that in the creation of the efficient and stable system technologies, known and admired by AIG PTE (IBM iSeries, DB2), were used to full extent. BI system at AIG PTE is the example an optimal use of four technologies to create an efficient and scaled reporting and analysis system. It is a successful combination of the following technologies: IBM DB2 for OS/400, IBM DB2 UDB at xSeries and IBM DataWarehouse Center with Business Objects package.

# Allianz Austria – example from the experience of SAS Institute [12]

Allianz Elementar Versicherungs AG (Allianz Austria) provides a wide variety of insurance products that includes life, health, cars and property insurance. The enterprise hires 3000 employees that include direct sales personnel, agents and brokers. Private and enterprise customers are serviced through sales agents spread across the country. Allianz Austria, similarly as many other insurance companies, needs to fight to maintain customers in an extremely competitive market. Currently customer maintenance and profit protection is the highest priority for the company. SAS software provides Allianz Elementar with tools for gathering of knowledge about customers, supports sales activities and protects profits.

Allianz Austria has been using the SAS software, for the business activities support – especially in launching new products to the market and customer relationship management, for ten years. SAS software is used in analysis and reporting. Using the SAS Enterprise Miner program for the customer segmentation, basket analysis or prediction of customer behavior and preferences is very useful.

Profit Protection Program (PPP) was elaborated in 2003. It focused on the customer recognition and analysis, which are bringing high profit but are likely to change the insurance company (e.g. due to the expiration of the policy). Program assumed investments in such customers in order to keep them in the company so they could provide further profit. SAS Institute became a strategic partner in the realization of the program.

First stage included construction of data warehouse, which gathered and shared the following customer data:

- demographical age, sex, customer contract data,
- insurance name and type of the insurance product, value of the insurance premium, insurance period, history of paid premiums,
- trade distribution channel of the insurance products purchase.

PPP program focused on short-term products and individual customers. First research was based on a 10% of selected customers. Customers, who provide the highest profit and are most likely to change the insurer (due to the expiration of current policy), were selected from the group. The project managed to lower the average quitting pace by 25%. Profit increase of 2% was observed during six months of the research (generated by the observed group of customers).

The possibility of more precise prediction of growth and formulation of profit, which transforms into better enterprise planning, was also of high importance. Due to the high effectiveness of the PPP program, the researched customer group was extended in 2004. Customer Service Department was provided with a list of customers, which were to be treated in a preferred way. Therefore a tool that allows a better control over customer rotation and company's profit was created. Two SAS Institute tools were used for the analysis and reporting: SAS Enterprise Miner and SAS Enterprise Guide.

## AXA Insurance - example from the experience of InspireTech Sp. z o.o. [4]

InspireTech Sp. z o.o. together with ABC Data Educational Centre created and implemented a unique Business Intelligence system in Avanssur S.A. - AXA Insurance.

AXA is one of the biggest insurance groups in the world. AXA brand appeared in the Polish market in 2006 and through the acquisition of Winterthur Group it emerged also in Polish insurance and retirement fund market. AXA Group performs its insurance activities in Poland through the following companies:

- AXA Insurance (Avanssur S.A. Polish Division) offers the full scope of communication insurance,
- AXA Universal Retirement Association,
- AXA Open Retirement Fund active in Poland since 1998 as a II pillar of Polish retirement system managed by AXA Universal Retirement Association,
- AXA Life Insurance Association active in Poland since 1994. Leader in Polish insurance market. Providing modern solutions to individual and corporate customers in the scope of: life insurance, protective and health insurance and insurance with capital funds gathering financial resources for future retirement,
- AXA Insurance Company active in Poland since 1995 in the scope of personal and property insurance.

Dedicated solution for Avanssur S.A. was based on two pillars:

- data warehouse,
- reporting system.

Project was based on the Microsoft Solutions Framework methodology. Microsoft Solutions Framework is a technical project approach based on a defined set of rules, models, disciplines, ideas, guidelines and best practices of the Microsoft Corporation. MSF methodology includes:

- foundational principles main rules that are the basis for the whole structure; includes standard common for all MSF structures,
- models schematic descriptions of team model and process model project organization,
- disciplines practical application of specific sets of methods, terms and approaches (e.g. project management, risk management, readiness management),
- key concepts ideas that support the MSF principles and disciplines and are introduced on the basis of proven practices,

- proven practices practices, which turned out to be effective in real-life projects and in changing conditions,
- recommendations optional, but suggested practices and guidelines.

InspireTech Sp. z o.o. constructed data warehouse for Avanssur S.A. with the use of Microsoft SQL Server 2005 64-bit Edition platform and Microsoft Windows Server 2003 Enterprise Edition server platform.

One scaled information repository was created through the integration of heterogeneous data sources.

Second pillar for Avanssur S.A. was based on Reporting Services and extended with individual needs Avanssur S.A with the use of ASP.NET and C# on the Microsoft .NET 2.0 platform.

## Samsung Life Insurance - example from the experience of Sybase [11]

Samsung Life is the branch leader in South Korea. Company sells individual and group life insurance through a gigantic network of agencies and over 30 thousand salesmen.

Samsung Life Insurance was in need of an integrated view of its IT system – enterprise was using 10 data storages, which were usually non-compatible and extra data was placed in different locations. The company launched a data warehouse construction project in order to integrate current databases.

Main task was the elaboration of quick, reliable process, which would allow the field users a common data view as well as integration of ten independent collective databases. Samsung Life had three targets of the project:

- increase of the field-workers competences, allowing them to perform their own analyses,
- providing access to highly compatible data with a common viewer,
- shortening of report generation time.

Products from various providers were simultaneously tested, including: NCR, Oracle, IBM and Sybase. Sybase IQ, database designed for data warehouses, was awarded first place due to the speed of inquiry processing and compression ratio. Higher compression ratio results in more disk space and lower cost of mass memory, what in terms of few TB is of significant meaning. If the corporate database was built on the basis of other database type, perhaps a hard drive if 3 - 4 times greater capacity would be required.

With the use of Sybase IQ system the enterprise integrated 8 out of 10 different collective databases and created corporate data warehouse. The company limited the need for disk space and lowered the cost of mass memory due to Sybase IQ system functions — advanced data compression and unique row indexing mechanism.

Sybase solution assures quick data access and minimizes disk space required to record huge data collections. Moreover Samsung Life is prepared for the increase of the amount of data – high efficiency of Sybase IQ system – provides room for development.

Analytical responsibility in the scope of contract status, customer characteristics and people who prepare financial plans etc. was moved from the IT team to particular business teams, which allowed saving resources and increasing the general operational capacity. Field workers in need of greater amounts of data can gain easy access to the data warehouse in order to download current and reliable information from an accessible and usable environment. After the implementation the new system did not cause any business processes delays.

Main benefits reached through the project were:

- considerable increase of the operational capacity of the enterprise,
- easy access to strategic data,
- 25% reduction of disk space in comparison with other data warehouses.

#### 7. Summary

The main task of managerial information systems is the data analysis and provision of high quality information to all management levels. It is a common view that implementation of managerial information system is a success factor for enterprise activities. Demand for such solutions is constantly rising, what enforces easy access to precise and reliable information that support management processes. Another advantage of such solutions is the possibility of use for person in charge, due to its user-friendliness and easy access.

When observing Polish insurance market, one can observe that more insurance companies is using analytical tools and recording systems. Therefore not only ownership and gathering of processed data is important but also proper usage of such data becomes of great significance. Such usage of data is possible after the implementation of managerial information system and the data becomes valuable insurance information. Identification of the need of using an effective Business Intelligence environment, based on proper architecture, becomes crucial. Therefore it is the first step in the system implementation. Aim of enterprise activities should be the drive to integrated BI environment with the decision making process.

Efficient gathering of required information of all user groups is a significant stage in the creation process of integrated BI system. Ability of precise business targets, which are planned to reach through the use of Business Intelligence as well as full support of the high management for realized projects, is crucial. One of the primary targets of the implementation and Business Intelligence systems' development in insurance companies should be precise and detailed analysis of profitability and preparation of relevant project adjusted to the needs and requirements of the user.

### 8. References

- [1] Ballard Ch., Abdel-Hamid A. Improving Business Performance Insight with Business Intelligence and Business Process Management. International Business Machines Corporation RedBooks, New York 2006.
- [2] IBM System Business Intelligence w AIG PTE. Materialy referencyjne IBM Polska, http://www-05.ibm.com/pl/services/referencje/aigpte.html, 16-06-2009.
- [3] Inmon W. H., Strauss D., Neushloss G. *DW 2.0: The Architecture for the Next Generation of Data Warehousing*. Morgan Kaufmann, New York 2008.
- [4] InspireTech System Business Intelligence w AXA Ubezpieczenia. Materiały referencyjne firmy InspireTech. InspireTech Inc., Warszawa 2007.

- [5] Jaworska E. Wycisnąć z danych co się da [in] Manufacturing Systems Information Polska, Vol. 10, No. 08, 2005.
- [6] Kimball R., Ross M., Thornthwaite W., Mundy J., Becker B. - *The Data Warehouse Lifecycle Toolkit.* 2nd Edition. Wiley Publishing Inc. Indianapolis 2008.
- [7] Kwaśniak M. Towarzystwa ubezpieczeniowe sięgają po informatykę [in] Gazeta Prawna, Vol. 1427, No. 62, 2005.
- [8] Moss L. T., Atre S. Business Intelligence Roadmap: The Complete Project Lifecycle for Decision-Support Applications. Addison Wesley, Boston 2003.
- [9] Olszak C. Tworzenie i wykorzystywanie systemów Business Intelligence na potrzeby współczesnej organizacji. Wyd. AE Katowice, Katowice 2007.
- [10] Olszak C. *Wiedza biznesowa* [in] Business Intelligence Computerworld, No. 01, 2005.
- [11] Rabong T. Samsung Life Insurance. Materiały referencyjne firmy Sybase Polska. Sybase Inc., Warszawa 2007.
- [12] SAS Institute At Allianz Elementar, SAS<sup>®</sup> delivers improved customer knowledge, helps focus sales activity and protects profits. Materialy referencyjne firmy SAS Institute. SAS Institute Inc., Cary 2007.
- [13] Sobieszczyk T. Analiza rentowności w branży ubezpieczeniowej z wykorzystaniem narzędzi Business Intelligence part I [in] Controlling i Rachunkowość Zarządcza. No. 08, pp. 18-21, 2004.
- [14] Sobieszczyk T. Analiza rentowności w branży ubezpieczeniowej z wykorzystaniem narzędzi Business Intelligence part II [in] Controlling i Rachunkowość Zarządcza. No. 9, pp. 19-21, 2004.
- [15] Sobieszczyk T. Analiza rentowności w branży ubezpieczeniowej z wykorzystaniem narzędzi Business Intelligence part III [in] Controlling i Rachunkowość Zarządcza. No. 10, pp. 16-19, 2004.
- [16] Surma J. Business Intelligence. Systemy wspomagania decyzji biznesowych. PWN, Warszawa 2009.

Jarosław DOMAŃSKI,

Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland J.Domanski@wz.pw.edu.pl

*Abstract:* This article represents a initial observation on implementing a value management concept for nonprofit organizations. Introducing strategic management in non-profit companies is becoming inevitable in order to build up their competitiveness on the non-profit services market. In the first part of this article the key stakeholders of non-profit organizations are identified. The second part is an attempt to present the principal value drivers of non-profit organizations. The groups of key stakeholders that are the most important recipients of the value created by the individual drivers have been assigned to the principal value drivers.

Keywords: value, stakeholders, non-profit, strategic management, value drivers, value management.

#### 1. Introduction

In the last twenty years the number of non-profit organizations has increased enormously; the scope of their activities has broadened as well. Such organizations are involved in almost every aspect of human activity throughout the world. One no longer sees nonprofit organizations only engaged in marginal activities of dubious quality. They play an important role in almost every society, assisting in providing health care, in development of education and social well-being [39].

As Drucker [17] notes, forty years ago the very word "management" was treated as something inappropriate by non-profit organizations. It implied "business", with which such organizations had nothing in common. Bogacz-Wojtanowska [7] notes that often, according to many practitioners, the opinion that there is no need to manage non-profit organizations still lingers to the present day. She also writes, however, that when nonprofit organizations started to become one of the main socio-political forces in the world in the 1990s how they function and the challenges related to their effective management became highly relevant.

Managing the non-profit organization must and should lead to its *strategic*, *market and pro-ecological* orientation. This is an essential requirement for creating its future competitiveness on the non-profit services market. Competitiveness requires non-profit organizations to think strategically and engage in long-term planning, which lead to their opening up to the non-profit services market. They need to learn and create their own visions of the future, becoming in the process more intelligent organizations, serving their environment [44]. The strategy plays a special role in non-profit organization management – it allows for the transformation of actors' intentions, contained in mission plans, into real achievements [16].

In various definitions of management and strategic management, the key goal for the functioning of an enterprise is increasing its value. The value of a company is understood as the sum of benefits for its ownersstockholders or shareholders. All management efforts should therefore focus on maximizing the satisfaction of the owners of the enterprise. The majority of the largest organizations on the Fortune 500 list are managed through value. It is a widely accepted management concept, and one which means that clients return, also inspiring employees to work to their best every day, leaving owners proud and satisfied with their profits [6]. If the concept works so well among business organizations there is no reason why the third sector should not benefit from their positive experience.

The main aim of this article is to make a first step towards transferring the concept to third sector organizations. In adapting value management to the conditions of non-profit organizations one needs to consider the following very important elements: who are the key value stakeholders of the non-profit organizations and what are the key factors influencing the value of the non-profit organization?

The first part [of the article] identifies the key stakeholders of non-profit organizations. Brief literature research was made to identify stakeholders, both in the business sector, as well as among authors writing about the third sector. The second, and the most important part is an attempt to present the principal value drivers in non-profit organizations. Rappaport's (1999) approach to this issue is presented, as well as the approach of other, Polish, authors. Based on the literature research, the author of the article shows that the factors influencing value are undoubtedly to be found in the organization's resources, mostly among intangible assets. The groups of key stakeholders that are the most important recipients of the value created by individual drivers have been assigned to the principal value drivers. A brief presentation of each of the identified group of drivers focuses on their role in non-profit organizations. Identification of key value drivers is an important activity for each organization, including those from the 3<sup>rd</sup> sector. Determination of the key value drivers and then, acting from the need to increase their value, should contribute to increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of the activities of non-profit organizations.

### 2. Stakeholders of non-profit organizations

In the private sector activities aiming at increasing the value of individual enterprises are mostly oriented towards their owners, who are usually their stockholders as well. Stockholders, as people possessing part of the company's assets, are mainly interested in increasing its value, above all by raising its stock price. Only later other stakeholders, such as employees, suppliers, consumers, competitors and other organizations working in the company's environment, are taken into account.

Clarkson [13] describes stakeholders as persons or groups that have, or claim, ownership rights or interests in a corporation and its activities, past, present, or future. He also lists the following groups: employees, shareholders, customers, and others. Primary stakeholder groups are typically comprised of shareholders and investors, employees, customers and suppliers, together with what is defined as the public stakeholder group: the governments and communities that provide infrastructures and markets, whose laws and regulations must be obeyed and to whom taxes and other obligations may be due [13].

In relation to non-profit organizations, the recognized key stakeholders are: government, oversight agencies, private donors and foundations, clients, the media and the public at large [26]. This list may be amended with personnel, beneficiaries, volunteers and members, included by Harris, Mainelli and O'Callaghan [20]. The key to success for a non-profit organization is satisfying key stakeholders' interests, according to their criteria for measuring satisfaction. Key stakeholders are those whose satisfaction is crucial to the generation of sufficient support, legitimacy and the resources sufficient to ensure the organization's viability and effectiveness [10].

It is difficult to talk about owners in the case of nonprofit organizations, since despite possessing assets most often they do not issue shares. The organization itself is the owner of the assets, if it is a legal entity. The group of people who are <u>founder members</u> and <u>members</u> of particular organizations are in a sense similar to owners of private companies. Their motivation, however, is not to increase the value of the company, but the extent to which the goals of the organization are reached.

The <u>recipients</u> of the organization's activities form another group of stakeholders. In many cases the recipients are at the same time members of a given organization (e.g. in self-help organizations). However, when the organizations provide services externally the recipients are of course the "purchasers" of those services, or persons and institutions who benefit from the activity of a given non-profit organization. It is also difficult to assume that a change in the value of a donor is of any importance for the beneficiary.

However, the purchasers of services, for example of cultural institutions (sometimes also counted among non-profit organizations) are guests and the public. In this case the value will be of some importance, influencing the decision to visit one or another exhibition, or theatre etc. One should therefore assume that the importance of the value of a non-profit organization for the client will depend on the profile of the organization's activity.

Meanwhile, the value of the organization will undoubtedly be important for all people and institutions that are specific "<u>suppliers</u>" for non-governmental organizations. These include of course current and potential sponsors, donors, benefactors, both institutional and natural persons and local government units, central government bodies, etc. The value of the organization applying for support, as perceived by suppliers, certainly influences the decisions they make. They are much more willing to support institutions that enjoy a good reputation and act efficiently, in other words the ones that have high value and work to increase it.

<u>Employees</u> and <u>volunteers</u> are also extremely important stakeholders. Research shows that non-profit organizations are prone to staffing problems. At the root of the problems is difficulties attracting experienced employees, who are willing to work either without pay or for nominal pay. If we assume that the number of individuals willing to work on a voluntary basis in a given geographical area is limited we may find that the value of the organization is one of the criteria determining their choice of the organization to which they will devote their time.

One may note a strong affinity between donors and employees in making a decision. Both goals and the ways of achieving them are important for both groups.

The other institutions that may be recipients of nonprofit enterprise values include the mass media moulding public opinion and influencing it. For them the value of our organization is certainly very important, since their task is to inform public opinion elsewhere about the organization's value. This group includes also other third sector organizations - that may both compete and cooperate with each other in realization of the goals. Those institutions cooperating with particular organizations, which may be called "service providers", are an important part of this group of institutions. These include banks, courier companies, postal services, specialized agencies providing services for various types of charity events and others. These companies will tend not be concerned with the value of a non-profit organization since they treat links with the organization on purely business terms.

Identification of the key stakeholders is just the first step in the process of increasing the value of a nonprofit organization. The next step is to manage the relationship between the organization and its stakeholders. Managing relationships with primary stakeholders, however, can result in much more than just their continued participation in the firm [22]. Research conducted by Hillman and Keim [22] has proven the hypothesis that *stakeholder management is positively associated with shareholder value creation*. In relation to non-profit organizations, Ospina, Diaz and O'Sullivan [34] point to stakeholders and external relations management as a source of effectiveness.

Balser and McClusky [3] conducted research which suggests that in a community in which information among stakeholder groups is shared, dealing with stakeholders using a consistent rationale based on serving public trust is perceived as a part of effective nonprofit organization management. It is also important to consider which value drivers influence its value as perceived by a specific group of stakeholders.

#### 3. Key value drivers of a non-profit organization

Value drivers include each variable influencing the value of the organization. To make use of them it is necessary to group them in order to establish which ones are the strongest value drivers and to make individual employees responsible for the numbers.

The most important drivers are not constant and should be reviewed from time to time. (...) Determining the key value drivers may be difficult, since it requires adopting a new perspective in respect of the processes taking place in the organization. In many cases the reporting system of the enterprise is not able to provide the necessary information [14].

One should stress here that the value of the company is most commonly understood as the financial goal. To measure it, enterprise value methods, based mostly on discounted cashflows, are used. The value of the company is determined by future discounted cashflows, and increases only when the company makes wise capital investments, i.e. when the ROI is higher than the cost of capital [14].

It is similar with value drivers. Operational decisions, that is decisions shaping the structure of products, the level of prices, promotional actions, advertising, distribution and client service, translate in principle into three value drivers: the sales growth rate, operational profit margin and income tax rate. Investment decisions, for example regarding stock levels and any increase in production capability, are reflected in two value drivers: investment in working capital and fixed assets.

The cost of capital as a value driver depends not only on enterprise related risk, but also on financial decisions made by the management or on the problem of establishing the right proportions of indebtedness and own capital as sources of financing, as well as using the appropriate financial instruments. The last value driver, the value growth period, is the number of years estimated by the management when the return on investment rate will exceed capital costs [36].

The Polish authors mention numerous value drivers not of a strictly financial nature. Skoczylas [41], writing about the enterprise evaluation system in the value management environment, quotes a number of "strategic milestones", which she defines as non-monetary ratios, certain data exceeding the annual (budget) planning perspective that have to be reached in order to carry out the key actions or to be able to achieve a certain status and level of monetary ratios. In other words, these are the key factors determining the value of an enterprise. These are sought in the area of marketing, production and supply, research and development, employment, financing, restructuring and organization and data processing.

Marcinkowska [32] presented an interesting attempt to encapsulate value drivers, providing at the same time financial and non-financial measures of identified variables. According to her, the main drivers are the following: Environment; Human capital, Organizational Culture; Strategy; Clients; Product, Quality, Innovation; Brand; Information and Information Systems; Strategic Alliances, Acquisitions, Mergers; the Natural Environment; Advertising and Public Relations.

Such extensive groups of drivers are justified in the case of commercial enterprises. For a third sector organization, though, they seem over complicated for everyday application and in the majority of cases simply do not correspond with their activity profile. In the literature (e.g. [18]) one can see the attempts to identify value drivers, useful in value management; although these are measures of activity, not value drivers. The authors base their work on the *Balanced Scorecard* methodology, which may be over complicated for the majority of small non-governmental organizations operating in Poland.

Without any doubt one should look for the value drivers among the assets of an organization, most of all among intangible assets. Pike, Roos and Marr [35], based on numerous literature sources, support such a hypothesis. Ashton [2] presents reviews of trends in value creation through human resources and intellectual capital. He examines intangible value and its ties to financial outcomes using the Skandia Business Navigator as a measure. The most important assets, i.e. those giving the organization a competitive edge, are the ones that meet the following four criteria: they should be valuable, rare, inimitable and the organization must be organized to deploy these resources effectively [5].

Most of the resources that meet the criteria are intangible assets. Barney [4] lists the following key assets of an organization: reputation, corporate culture, longterm relationships with suppliers and customers and knowledge assets. One of the first people to introduce the notion of intangible assets was Itami [24]. He singles out: technology, accumulated consumer information, brand name, reputation and corporate culture, arguing that these are the key assets of enterprises and the source of their competitive advantage. Nongovernmental organizations in Poland in particular are much less affluent with regard to material assets in comparison to companies from the other two sectors.

The report by the Klon/Jawor Association *Podstawowe fakty o organizacjach pozarządowych* [*Key facts on non-governmental organizations*] shows that 8 out of ten organizations (81%) say that they do not possess any material assets; this is much higher than in 2004, when 71% of the organizations indicated so; also only 3,2% of the organizations had some revenues from assets e.g. from renting premises, equipment, material rights, etc. [19].

Therefore, the intangible assets of non-profit organizations take first place, those that are not reflected in the company's balance sheet and which influence their value substantially.

One cannot disregard the key intangible asset of a company in discussing issues relating to the value of an enterprise. The material assets of the company (machinery, equipment, buildings) can be always replaced with new ones quite easily and fast, requiring only capital. Improving or replacing non-material / intangible assets is much more difficult. Cash is not enough in this case. Such assets as key competences or abilities, organizational culture or the quality of the organization developed in the company over the course of years and by numerous managers. One works on the intangible assets of an enterprise over years, engaging substantial capital. It is very difficult to replace them with new ones, as with a machine.

We should therefore assume that since these assets play such an important role in a modern organization they cannot be disregarded as a component of the value of the whole enterprise. The company's managers should be both aware of the existence of these intangible assets as well as possess the knowledge regarding their current value. The value of intangible assets is becoming one of the management parameters and managers in the non-profit organizations should focus their activities on it.

It seems, therefore, that the most important value drivers of a non-profit organization may be presented in the way shown in Table 1, dividing them into two principal groups. The first relates to the drivers that constitute the organization's assets and the second to drivers that are to a greater extent dependent on processing, transformation, i.e. on managing the assets. Such a division is justifiable if one considers the criterion of susceptibility

RESOURCE-RELATED DRIVERS		MANAGEMENT-RELATED DRIVERS		
Driver	STAKEHOLDERS – RECIPIENTS OF THE VALUES	Driver	STAKEHOLDERS – RECIPIENTS OF THE VALUES	
Human capital (employees, members, volun- teers)	<ul> <li>recipients</li> <li>suppliers</li> <li>cooperating institutions</li> </ul>	Quality of the management	<ul><li>suppliers</li><li>employees and volunteers</li></ul>	
Leaders	<ul> <li>recipients</li> <li>suppliers</li> <li>cooperating institutions</li> <li>employees and volunteers</li> <li>members and founding members</li> </ul>	Reputation/Image	<ul> <li>suppliers</li> <li>employees and volunteers</li> <li>cooperating institutions</li> </ul>	
Intellectual capital	everybody	Organizational structure	everybody	
Key competences	everybody	Action strategies	everybody	

Table 1. The key value drivers of a non-governmental organization (source: self study)

of the key value drivers to change. It is usually much more difficult to change the drivers that are part of organization's assets, taking into account the general difficulty in acquiring various assets, in particular for nonprofit organizations.

The drivers that can be subject to management are much more easily changeable – for example, by using the right techniques and methods of management. The groups of key stakeholders that are the most important recipients of the values created by individual drivers are assigned to the key value drivers. Defining the most important stakeholders, i.e. the ones whose view of the organization is most influenced by the particular driver, is impossible for some drivers. One should therefore assume that in those cases all the above defined groups are the key stakeholders.

The fact that <u>human capital</u> is one of the basic assets of each organization is no longer controversial. Since the 1970's there have been many studies, tests and management methods that take into account and concentrate on people who provide their work for the particular organization. The word "employees" is not used here on purpose, as in Polish non-governmental organizations only 26% hire paid employees [19], and not only hired employees, but above all volunteers and members involved in work form the foundation of human capital.

The opinion of Krasnodębska, who argues one cannot imagine a well-functioning non-governmental organization without volunteers, is fully shared here. She also argues that voluntary work is one of the characteristic, even constitutive, traits of social organizations [29].

Analyzing the example of Teach for America organization, Hauser also claims that human capital is the most important asset of many organizations, in particular in the non-profit sector. Releasing the full potential of employees requires more than just idealism – effective managers are needed for this as well [21]. Bowman and Ambrosini [8] argue that the source of new use values is the labour performed by organizational members and that a firm's profits can be attributed to this labour.

Drucker (1994) also focuses human capital, claiming that this is the only asset that has the potential to grow. Within human assets, he stresses the role of managers, arguing that they are the ones forming the organization's structure, providing leadership and management spirit, that is the source of the firm's spirit. He compares a firm's goals to management's goals, maintaining that the effectiveness of an enterprise is the effectiveness of its management. Managers are the key assets of an enterprise and the most rare at the same time. Besides managers are employees, who are also an asset of an enterprise – if we view an employee as an asset comparable with other resources (the only difference being he/she is a human capital asset), by analogy we have to think how to use it most effectively.

Marcinkowska [32] notes that all the deliberations on enterprises and their achievements come from deliberations on human achievements – on the possibilities of the human mind and the results of cooperation to achieve a selected goal. We should stress that it is the power of people forming the organization that builds the power of the organization. Most of all it is the knowledge and skills of the employees of an entity (including the management's) and the ability to motivate them to use their competence for the enterprise's development that determine the value of the entity, its competitive standing and market power. The philosophy of human resources management is to acknowledge that employees are one of the most valuable elements of an enterprise.

All the categories of people involved in the past in the organization's activity, i.e. its members, employees and volunteers should be included in the human capital category. Former non-profit organization members are a significant and usable source of valuable assets: knowledge, contacts, time, funds or simply human potential [11].

The activity of numerous non-profit organizations is determined by its <u>leaders</u>. A very strong role of one or several leaders who decide on a majority of issues is noticeable. The MONAR-MARKOT Association and its founder and leader Marek Kotański is a good example.

Monar Association is a non-governmental, apolitical organization, operating throughout Poland. The association deals with a multi-aspect system of preventing drug abuse, homelessness, helping people infected with the HIV virus, people with the AIDS syndrome, terminally ill, lonely and with other threats of social character. In cooperation with the Central Management of Prison Workers it implements programs in penitentiary institutions and offers therapeutic help to people leaving prisons. Throughout Poland Monar carries out loss reduction programs: exchange of needles and syringes, handing out condoms, health counseling, education and information. Its task is to help people in a very difficult life situation. The founder and the guiding spirit of all of the MONAR's activities was Marek Kotański (died in 2002). He was also an unquestioned authority, always present in the mass media, on the issues of drug abuse, people infected with HIV virus and the homeless. His statements built up a social awareness of the above phenomena. After he died, although MONAR continues its activity, it is no longer as visible in the mass media, and its new activities, equally spectacular as in the past, are less visible.

Especially in the context of non-profit organizations one should remember that it is not via the letters, analysis, goals, result measurement systems, etc., that the leaders inspire and motivate employees. Such activities are more connected to the notion of "management" rather than "leadership". People are inspired by exciting visions of the future, with values that the organization can create, lofty ideas – it is a good leaders' task, that is those who want to be leaders of their organizations, to create them.

Activities aimed at increasing the quality of human capital will influence the value of a non-profit organization, especially value perceived by the recipients of activities, by the suppliers and representatives of cooperating institutions.

An investment in the "Leadership" factor will bring about an increase in the value of an organization also in the eyes of the other stakeholders' groups, namely founders, members and the employees themselves of a non-profit institution.

The notion of intellectual capital, defined as the knowledge of employees and management, is directly connected to human resources. Intellectual capital is the resource that stems from relationships between stakeholders and partners, from the organization's ability to innovate and manage change, from its infrastructure and from the knowledge, experience and transferable competencies of its staff [27]. It is a resource of strategic importance, influencing the competitive position and potential of every organization. At the same time it is very difficult to evaluate and very easy to lose. One can distinguish the following layers of knowledge in an organizations: information, news and data; lists, studies, databases or sets of information, news or data; ideas and thoughts (in particular hypothesis, suggestions, concepts); detailed solutions of various types; management style and procedures; methods of action; particular characteristics [12].

One cannot overestimate the role of intellectual capital for a non-profit organization. With the use of the above knowledge layers, one may give specific examples of its indispensability for a fundraising institution. Knowledge, focused in the information, news and data layer, is the source of ideas and thoughts, i.e. those aspects of activity aimed at raising the interest of donors and creating the desired reaction. All the databases, such as address database, will be used by the organization to send invitations to charity events, leaflets encouraging the possibility of tax deductions, etc. Detailed solutions are fundraising methods, such as auctions, works of art, charity balls and others.

The <u>key competences</u> allow the organization to quickly accommodate changes in the environment. Kozińska and Żor [28] describe the competences of an organization as the set of knowledge, skills and inter-structural and interpersonal relations, internal and external that the organization possesses and that are grounded in its culture and its people's behaviour that allows the organization to fulfill tasks and achieve its goals in a manner characteristic of the particular organization.

Competences include the following components: knowledge used in work; experience; abilities and predispositions towards, above all, cooperation in achieving the company's goals, the ability to act professionally; cultural (ethical values) [37].

In recent years, theories arguing that the realization of an organization's goals, including its survival and effective existence, depend on the competence resources it possesses have became very fashionable. All enterprises in a market economy in a constant battle for clients all seek to achieve competitive advantage. The look for the sources of this advantage in the first instance in its environment (new markets, financing sources...). Unfortunately, changes in the environment affect all enterprises competing with each other. Therefore, enterprises increasingly often turn to themselves – to the sources of their competitive advantage within the organization – namely to competences.

It is of particular importance for the specific enterprises active within the third sector. In this sector one seeks ways of resolving social problems, keeping up with market principles and helping the weakest at the same time. The concept outlined by Burton Weisbrod is one of the most important economic concepts explaining the existence of social organizations. In the specialized literature it is known as public goods theory, or the market failure/government failure theory [30]. Generally speaking, social organizations take up that area of economy where the market mechanism turns out to be imperfect. Therefore, they have an extremely responsible task to fulfill thanks to the key competences they possess and develop [40].

Key competences and intellectual capital are the value drivers that are of interest for practically all the organization's stakeholders. It is the knowledge and skills of employees and leaders that the effectiveness of the activities undertaken by the organization depends upon. One does not need to prove that the greater the employees' experience and the better the ideas of leaders, the better the programs implemented by the organization and the better its financing will be.

Another area that brings the possibility of identifying intangible components of an enterprise is the <u>quality</u> <u>of management</u>.

It has been proven many times that if one compares enterprises from the same sector with similar resources and market position, the factor that most accurately explains the differences in results achieved is the way enterprises are managed. Why is it so that barely known organizations develop dynamically to become the largest in their sector while others, previously with a good name, fall into decline and are taken over by others or even go bankrupt? The factor that usually differentiates them is the method of management, in fact the quality of the management, which is becoming the key issue.

Although the quality of management has not been explicitly defined in the literature it is an important, and still open, problem of theory and practice in change management in enterprises and institutions. The quality of methods and tools used by managers determines the effectiveness of decisions vital for the market position of the companies and the atmosphere among employees. Therefore, measures of the effectiveness of an organization's management in the changing market environment are widely sought after [38].

Sajkiewicz [38] gives a several indicators of the quality of a company's management: structures to directly contact clients; conceptuality of management; open communication systems; cooperation in problem solving; constant education; leadership roles in improving the organization; the organization's culture strategy, with its ethical content; orienting processes towards the clients; modern management methods; computer networks for internal and external communication; decentralization of power and flexibility of the structures; a broad spectrum of incentive instruments; competences in line with the requirements and rational division of labor.

It seems that this area is one that should be developed in non-profit organizations, in particular Polish ones. One of the common problems of non-governmental organizations is resolving the dilemma of finding a happy medium between modern management of the organization and potential loss of flexibility, innovation and the spirit of cooperation and abandoning its mission.

Also in Poland the problem is becoming increasingly important. The main reason for this is withdrawal of foreign funds from activity in Poland. The possibility of using European Union funding has not so far brought any great effect (the above quoted study [19] shows, that as few as 4.5% of the organizations have used this source of financing in the last four years).

Another reason for the growing need to apply modern management techniques is the growing expectations of donors, both public and private. Increasingly often they require the sponsored organization to use measures of effectiveness and results of its activity [7]. These indices can be increased through more effective management.

Why do donors far more willingly respond to appeals of certain non-profit organizations, at the same time ignoring the applications and requests of others, with similar ideology? Why, with a choice of several foundations with identical goals, e.g. helping ill children, do they extend their support to this one and not another? These questions become quite simple when we pay attention to the organizations that tend to be preferred by donors.

It turns out that they are usually e.g. widely known foundations, with relatively long history and having a good "<u>reputation</u>". In the enterprises sector, this mysterious reputation attracts purchasers like a magnet, as a result clients, having a choice between identical products of two different companies, usually choose the merchandise of a well known company, even paying a higher price. As a result, the client pays for the reputation of the merchandise, as the difference in the price reflects this intangible value purchased by him/her.

In the literature one can find many notions with a similar meaning. These are: brand, image, reputation, goodwill.

Goodwill is explained, for example as: the value of the enterprise in inventory, reputation and connections [43], commercial privileges of the company, being the outcome of a thriving enterprise [23].

Dowling [15] presents an interesting argument to support the hypothesis that reputation has a direct influence on the value of an enterprise. The two principal approaches to goodwill valuation that are widely accepted in the academic literature and in the best accounting practice examines Taliento [43].

The image of a non-profit organization may be viewed as an aspect of competitiveness. Not only when one competes for donors, but also for other resources available on the market. The above mentioned human resources spring to mind here. When the number of volunteers willing to work is limited in a particular local area it is, among other things, the image of the organization that will influence their choice of foundation or association and the activity in which they choose to participate.

On the other hand, the negligence of a nongovernmental organization to inform the environment (...) may result in loss of trust and social support [25]. It is due to its extremely highly [valued] image – measured by the knowledge of the organization and trust of Poles for the institution [33] - Wielka Orkiestra Świątecznej Pomocy<sup>2</sup> (The Great Christmas Charity Orchestra) is one of the leaders among non-profit organizations in the category of funds raised.

"Wielka Orkiestra Świątecznej Pomocy" is the largest and most prosperous charity organization in Poland. Its objectives, included in the status document, are saving children's lives, health promotion and education in the field of preventive treatment. Between 1993 and 2006 The charity has collected and spent over \$65 mln on saving lives. Besides humanitarian work, it is also a powerful medium spreading an ideology of kindness, friendship, tolerance, and openness.

Therefore, image, as value drivers mainly influence donors, sponsors and other institutions, provides funds for non-profit organizations.

Another value driver of an organization, part of the group susceptible to management, is <u>organizational</u> <u>structure</u>. Organization is not a goal in itself, it is a means to an end, which is achievements and business results. Organizational structure is an indispensable element, a flawed structure may substantially lower the productivity of a business and even destroy it [16]. Each, even the smallest non-profit organization, must have a certain organizational structure. Often the existence of the structure is forced by e.g. the statute of an organization, where at the least a Management Board must be appointed. Associations have frequently, besides the Management Board, also a Presiding Board, an Audit Committee, Accounting, then Branches, etc. Fundraising sections or sections implementation individual statute objectives may be set. It is worth quoting the main determinants regarding non-governmental organization structures provided by Bogacz-Wojanowska [7], quoted by Wilson [45]:

- size in the case of small organizations there is no need to split tasks and as a consequence to differentiate [organizational sections]; when the organization grows, it starts to feel such a need, since everybody cannot all the time deal with everything. There are groups or people assigned, responsible for the individual objectives of the organization,
- technology (physical objects and tools, equipment, also knowledge),
- the environment of the organization its nature also conditions the size of differentiation and integration of non-governmental organizations,
- a stable environment creates favourable conditions for bureaucratic structures, or structures of high vertical differentiation, while a turbulent and unstable environment requires certain adhocracy (temporariness), decentralized structures,
- age of the organization in the course of years organizations change their social structures,
- financial dependency the more organizations depend on one, external, source of financing, the more centralized their structure will be,
- strategies a type of realized strategy of action obliges the creation of specific organizational structures.

Organizational structure seems to be mostly responsible for the relevant flow of information in each organization. A clear hierarchy structure, clarity of official relations translates into quick and efficient and multidirection flow of information resources. Therefore, it influences the efficiency of actions and therefore any improvements in the organizational structure will increase the value of non-profit organization in the eyes of all groups of stakeholders.

The last of the main value drivers of a non-profit organization one should pay attention to are <u>strategies</u>. This notion should be understood as specific ways to achieve the organization's objectives, together with the resources necessary to achieve them. At the least, we can talk about:

- product strategies in the case of a non-profit organization these are usually services strategies, aimed at maximizing their quality,
- communication strategies or methods of informing broadly understood environment/public about its mission, activities, values, etc.,
- fundraising strategies or activities aiming at providing the organization with the necessary financial means, in connection with specific activities, but also for everyday operations,
- personnel strategies directed at increasing the quality of human capital.

From a more general point of view regarding the choice of a development path of a given organization we may use the classification of strategies that proposes four variants of activities [1]: market penetration strategy; market development strategy; product development strategy; diversification strategy.

The relationship between the strategy and the value of the organization has been subject to many studies. Lubatkin and Chatterjee [31], among others, examine the stability of the relationship between strategy and shareholder value; Bowman and Ambrosini [8] consider the role of strategy in the context of the value creation process.

It seems that non-profit organizations may use almost all of the above strategies. The activity of Stowarzyszenie Przymierza Rodzin (the Families Alliance Association) is an example of applying most of them:

Stowarzyszenie Przymierze Rodzin is an all-Poland non-profit organization operating since 1983. The work of the alliance is carried out mostly among peer groups of children and young people, parents' groups and families groups, run in the Local Families Alliance Centers at parishes. Currently, about 20 centers are active, grouping about 1500 people. The children and young people's groups (about 500 persons in 20 groups) are run to a large extent according to the scouting method.

The objective of the educational program is the spiritual, intellectual and physical development of children. The tutors are young people, mostly students, and their helpers are chosen from the upper high school. All the tutorial staff (about 80 people in the whole association) work on a volunteer basis. In order to increase their tutorial abilities, courses, training sessions and seminars are organized. There are about 50 young people attending the courses for tutors and helpers each year. Another objective of the alliance's activity is educational and cultural activity. Currently the alliance runs three primary schools, three lower secondary schools, two general education upper secondary schools, one college, two youth community centers and one kindergarten.

The association uses diversification, placing its activities in various areas (education – running schools and at the same time supporting youth community centres and simultaneously supporting and educating activity in local centers associated with parishes). It uses a market development strategy (starting educational activities at primary schools, then broadening it to kindergartens and colleges and opening new primary and lower secondary schools) and finally the product development strategy (besides concentrating on education in primary school, it also organizes summer trips, youth groups, etc.).

In the context of value management the process of working out the strategy, especially the means used for its evaluation, has to be directed at maximizing value.

The strategy should above all include an explanation of how the entity intends to gain an advantage over other entities, which would lead to increasing its value. Such an explanation should be grounded in full market analysis, analysis of other organizations active on the market and current advantages and the possibilities of the entity. The strategy should also include the value management elements:

- interpretation of the strategy evaluation results and assessment of the main assumptions that have influenced its value,
- measuring the value of rejected strategies and the reasons for rejecting them,
- establishing the need for resources,
- summary of predicted results of strategic plans, in particular including forecasts regarding the main value drivers,
- analysis of several different scenarios to help foresee dangers or new possibilities and their influence on strategies implementation [14].

## 4. Conclusion and future research

An objective of presentation of the key value drivers of non-profit organizations was above all aimed at drawing attention of organizations to the fact that it is not only human resources and reputation that are the main success factors. The presented classification does not aspire to be comprehensive and exhaustive. The line between separate drivers are certainly also fluid. For example, the notions of intellectual capital and key competences interpenetrate in a certain manner.

A well organized structure certainly depends on the quality of its management, which in turn depends on the leaders of the organization. However, identification of a larger number of value drivers should help to increase the value and help the non-profit organization in succeeding. The increase of its value may be considered the measure of success of a particular non-profit organization. In no way does it contradict other, specific, goals and missions, formulated by third sector entities.

We should only assume that an activity should be undertaken when it increases the value of the organization in the perception of at least one of the stakeholder groups listed first above. In such a way, reaching every goal, be it training for the unemployed, the purchase of medical equipment or securing workplaces for handicapped people, will increase the value of the nonprofit organization. At the same time, awareness of the existence of a higher purpose or increasing value will help to focus not only on short-term goals but will help non-profit organizations' to gain in a long-term, strategic way.

The aim of building up value for stakeholders, presented to the environment in an appropriate manner, should also help raise funds and convince sponsors and donors that these are the organizations worthy of support. It also allows organizations to build long-term relationships between donors and the organization, by informing them in an open and clear manner about the influence of individual activities on the increase in the value of the organization they sponsor. Therefore, value becomes a measure of the effectiveness and efficiency of activity, which may be extremely helpful in day-to-day operations of each non-profit organization.

Future research may concentrate on other stages of value management and on working out the concept of their implementation in non-profit organizations. The value management process consists in principle of three stages [36]. The first of them – <u>gaining involvement</u> - aims at attracting all the participants of the organization: its leaders, members, employees and volunteers to the value management concept. They should be convinced that an increase in value is the main and universal purpose of activity.

The second stage is <u>assessment of value</u>. After the key value drivers have been identified they should be evaluated and their value measured. Then the strategic and operational planning process takes place, or the strategies that will lead to achieving the organization's goals and respective detailed action plans are created. All of that should be done in parallel with training sessions on creating value for stakeholders. The result of this stage is the list of key value drivers, the result of the value assessment and operational strategies and plans.

The stage known as <u>instilling principles</u> is directed at keeping the introduced changes. The result of this will be clearly established result indexes, both financial and organizational, and a compensation (motivation) system correlating with any increase in value. It requires definition of the role of individual sections in the organizations in increasing value and the measure of the results of the organization and compensation systems. Also at this stage training sessions, concentrating on focusing attention of each one of them on their individual roles in increasing value, are necessary.

## 5. References

- [1] Ansoff H. I. *Corporate Strategy*. McGraw-Hill, New York 1965.
- [2] Ashton R. Intellectual Capital and Value Creation, A Review [in] Journal of Accounting Literature, No. 24, pp. 53-134, 2005.
- [3] Balser D., McClusky J. Stakeholder relationships and nonprofit organization effectiveness [in] Nonprofit Management and Leadership, No. 15, pp. 295-315, 2005.
- Barney J. Organizational culture: can it be a source of sustained competitive advantage? [in] Academy of Management Journal, No. 28, pp. 656-665, 1986.
- [5] Barney J.. Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage [in] Journal of Management, No. 17, pp. 99-120, 1991.
- [6] Blanchard K., O'Connor M. *Managing by Values*. Berrett-Koehler Publisher, San Francisco 1997.
- [7] Bogacz-Wojtanowska E. Zarządzanie organizacjami pozarządowymi na przykładzie stowarzyszeń krakowskich. Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Jagiellońskiego, Kraków 2006..
- [8] Bowman C., Ambrosini V. Value Creation Versus Value Capture: Towards a Coherent Definition of Value in Strategy [in] British Journal of Management, No. 11, p. 1-15, 2000.

- [9] Bowman C., Ambrosini V. Firm value creation and levels of strategy [in] Management Decision No. 45, pp. 360-371, 2007.
- [10] Bryson J., Gibbons M., Shaye G. Enterprise Schemes for Nonprofit Survival, Growth and Effectiveness [in] Nonprofit Management and Leadership, No. 11, pp. 271-288, 2001.
- [11] Chou A., Jordan Ch., Kilpatrik A. Ukryte zasoby organizacji pozarządowych [in] Trzeci Sektor, No. 6, pp. 100-103, 2006.
- [12] Ciupa S.W. *Ile kosztuje wiedza menedżera?* [in] Manager : pismo szefów i kadry zarządzającej, No. 4, pp. 20-24, 1997.
- [13] Clarkson M. A stakeholder framework for analyzing and evaluating corporate social performance
   [in] Academy of Management Review, No. 20, pp. 92-117, 1995.
- [14] Copeland T., Koller T., Murrin J. Wycena: mierzenie i kształtowanie wartości firm. Wig- Press, Warszawa1997.
- [15] Dowling G. How Good Corporate Reputations Create Corporate Value [in] Corporate Reputation Review, No. 9, pp. 134-143, 2006.
- [16] Drucker P.F. *Praktyka zarządzania*. Akademia Ekonomiczna, Kraków 1994.
- [17] Drucker P. F. Zarządzanie organizacją pozarządową - teoria i praktyka. Wyd. Fundusz Współpracy, Warszawa 1995.
- [18] Evans M. Creating Value In the Nonprofit Sector. http://www.exinfm.com, 24 July 2007.
- [19] Gumkowska M., Herbst J. Podstawowe fakty o organizacjach pozarządowych. Raport z badania. Stowarzyszenie Klon/Jawor, Warszawa 2006.
- [20] Harris I., Mainelli M., O'Callaghan M. Evidence of worth in non-profit sector organizations [in] Strategic Change, No. 11, pp. 399-410, 2002.
- [21] Hauser J. *Lekcja organizacji w sektorze non*profit [in] Trzeci Sektor, No. 4, pp. 77-83, 2005.
- [22] Hillman A., Keim G. Shareholder value, Stakeholder management, and social issues: what's the bottom line? [in] Strategic Management Journal, No. 22, pp. 122-139, 2001.
- [23] Hornby S., Cowie A.P. Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary of Current English. Oxford University Press, PWN (reprint), Warszawa 1981.
- [24] Itami H. *Mobilizing Invisible Assets*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge 1987.
- [25] Iwankiewicz-Rak B. *Sila wizerunku organizacji pozarządowej*, Trzeci Sektor 5, 2006, p. 30-36.
- [26] Kearns K. The Strategic Management of Accountability in Nonprofit Organizations: An Analytical Framework [in] Public Administration Review, No. 54, pp. 185-192, 1994.
- [27] Kelly A. The intellectual capital of schools: analysing government policy statements on school improvement in light of a new theorization [in]

Journal of Education Policy, No. 19, pp. 609-629, 2004.

- [28] Kozińska A., Żor A. Niewidzialne aktywa organizacji. Projekt, Warszawa1998.
- [29] Krasnodębska J. Zarządzanie wolontariatem rady praktyka [in] Trzeci Sektor, No. 4, pp. 84-90, 2005.
- [30] Leś E. Organizacje społeczne, studium porównawcze. Program Phare Dialog Społeczny NGO's, Warszawa 1998.
- [31] Lubatkin M., Chatterjee S. The strategyshareholder value relationship: testing temporal stability cross market cycles [in] Strategic Management Journal, No.12, pp. 251-270, 1991.
- [32] Marcinkowska M. *Kształtowanie wartości firmy*. Wyd. Naukowe PWN, Warszawa 2000.
- [33] Nowotny S. Wizerunek trzeciego sektora w opinii publicznej [in] Trzeci Sektor, No. 5, pp.7-29, 2006.
- [34] Ospina S., Diaz W., O'Sullivan J. Negotiating Accountability: Managerial lessons form identitybased nonprofit organizations [in] Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, No. 31, pp. 5-31, 2002
- [35] Pike S., Roos G., Marr B. Strategic management of intangible assets and value drivers in R&D organizations [in] R&D Management, No. 35, pp. 111-124, 2005.
- [36] Rappaport A. Wartość dla akcjonariuszy. Poradnik menedżera i inwestora. WIG-Press, Warszawa 1999.

- [37] Sajkiewicz A. Człowiek kreator wartości przedsiębiorstwa [In] Zarządzanie wartością firmy (ed. Herman, A., Szablewski, A.). Poltext, Warszawa 1999.
- [38] Sajkiewicz A. Jakość zarządzania przedsiębiorstwem. Wyd. SGH Warszawa 1999.
- [39] Sargeant A. *Marketing w organizacjach non profit.* Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków 2004.
- [40] Semeniuk Z. *Klienci rynku przemysłowego*, Świat Marketingu, www.swiatmarketingu.pl, 05-2004.
- [41] Skoczylas W. Wartość przedsiębiorstwa w systemie jego oceny. Uniwersytet Szczeciński, Szczecin 1998.
- [42] Stanisławski J. *Wielki słownik angielsko-polski*. Wiedza Powszechna, Warszawa 1983.
- [43] Taliento M. Measuring Goodwill: Rationales for a Possible Convergence between the Excess Profits Estimate and the Residual Value Approach [in] The Journal of American Academy of Business, No. 10, pp. 197-203, Cambridge 2006.
- [44] Wawrzyniak B. Odnawianie przedsiębiorstwa na spotkanie XXI wieku. Poltext, Warszawa1999.
- [45] Wilson D.,C. Organizational Structures in the Voluntary Sector [in] Issues in Voluntary and Non Profit Management (ed. Batsleer J., Cornforth C., Paton R.). Addison-Wesley, Wokingham 1992.

## MANAGEMENT EFFICIENCY

Marek PAWŁOWSKI\*, Zdzisław PIĄTKOWSKI\*\*, Wojciech ŻEBROWSKI\*\*\*

\*Higher School of Management in Warsaw, 03-772 Warszawa, Poland drmarekpawlowski@wp.pl
\*\*University of Ecology and Management in Warsaw, 02-061 Warszawa, Poland
\*\*\*Faculty of Management, Department of Production Management, Warsaw University of Technology, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland
W.Zebrowski@wz.pw.edu.pl

*Abstract:* Modern management process may be viewed as one constant series of decision making and creation of conditions for effective decision realization. In the process of organizing it is important to verify the organization effectiveness and implement corrections in order to maintain or increase this effectiveness. For the purpose of situation diagnosis and improvement of organization's results, the three-efficiency-levels approach is used (organization level, process level, workstation level). Degree of decision effectiveness (efficiency) will depend on rationality of the problem solving process. Therefore, it is necessary to determine the primary and supporting goals as well as strategies for their realization and to take care of the quality of organization's internal activities, which includes full readiness for cooperation and flexibility towards changes.

*Key words:* Modern management, production management system, organization effectiveness, management efficiency, economic efficiency, managerial work improving methods, performance, productivity.

### 1. Introduction

This article is a continuation of its authors' considerations included in two previous articles [23, 34] related to company logistics and production management.

In the first of those articles, when describing chosen aspects of system concept of logistics from the efficiency point of view, the authors mentioned a method of affecting efficiency in a logistics system and presented five different relation variants (initial outlay, results) referring to the shape the efficiency formula takes.

Also the authors mentioned shaping of logistics system efficiency from the view of assumptions and phases of logistics development [23].

In the second article, on the other hand, the modern production management systems were compared with regard to utilitarian efficiency [34].

Visibly, the efficiency issue was signalized in both mentioned articles, and its broader description will be the subject of this article. As it is hard to propose a single logical construct of management efficiency (effectiveness, productivity) to the reader, the broad issue was narrowed down by the authors to some key areas.

#### 2. Research problems

In the presented paper, the authors concentrate on a few important directions of management efficiency research, including:

- different approach to the essence of efficiency (effectiveness), way of its presentation and measurement,
- division of efficiency into: economic, organizational and managerial ones,
- essence of increasing of organization efficiency;
- determining the efficiency in processes of: planning, decision-making, organizing, coordinating, motivating and controlling,
- efficiency problems concerning human resources management process, especially with regard to: recruitment, selection, training and efficiency management system,
- gathering knowledge on the efficiency of management style and time management,
- methods of improving managerial work and increasing organization efficiency.

Plan of resolving the above mentioned issues will be based on identification of four key problems.

**First problem** concerns defining efficiency as a unit of measurement of productivity: if we compare two mines with similar manpower, extracting the same type of coal in the same environmental conditions, with use of similar type of equipment, then the mine which extracts more coal is viewed to be more efficient.

**Second problem** concerns so called managerial efficiency, which refers to effectiveness of management as opposed to the effectiveness of the whole production unit.

**Third problem** is the degree to which a given firm should achieve the highest results in a particular, specific environment that surrounds it.

**Fourth problem** is the way of efficiency evaluation in the sense of the rate of profit. While from the point of view of an entrepreneur the highest capital efficiency is achieved when the rate of profit is maximized, from the society's point of view the most effective allocation of resources may be achieved i.e. when the rate of profit is minimal.

In works devoted to issues such as organization or management, the term efficiency is used in the same meaning as effectiveness or performance. P. F. Drucker used to say efficiency means kind of a habit. It is a matter of certain set of activities, which can always be trained. Later on, they will become a habit, which we learn by practicing and once again practicing. This is how competences are formed.

Efficiency, according to P. F. Drucker, is the key element of human and organizational development. It leads to self-fulfillment and allows a modern society to survive; it is the degree of target fulfillment [6, p. 182].

Efficiency is also, according to this author, the degree of realization of a goal. An extremely important problem in the activity of every entity with regard to this matter is, therefore, proper definition of goal as well as means for its realization.

Obtaining a positive result of actions should be accompanied by: precise identification and determination of the need for introduction of changes; planning and carrying out of a project, which serves the purpose of fulfillment of a certain need; involvement of the whole staff, who should be aware that effects of activity are massively determined by work quality, which, therefore, should be constantly improved, in order to result in an increase of resources management efficiency (including increase of profitability); maintaining pace and direction of changes, which is to help to fulfill a given need; constant improvement of actions in accordance with the Deming circle [28, p. 211].

#### 3. Basic concepts

Organizational efficiency is not an unambiguous term. The literature presents various approaches to the essence of efficiency, way of its implementation and measurement. Also, many similar terms are used, such as: effectiveness, performance, productivity, economy [3, p. 103].

On the basis of professional literature from the scope of economics, economics of work, organization and management or social psychology, it can be stated that in the last 120 years there was a slow but systematic evolution of content and denotation of the term efficiency going on: "from a narrow technical and economic to a humanistic and ecological one" [7, p. 149].

Problem of efficiency has been discussed in Polish literature from the field of organization and directing with various regularity for the last 40 or so years. [31, p. 14-15].

The works concerning problems of organization and management use the term efficiency in the same meaning as effectiveness or performance.

Efficiency is the key element for human and organizational development. It leads to self-fulfillment and allows a modern society to survive; it is the degree of target fulfillment [5, p. 182].

Problem of efficiency cannot be looked at without referring to means and possibilities of its measurement. Issue of measuring efficiency is extremely important, while only then can any area or a whole company be managed, when the phenomena and processes can be measured and analyzed, with the use of even such concepts as time or costs. When speaking of efficiency, it is necessary to consider way of its evaluation. Efficiency is often measured by profitability, and the most effective allocation of resources is always made with micro and macro-scale interests in mind [28, p. 194].

Important problem in processes of efficiency measurement is the proper choice of methods. In this area, i.e. discount methods can be used, which allow evaluation of efficiency of developmental projects [5].

From the point of view of cybernetics, the scope of ex post activity efficiency concept refers to a certain relation between the obtained effects and the initial outlay needed for their realization. Ex ante activity efficiency, on the other hand, refers to the relation between the target and the anticipated means for its realization [5, p. 151].

Recently, two main approaches to efficiency, goaloriented one and system one, are underlined. The goaloriented approach assumes that organizations are established in order to achieve the undertaken goals. The system approach, on the other hand, that rarely are there all the resources in the surrounding. The meaning of purposefulness as a characteristic of an organization, which is a natural system resembling living organism, is underlined. Both these approaches, according to A. Kister, differ profoundly starting from basic assumptions, through the view on the essence of evaluation efficiency and stage-character, evaluation criteria, ending with efficiency measurement [12, p. 4].

"In general, productivity informs us how many units of product can be obtained from a unit of a certain factor" [29, p. 285].

R. Koch, on the contrary, says productivity is "every measure of production output divided by a measure of initial outlay (i.e. profit per unit of initial capital)". Apart from that, productivity is never an unambiguous goal in itself: by its evaluation one must consider the adopted measure and the motives which determined its choice. Often, a very good measure of productivity in many situations is the economic value added [14, p. 199].

Literature on the subject distinguishes between partial and total productivity. Partial productivity is the relation between total number of products (or number of products of certain type) and the amount of particular types of resources used for their manufacturing. Thus, this productivity refers to different production factors. Therefore, one can speak of: work productivity, capital productivity, land productivity, energy and resources productivity. Total productivity is the relation between the total number of products and total amount of resources used for their manufacturing [24. p. 341].

A Bobak, however, distinguishes between standard and structural productivity. Standard productivity (turnover) is the relation between total sales revenues and cost (value) of the production factor (resource) used. It allows comparing the revenue index in time that is the amount of revenues which falls on a monetary unit ploughed into project from the company resources. This type of productivity is distinguished by activity of production factors, as it is used in the economic processes. Standard productivity is biased by the error of inadequacy, while only one factor determines the end effect. Standard productivity which produces effects through specific types of company activity aims at eliminating this problem. A necessary condition for its calculation is finding the part the particular types of activity have in the total company revenues, that is the end effect. Structural productivity is the relation of divided end effect (falling on a given activity) and costs of this type of activity. Statistical key figures used in this case serve the purpose of dividing the end effect into particular types of activity [4].

As stated by A. Kosieradzka [17], observation, evaluation and analysis of productivity in a company is a tool of successful management, and it enables:

- evaluation of results achieved by the company in comparison to other companies within the same industry,
- identification of 'weaknesses', that is these fields of operation which are the reason for poor productivity and which require improvement,
- establishing programs of productivity improvement;
- establishing strategic plans of a company,
- observation of trends of changes of partial and total productivity indices,
- linking company payroll policy with its productivity.

Market requirements force companies to constantly improve productivity and search for new ways of increasing it. In many countries, Japan in particular, increasing productivity is treated as a sort of company philosophy and forms a special movement towards productivity [24, p. 34].

## 4. Economic efficiency

Efficiency reveals itself in each purposeful human activity. However, when speaking of company results' analysis, it is necessary to: identify the effects, measure them, find a proper basis for comparison and formulate methods for synthetic evaluation of effects [2, p. 191].

Economic efficiency may be viewed as "a result of economic activity, defined by the relation between the effect and the initial outlay" [Polish Language Dictionary, PWN, Warsaw 2004]. An important feature of economic efficiency is the purposefulness of action. The scope of meaning of economic efficiency changes in time and, therefore, one can speak of a defined relation between the achieved results and initial outlay as well as relation between activity goal and the means necessary for its achievement.

Economic efficiency is an important tool of management efficiency measurement, and is viewed as a certain boarder-line for achieving best results [2, p. 191].

Economic efficiency is related to productivity. At the same time, it is important to bear in mind a famous statement by M. Imai (president of Kaizen Institute): "even the biggest fool is able to increase his work efficiency, if he spends the proper amount of resources for this purpose. The true achievement is to increase efficiency without investing in new equipment" [2, p. 191].

In his actions, a manager has to use a broad spectrum of economic indices, which make the resource management easier. Manager concentrates his attention on the parameters of capital profitability and those referring to the ability to pay bills [19, p. 139].

Usually, "partners of a company are mainly interested in its liquidity ratios. This refers to banks which grant short-term loans and to suppliers who grant commercial credits. What is important for them are the current assets to current liabilities liquidity ratio. Current liabilities cannot exceed the level of current assets" [19, p. 139].

In a broader sense, the term economic efficiency refers to "the best results in production or distribution of products and services under the lowest costs. Efficiency is measured with the use of synthetic, partial indices of resource management productivity. Those indices, however, do not express precisely the efficiency of particular production factors, or the efficiency of a company as a whole.

The effects of economic activity are very complex: indirect and direct, positive and negative, desirable and undesirable. Many types of effects may be distinguished, i.e.: increase in work efficiency, increase of foreign exchange due to export of new production, increased profits, increased production volume, increased production quality as well as deterioration of working conditions, deterioration of environment..." [24, p. 100].

On the other hand, the efficiency of a company may be measured with the use of such variables as:

- productivity, that is output-input ratio,
- morale, that is the level of satisfaction of employees' material and emotional as well as higher

needs, as a result of attaching more sense and meaning to goals and tasks,

- adaptation, that is company care about client satisfaction, high quality of products and services,
- flexibility, that is the degree of company adaptability to changes,
- institutionalization, that is the degree of society support for company's mission, goals, norms and values,
- stability that is low level of disturbance, good relationships between employees, managers and clients of the company [7, p. 193].

If the problems of economic efficiency evaluation are referred to production activity of organization, then it should be assumed that this efficiency will be determined by three factors:

- initial outlay incurred for the preparation of means for activity,
- effects in the form of new means (products),
- time of realization of specific action, in which the systems are used and the effects are generated.

#### 5. Organizational Efficiency

Organizational efficiency is the ability of a company to currently and strategically adapt to changes in the environment, as well as productively and economically use its resources in order to realize the adopted structure of goals [7, p. 100].

It can be achieved when it is treated as a process for development. The true nature of efficiency is, therefore, a process, interactional process, which encompasses phenomena taking place inside of organization, as well as between the organization and its surrounding.

In the theory of organization management, the term efficiency is often replaced with the term performance. It is believed that the organization performs better, the bigger the degree to which it realizes its goals and the smaller the time and resources outlays for their realization [24, p. 100].

Organizational Efficiency is ensured by such factors as: product, plant, processes, programs and personnel. [18, p. 153, 158]. Those factors influence competitive advantage through: product – clear functions and unique operational characteristics; personnel – skills, training; plant – specific functions, operations, technologies; programs – quickness, preciseness, delivery

•

•

not at all (neutral),

counter-effective (negative) [13, p. 22-24].

punctuality, supply; processes - specific methods of work organization [2, p. 195].

Effectiveness - is the measure of the degree of goal realization. Result, that is the goal, is the anticipated state of nature, which we want to approach through our actions. We can either fully approach the goal (the result), approach it partially or not approach it at all (stand still), or even get farther from our goal. Our actions can, therefore, be:

Natural striving of every thinking human being is to achieve maximum effectiveness of his actions. All normal people aim at achieving full and complete effectiveness of action. However, not everybody give a lot consideration to the conditions of goal realization, being under the illusion that the success will come by itself [13, p. 23].

- fully,
- partially, •

RATIOS						
I. Operating efficiency	II. Liquidity	III. Profitability	IV. Market ratios			
Return on sales = Net Income / Sales	<b>Debt ratio =</b> Total Debts / Total Assets	<b>Fixed Capital Structure</b> <b>Ratio =</b> Equity / Long-Term Liablilities	Nominal Value of Ordinary Share = Share Capital / Number of Ordinary Shares			
<b>Profit margin</b> = Net Income / Capital Employed	Equity to Fixed Assets Ratio = Ownership Equity / Fixed Assets	Return on Capital = Net Income + Financial Costs / Fixed Capital	Earnings per share = Income <i>minus</i> tax <i>minus</i> preferred stock / Number of Ordinary Shares			
Payback Period = Capital Employed / Net Income	Fixed Assets Ratio = Fixed Assets / Total Assets	Financial Costs Ratio = Financial Costs / Average Long-Term Liabilities and Credits <i>minus</i> Free Cash	<b>Dividend per Ordinary</b> <b>Share</b> = Dividends Paid / Number of Ordinary Shares			
<b>Turnover of Capital Em- ployed</b> = Sales / Capital Employed	Current Assets Self- Financing Ratio = Current Liabilities / Current Assets	Return on equity= Net Income / Average Total Equity	<b>Dividend ratio</b> = Dividend per Share / Share Market Value			
<b>Fixed Capital Investment</b> <b>Ratio</b> = Fixed Capital Investment / Amortization	Current Ratio = Current Assets / Current Liabilities		<b>Return on Share</b> = Eernings Per Share / Share Market Price			
	Assets Liquidity Ratio = Current Assets / Total Assets					
	<b>Net Assets</b> = Current Assets <i>minus</i> Current Liabilities					

Table 1. Company efficiency ratios (source: [19, p. 140-141])

An effective organization is characterized by the following skills: it successfully wins resources, manages them appropriately, achieves the marked-out goals and fulfills the needs of its employees [2, p. 215].

Managerial effectiveness is one of the basic requirements in the game of organizational effectiveness and is the most important input in the organization development. Effectiveness is the hope for economic productivity and social living of a modern society [6, p. 186].

Second basic form of efficiency is the benefit (B). "There is a difference between a useful result and costs of actions" [11, p. 19]. Nonetheless, according to another concept, "it is the difference between utilitarian result and the outlays required for its achievement – that is, it is the utilitarian effect (E) minus outlays (C costs)" [13, p. 22-24].

$$\mathbf{E} - \mathbf{C} = \mathbf{B} \tag{1}$$

as the cost of action (outlays), we will obtain the Benefit, similarly to effectiveness, may be positive, neutral or negative. If we take R as an utilitarian result and C following situations [13, p. 24; 11, p. 24]:

R > C – beneficial action

R = C – neutral action from the point of view of benefit

R < C – unbeneficial action.

At the same time, both the effects and the outlays should not necessarily be viewed only in the financial dimension, but rather in a general one. One can 'scrape together' big amount of money, but his health or family relations may deteriorate. On the other hand action could be ineffective but turn up to be beneficial. Let us assume that somebody wanted to write his doctoral thesis. He went to the library and read books and, at the end, failed to write the thesis but met a beautiful librarian and married her eventually [13, p. 24].

There exist the following variants of relationship between effectiveness and benefit: [11, p.19-20]:

- effective but unbeneficial action,
- ineffective but beneficial action,
- effective and beneficial action efficient action,
- ineffective and unbeneficial action.

Third basic form of efficiency is the economy. W. Kieżun defines it as "relationship between utilitarian effect (E) and costs (C) of action" and W. Kobyliński calls it the quotient of effect and outlays [11, p. 25; 13, p. 20]:

$$E_{c} = \frac{E}{C}$$
(2)

where:

 $E_c$  – economy,

E – utilitarian effect,

C-costs.

The essence of economy is described by the relationship between effects and outlays needed for their achievement. If this is the case, then:

 $E_c > 1 - action is economic;$ 

 $E_c = 1 - action$  is economically neutral;

 $E_c < 1 - action is not economic.$ 

A natural striving of every thinking human is increasing this ratio of economy, so that it is as big as possible and higher then 1. This can be achieved in two ways:

• increasing the effect under constant costs

$$\frac{E\uparrow}{C\to} \tag{3}$$

or

the same effect under decreased costs

$$\frac{E \to}{C \uparrow} \tag{4}$$

These are two different ways of increasing the economy ratio of our actions. When speaking about increased effect under constant costs, we refer to the type of economy that can be called productivity (3). On the other hand, if we decrease costs, we refer to the second form of economy, which can be called economizing (4) [13, p. 25-26].

Organizational efficiency may also be regarded from the point of view of profit maximization with the use of different means. Such maximization, if achieved with the use of economic and technical means, is connected with productivity. If its achievement is accompanied by other non-economic or political means, the increased efficiency does not contribute to increase of productivity. Increase of efficiency achieved with both mentioned types of means usually manifests itself as: storing energy, growth, survival and endurance of organization and as increase of organization's control over external environment [10, p. 264-265].

In Polish literature, an interesting attempt to build a multi-criterion model of organizational efficiency evaluation was made by M. Bielski and J. Olszewski. Namely, they distinguished seven dimensions of efficiency and defined for each of them appropriate criteria of efficiency and their measures or indicators [3, p. 120].

In the above mentioned theory, the following dimensions of organizational efficiency were distinguished:

- material, referring to realization of company's mission,
- economic, referring to relation between effects and outlays,
- system, describing "health" of the organization system and its ability to exist in a given surrounding,
- "political", referring to organization's relationship with its surrounding,
- political without the inverted commas referring to the organizational efficiency in preserving (or disturbing) the existing political and social order in a country,
- cultural referring to the ability of an organization to preserve and/or change existing cultural values and norms in the social surrounding,
- behavioral representing the interests of members of an organization [8, p. 87].

Material dimension refers to realization of the genotype function of the organization. It says how effective an organization is in fulfilling specific social needs and to what degree it achieves its external goals. Similarly to efficacy from the praxeology point of view, this dimension does not consider the cost of achieving goals. Therefore, this dimension has greater meaning in evaluation of efficiency of non-profit organizations, which fulfill social needs that are harder to quantify as outlays and effects. For example, a measurement of efficiency of school or university should be the level of education of its graduates and not the cost of their training. However, this dimension has also got meaning when efficiency of some economic entities is evaluated, especially in case of lack of some products or services in the market [3, p. 114].

**Economic dimension** (economic efficiency) encompasses criteria which in various ways present the relation between effects and outlays. If it is the relation between effects and outlays, then the criteria are: performance (people, equipment), productivity (fixed assets, property) or profitability. This corresponds with praxeological concept of economy. If there is a difference between effects and costs, it is measured by profit (reflecting praxeological benefit).

Economic efficiency is relatively easy to determine in economic entities, although even in this case exist effects and costs which are hard to present in terms of money (i.e.: intellectual, knowledge input of specialists). In non-profit organizations the economic dimension has often got smaller meaning than the material dimension; simultaneously, the economic measurability of outlays and - even more so – effects, is smaller. The measure of efficiency in these organizations is often the dynamics of outlays, i.e.: their decrease in comparison to the previous period while keeping the effects at the same level, expressed in material terms (i.e.: by the number of beds or patients in a hospital, students in a university, etc.) [3, p. 114-115].

**System dimension** (system efficiency) refers to "health" of the organization system and its ability to exist in a given surrounding. This dimension is especially underlined by the supporters of system approach to organizational efficiency. Without doubt, it is an important aspect of this efficiency. However, bringing the whole issue to this aspect only, brings about the sin of one-sidedness, similarly to the purposefulness approach. The evaluation criteria in case of this efficiency dimension are the long-term goals of an organization: survival and development, as well as adaptation to the changing environment.

It should be noted – says M. Bielski – that the goal of surviving cannot be graduated, as the organization either exists or not. Nonetheless, even in this dimension, the efficiency can be graduated, as a state of threat to the survival, i.e. threat of bankruptcy, may itself be an indicator of low organizational efficiency. Development and adaptation will reveal themselves in organization growth, investments, starting new businesses, expanding into new markets etc. [3, p. 115].

**"Political" dimension** ("political" efficiency) refers to organization's relationship with its environment. D. Katz and R. L. Kahn point out to the fact, that the ability to run a policy towards the environment by the organization is, next to efficiency, and important element of efficiency. With the same efficiency of transformation processes, organization efficiency may be different, depending on skillful placing of orders, cleverness in trade negotiations, right choice of place for investment etc. "In general, [...] it can be said that transactions with the environment have, to some extent, a political character..." [10, p. 252].

The result of "politics" in this sense is the exploitation of the environment, which is, obviously, only possible within limits in which it does not threaten the future of the organization (limits to "robber economy"). "Political" actions may just as well be directed towards inside of the organization and aim at achieving the best possible (from the point of view of organization) conditions of people's participation, i.e.: work in extra hours, intensification of efforts, limitation of wage claims. Criteria of the "political" dimension can be bargain force of the organization against the environment, monopolistic position, bargain force in negotiations with employees and other stakeholders of the organization.

The inverted commas in this dimension refer to the organization politics towards other entities, sort of "small politics", as opposed to "big politics" [3, p. 115-118].

**Political dimension** (political efficiency) – without inverted commas – refers to company efficiency in preserving (or disturbing) the existing political and social order in a country. It is organizational efficiency from the point of view of not the organization itself, but the ruling class or political party. Although organization efficiency is only seldom officially evaluated with the use of this dimension, it is used commonly in real life. In countries ruled by communists, especially soon after overtaking the power, this dimension ousted out all the others, especially the economic one. Also, it influenced investment decisions which aimed at creating big economic entities and, at the same time, working class centers [3, p. 118].

**Cultural dimension** (cultural efficiency) refers to the ability of the organization to preserve values and norms, which enable the society to keep its cultural identity, as well as to contribute to the development of culture (in broader understanding: technical, organizational, sanitary, and not the strict sense) and to adapt to the changes in culture on global scale [3, p. 118].

Behavioral dimension (behavioral efficiency) encompasses such criteria as job satisfaction, increase of internal conflicts, employees' morale, etc. This dimension reflects the interests of members of an organization, and is used for evaluation from their point of view, but not only. Efficiency of an organization in this dimension may increase the efficiency in other dimensions, such as: material, economic, system. It might also be positively correlated with the political dimension - conflicts in workplaces, when they exceed certain degree of intensity, often turn into political conflicts (i.e.: conflicts in the Gdansk Shipyard in 1970 and 1980, strike of miners in Great Britain). On the other hand, this dimension could be totally inconsistent with the others, especially with the "political" and economic ones (high efficiency and high satisfaction do not always accompany each other) [3, p. 119].

In the Polish literature concerning organizational efficiency, purposefulness is also represented by L. Krzyżanowski [15]. What is doubtful, however, is the measurability of goals in an objective way. Goals are sometimes hard to grasp. According to D. Katz and R. L. Kahn, one of the key factors serving the purpose of organizational efficiency evaluation are the relations with the environment (transactions, bargain force, etc.). This argument is also not settled by the proposal of S. Kownacki. Therefore, at this point, it is interesting to present, above all, the scheme of efficiency dimensions of M. Bielski [3, p. 62]:

- end goals means and their use (most similar to purposefulness approach),
- entry efficiency transformation efficiency exit efficiency (most similar to system approach),
- economic measurement of efficiency behavioral measurement of efficiency (presenting the content of social sub-system of an organization),
- goal realization maintaining the organizational integrity – adaptation,
- production efficiency morale adaptation development.

These proposals point to the complexity of the issue of organizational efficiency evaluation. On this background, it is clearly visible that praxeological evaluation criteria of aspects of organizational efficiency evaluation, useful as they are, do not completely exhaust the matter of synthetic efficiency evaluation. Other concepts of multi-criteria efficiency evaluation aim at measuring efficiency on the basis of goals, conditions to be met and standards. Subsequently, their authors define goals as "desired end result determined by management", and the conditions to be met are dependent on the type of organization. I.e. In a company this could be the quality of products, in school - quality of education, in hospital - number of successful surgeries, etc. Nonetheless, also this proposal appears to be incomplete [1, p. 106].

#### 6. Managerial efficiency

While the problem of efficiency (especially economic) has been sufficiently elaborated upon theoretically in the literature, there is no such basis in the universal sense. Problem of efficiency as researched by the theory of organization and management is way more complex than in case of pure economy. It results from the fact that organization theory researches the efficiency of divergent goals, not only economic, but also those that can be attributed to economic entities and their constituent parts. Therefore, these can be even humanistic goals of functioning of organizations, such as: security, distinction, coherence, survival. In the theory of organization, concepts of adequate goals hierarchy and hierarchical organizational structure are used and the degree of inconsistence of goals realized by the organization and its specific parts is researched [1, p. 88-89].

**Managerial efficiency measurement** may be viewed from different angles: technical and economic, praxeological, administrative, bureaucrat, adaptive, humanistic, personality, organizational, ecological and ethical [7, p. 151].

**Technical and economic aspect of efficiency**. Identifying the concept of efficiency with the notion of productivity is typical for technicians and economists. H. Emerson, representative of the direction of scientific management, specialist from the field of organization and production management and author of the first concept of goal management, formulated twelve principles of efficiency (productivity), which deserve to draw the attention of modern managers and should be implemented in companies.

Creativity in an effective organization must be viewed as process and constant element of activity. Principles of efficiency presented by Emerson currently find full confirmation and are applied practically by those companies which base their activity on quality [2, p.193].

H. Emerson presents the 12 principles of efficiency as follows:

- clear goal and defined ideal (clearly defined goal),
- common sense,
- professional advice,
- discipline,
- fair, just behavior,
- flawless, immediate reporting,
- order in the course of action,
- standards and norms (standard ways of operation standard methods and operations),
- adjusted conditions
- standardized working methods,
- written instructions for standardized work (written regulations and instructions),
- prize for productivity (rewarding efficiency) [7, p. 151-152].

**Praxeological aspect of efficiency**. "Efficiency is a feature of actions which bring some positively evaluated result, no matter if this result was intentional (efficacious action) or unintentional (efficient action). Efficiency, similarly to efficacy, may be upgradable or gradable. In the first case the action is either efficient or inefficient. In the second, the quantity and quality are considered and so the more efficient action is the one to bring bigger number of positive results or simply more valuable results: [7, p. 154-156].

Administrative aspect of efficiency. Principles of rational administration of an industrial organization were formulated and published on the basis long-term research by H. Fayol. It consisted, above all, in increasing the efficiency of managers who ran the company. In 1916 principles of efficient company management and human resources management were published.

H. Fayol made it clear, that his principles did not have an absolute nor rigid character and that they should be adjusted to each and every situation (intelligently and within reason), in order to increase the efficiency of an industrial organization's management.

Below are the 14 principles of efficient administration according to H. Fayol:

- division of work,
- authority,
- discipline;
- unity of command,
- unity of Direction,
- subordination of individual interest,
- just remuneration,
- centralization,
- scalar chain (Line of Authority),
- order,
- treating employees well,
- stability of Tenure of Personnel,
- initiative,
- team spirit (Esprit de Corps).

**Bureaucratic aspect of efficiency**. Concept of bureaucracy was introduced by M. Weber as a name for an organization which was supposed to reflect the highest human rationality and efficiency.

Rationality meant adaptation of an institution to all goal-oriented actions with exclusion of everything that could directly or indirectly conflict with the marked out goals.

The model of a rational, bureaucratic organization should have some specific, advisable attributes such as [7, p. 158-160]:

- purposefulness of action,
- precision of action,
- quickness,
- unambiguous character,
- activity continuity,
- discretion,
- subordination,
- minimization of conflicts,
- personal and material costs economy.

Basic principles of an efficient bureaucracy activity of M. Weber are:

- rules and procedures determine the scope of activity of organization and officials' competences,
- hierarchical structure and norms regulate the superiority-subordination relationships,
- qualifications and commitment are included in the employee work documentation,
- official is loyal to the office and not to his superior.
- official relationship is impersonal and functional with regard to tasks,
- rights and responsibilities of an official define his position in the office and in the society,
- status of an official is high due to his qualifications and permanent connection to the office [16].

Adaptive aspect of efficiency. A more modern type of efficient management of an organization which aims at improvement was proposed by R. Beckhard.

Forms of management of an organization which is open to changes look as follows:

- whole organization, its parts and units are goaloriented and plan the achievement of goals,
- forms are results of functions; given problem, task or project imposes the way of staff organization,
- decisions are made by people who are closest to the source of information, no matter their position in the official hierarchy,
- managers are equally rewarded or punished (so called stimuli) for: carrying out short-term tasks, training their subordinates and creating efficient teams,
- people are open, speak of facts and feelings known to them (communicate). Vertical and horizontal information flows are encouraged,
- "win or lose" behavior occurs rarely; conflicts are considered problems to be solved,

- if any difficulties occur, they are rather related to realization of tasks and projects than to interpersonal misunderstandings,
- organization and its individual parts realize themselves through interactions with the environment,
- given system of values is accepted by all the members,
- work of the whole organization and its individual parts resembles research, which consists in starting feedback mechanisms in a way that enables learning from one's own experience.

**Humanistic aspect of efficiency**. Model of an efficient organization was first presented from the humanistic point of view, among others, by D. J. Lawless, who made the assumption that there cannot be an efficient organization without efficient teams of people. Therefore, a model of efficient team is built.

Conditions for functioning of the efficient team of D. J. Lawless are as follows:

- atmosphere which supports informal behavior and provides feeling of relaxation,
- before approaching to the realization of tasks, discussion and agreement concerning means and methods are required,
- goals and tasks must be formulated in such a way that everybody can understand them and engage in their realization,
- the rule of listening to what other people have to say should be complied with. Each and every idea should be considered seriously and nobody should be afraid of being laughed at,
- causes of disagreement should be analyzed with the thought of finding a solution in mind, and not the thought of crashing the opposing party or removing the quarreling persons,
- most decisions should be taken under certain forms of understanding and agreement. Formal vote with use of the rule of simple majority of votes is not the best basis for an efficient team cooperation,
- criticism should be common, sincere criticism should not cause threats,
- during discussion of problems, which have to be resolved, showing emotion is allowed,
- each person's assignments should be understandable and accepted by this person,
- in order for the team to be able to realize the task, the issue should be "how to perform the task in the best way?" and not the fact who has the power or who has the control,

• efficient team should always be aware of its behavior and undertaken actions [7, p. 161-162].

D. J. Lawless enumerates and describes dependent variables which are positively correlated with organizational efficiency. These variables are:

- productivity,
- morale,
- adaptation,
- flexibility,
- institutionalization,
- stability [7, p. 162-163].

**Personality aspect of efficiency.** Main assumption of the concept of efficient personality is that efficacy does not equal efficiency, because efficacy describes only the current level of task realization by given person, while efficiency describes the degree, to which given person exceeds his actual tasks. In the second case, therefore, "efficiency is the developmental efficacy" [7, p. 164; 22].

This difference in meanings is explained with the fact that the social environment values "efficacious behavior" more than "efficient behavior". It happens so because the first behavior is easy to evaluate and reward, while the second one is hard to evaluate in the short run, risky, uneconomic and threatens the realization of plans "for today". The drawback of "efficacious behavior" is, however, that it might be disturbed facing change, which, in consequence, leads to decrease of its efficacy [7, p. 164].

According to this author, only realization of a complete set of hierarchically organized tasks ensures strong and flexible developmental effectiveness, which is characteristic for an efficient person [7, p. 116].

**Organizational aspect of efficiency**. Managerial efficiency in teamwork organization may be achieved, among others, thanks to the use of six rules of B. K. Scanlan, which in practice are uncomplicated and inexpensive.

Principles of efficient teamwork organization of B. K. Scanlan are:

- define and maintain high requirements with regard to the results,
- inform people about their current position,
- introduce clear rules of communication,
- create atmosphere of encouragement and support,
- learn to delegate responsibility, rights and obligations,

• create a system for evaluating and directing [77, p. 167-171].

**Ecological aspect of efficiency.** The XX century was massively influenced by three inter-related factors: demographic explosion, industrialization and urbanization. Treated apart of each other as well as altogether, these factors cause threat of irrevocable changes in the natural environment of human being. These threats are magnified by extraordinary wastefulness with regard to use of resources, energy, produced goods, food, etc.

Proof of an increased ethical and ecological awareness may be the Code of Ethics in Business Activity published by the Polish Chamber of Commerce [7, p. 172-177].

There is an opinion that "in order to stay alive and develop the civilization, human being inevitably has to interfere with other beings' lives and dwellings. To be rational and ethical rather than destructive, this integration has to follow such principles as:

- principle of self-defense,
- principle of proportionality,
- principle of lesser evil,
- principle of just division.

Compliance with the above mentioned principles instead of life and death struggle introduces the well known, rational and moral rule: "live and let others live" to human coexistence with the nature [25, p. 96-99; 33, p. 61-61].

## 7. Problems of efficiency and effectiveness

## 7.1 Increasing organizational efficiency

If we assumed that activity of companies as well as their sub-systems, viewed as economic systems, should be effective, efficient and rational, then the managerial decisions should be preceded by economic calculation, which ought to constitute the basis for economic choices [2, p. 95].

Effectiveness answers the question if, as a result of activity, the set up goals were achieved. Efficiency, on the other hand, informs us about the costs that were incurred in order to achieve those goals and if these costs were exceeded by the obtained effects. Every company can be effective and efficient, effective and inefficient, efficient and ineffective and finally ineffective and inefficient. The last situation qualifies the company for bankruptcy and liquidation. A simplified example is presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Effectiveness and efficiency of company activity (*source:* [2, p. 96])

	high	Degree of use of production resources		
Degree of goal realization		strong	weak	
		high effectiveness high efficiency	high effectiveness weak efficiency	
	low	low effectiveness high efficiency	low effectiveness weak efficiency	

Indices of productivity and intensity. Indices of productivity of production factors are part of the efficiency ratios family. Productivity indices refer to production assets (assets productivity ratio), materials (material productivity ratios) and employees (labour productivity indices). The opposite of productivity is intensity of those factors with regard to the financial or material result, which is the assumed basis for calculations. Therefore - as pointed out by L. Białoń – such ratios as: capital intensity, material consumption, water absorption, energy consumption or knowledge intensity are used.

While the productivity ratios should increase in time, the smaller the intensity ratios, the better (maybe excluding knowledge intensity). Productivity indices describe the efficiency of production factors and intensivity indices describe the input-side of manufacturing processes [2, p. 96].

In order to diagnose the situation and improve organization results, the three efficiency levels approach is used. It may be used by the managerial cells to diagnose the situation before introducing specific solutions. Use of this approach should, at best, enable a given specialist to adjust the "remedy" to the situation. In the worst case scenario, it may occur that the proposal presented by a given department does not resolve the most urgent problems of the organization and, therefore, needs to be revised [27, p. 138-139].

### 7.2 Organizational level

At this level emphasis is placed on relations between the basic structural part of organization and the market, on which it operates. Factors which influence the organizational efficiency at this level are: strategy, general goals of the organization and methods of their measurement, organizational structure, method of use of resources [27, p. 138-139].

In order to conduct an efficient analysis of the social aspect of organization functioning, analysis of strategic plans of the organization is carried out – marked out goals, ways of designing and managing at the level of organization.

**Organizational goals.** Goals at the level of the organization as a whole result from the adopted action strategy. All the other efficiency levels and variables affecting efficiency result from organizational goals [27, p. 47].

**Organization design.** This efficiency variable is, above all, related to organizational structure. System approach suggests that structure analysis should contain not only the demarcation between individual organizational departments and reporting paths, but also how the work is carried out and if the present method of its realization has sense [27, p. 48].

**Managing the organization.** Organization might have properly formulated goals and appropriate organizational structure, which enable it to function efficiently. However, in order to operate efficiently and productively, it must be managed. The most important areas of management at the organizational level are:

- organizational goal management,
- efficiency management,
- resources management,
- point of contact management [27, p. 48-49].

The first step in efficiency management at the organizational level is to look at the current situation from the following points of perspective:

- client perspective,
- supplier perspective,
- employee perspective,
- shareholder perspective.

First task of increasing the organizational efficiency is preparation of organizational mission. After preparing the strategy, activities connected with improving the organization have to be planned (as well as management methods). This consists in elaboration of super-system organizational map and determining, on its basis, the key issues for the organization.

These are potential chances for building strategic advantage of our company or reducing the advantage of competition. During realization of this stage it is also necessary to identify the processes, which, after the improvement, will have the biggest influence on the key issues for the organization.

**Process level.** This level refers to all the effects of organizational functioning, which result from the network of inter-department processes, such as i.e.: designing new products, supply process, production process, sales process, distribution, invoicing and debt collection [27, p. 43].

Most basic results of the organization result from such inter-functional processes as: realization of order, invoicing, supplying, designing new products, client service or preparing sales forecasts. Three needs of efficiency at the process level are: goals, design and management.

**Process goals.** Because work is a result of processes, for each process we should establish goals. Process goals, which are connected with the external client (i.e. sales, providing services, invoicing) should result from organizational goals and consumers' expectations and requirements. Goals for inner-organizational processes (such as: planning, budgeting, personnel recruitment) should be formulated on the basis of inner-clients' needs [27, p. 50].

**Process design.** Having formulated process goals, we should make sure if the way the processes were designed enables efficient realization of our goals. This process should be logical and have the simplest possible course which enables the achievement of goals [20, p. 51]

**Process management.** A process, even if it has the most logical structure, will be inefficient, if it will not be managed properly. Process management encompasses the same components as managing the organization [27, p. 51-52].

Having identified the key organizational issues and process, we can initiate the project of process im-

provement. Next, we should realize in turn the stages of the earlier mentioned procedure. During the first stage we should define: goals, roles and operational framework of the project. Second stage is devoted to description and analysis of the current state of the process and, afterwards, designing new process in accordance with goals defined earlier. Finally, the measurement system is established.

The above mentioned tasks are realized by the management and employees who are indirectly involved in the process realization. Detailed action and implementation plan of the improved process, which encompasses all three levels of efficiency evaluation, appears during realization of the third stage [27, p. 261].

Nine variables which influence organizational efficiency. Three efficiency levels are the first dimension of the G. A. Runner and A. P. Brache's concept. The second one consists of three factors, so called efficiency needs, which influence the results on every level and, therefore, also the organizational results. Efficiency needs result from:

- **organizational**, process and workstation goals they must be defined with the use of standards reflecting clients' expectations concerning: quality, quantity, time of delivery, time of realization and cost of product or service,
- **design method** organizational structure, process design and workstations require some vital elements configured in the way, which enables efficient goal realization,

**management method** – each of the three levels of efficiency requires an appropriate method of management, which enables goal realization [27, p. 46].

G.A. Rummler, A.P. Brache state that all the time we tend to try to search for new methods of using the tools of three efficiency levels for three potential groups of users: highest level managers, managers and consultants. These might be used as:

- tools for diagnosing and improving those organizations which function inefficiently,
- method of constant improvement of systems which run efficiently,
- approach which enables formulation of new organizational strategy,
- procedure allowing us to design new organization from the beginning.

	EFFICIENCY NEEDS					
EFFICIENCY LEVELS		goals	design method	management method		
	organizational level	organizational goals	organization design	organization management		
	process level	process goals	process design	process management		
	workstation level	workstation goals	workstation design	workstation management		

Table 3. Nine variables influencing organizational efficiency (source: [27, p. 46])

As a result of the research carried out so far, it can be said that the described issues do not only serve the purpose of resolving specific, current problems. Implementation of the mentioned activities may influence a change in the organizational culture. Within the framework of influencing the organizational culture, it is possible to affect:

- recognition of clients' needs as a point of reference for all organizational activities,
- introduction of responsibility for taken actions on the basis of results of efficiency evaluation system,
- minimization of conflicts between departments,
- introduction of a participation management style, that is, such management style, in which the voice of all the people interested in resolving particular problems is taken into account,
- creation of such working conditions which are favorable to efficiency and job satisfaction improvement [27, p. 263-264].

## 8. Summary

Company which wants to maintain its position in the market must: be productive, use the material and human resources efficiently and positively influence the relation between effects and outlays [2, p. 197].

When approaching to evaluate company efficiency, the following conditions must be taken into account: company and its individual parts are goal-oriented; forms are results of functions, particular problem influences the way people should be organized; system of stimuli functions in such a way that managers of different levels are rewarded and punished to the same extent; employee training and creation of task-oriented teams take place; there is an effective vertical and horizontal communication; conflicts between people are treated as problems to be solved; organization is an open system, which has relationships with the environment; there is a system of values supported by the managers; functioning of the whole organization serves the purpose of starting processes which enable learning [7, p. 37-64].

The process of achieving efficiency must engage all the factors, which may influence the success of the organization. It is, therefore, necessary to determine the basic and supporting goals as well as strategies of their realization, to care for the quality of inner activities within the organization and, for the same purpose, full readiness for cooperation and flexibility towards changes. Company, which is not able to subject itself to the process of changes, is doomed to leave the market. Therefore, there must not be a single day, when there is no change for the better in the organization [2, p. 192].

Management efficiency depends on the used rules and aspects of good management. It is a common belief, that quality management (TQM) influences the economic efficiency, which further impacts the organizational efficiency. Total quality management leads to improvement of organization, personnel, information flow and communication between employees [2, p. 96].

An important tool for improvement of efficiency is the effective leadership. It starts in the moment when vision is formulated and expands over the strategy, which is supposed to lead to market success. Efficient leadership combined with TQM provides the result of appropriate goods achieved from the first time [21, p. 12-72].
Other important tools for improvement of efficiency are: reengineering, motivation systems and kaizen, which is the philosophy of introducing small, simple changes with the use of small steps approach. Simultaneously, it is important to underline that the initiative, which leads to changes, comes from the place where the product is being manufactured and the value is being added. Kaizen is a process which consists in adopting the mentality of constant improvement [2, p. 192].

Efficiency is a measure of results. It consists in asking a simple question: Was the task accomplished? Rewarding people within the organization requires, therefore, the existence of an agreed upon criterion of evaluation of their efficiency.

The fact, whether such criterion successfully describes the efficiency has no meaning; if we grant a prize on the basis of effective execution of tasks, we treat efficiency as its measure. In many works efficiency is treated as the only criterion. However, together with tasks becoming less normalized and routine, it becomes more difficult to measure efficiency. Consequently, defining efficiency becomes more and more complex matter [26, p. 394].

Nonetheless the managers in corporations as well as those who directly monitor separate economic entities rely more and more on linking the rewards (especially remuneration) with efficiency. Such different companies as i.e.: American Broadcasting, Security Pacific National Bank, Sears, Roebuck and Dow Chemical all measure the economic efficiency of their economic entities, compare results with those of their competition and grant rewards accordingly [26, p. 394].

The basic condition of efficient management becomes the understanding and respect for human being in an organization and the awareness that "no organization can exist, if its members will not accept the tasks which are expected from them and will not be motivated to execute them" [10, p. 199-130].

It is similar in case of companies, which will achieve success in the future. It will be those of them which receive the most from their people (with regard to creative use of equipment – the same in all the companies). Therefore, from the point of view of increase in efficiency, very important role is played by: enriching work, which is a motivation strategy that underlines motivating function of the employee's own work.

Employees are responsible for successful realization of tasks. Usually, at this point the features, which influ-

ence individual motivation and activity, are pointed out:

- variety of skills,
- setting the goal,
- meaning of the task,
- autonomy,
- return effect in the form of quantity of direct and clear information, which is received by the employee [20, p. 458, 463].

## 9. References

- [1] Bednarski A., Zarys teorii organizacji i zarządzania. TNOIK, Toruń 1998.
- [2] Białoń L. *Ekonomika przedsiębiorstwa*. Oficyna Wyd. Politechniki Warszawskiej, Warszawa 1996.
- [3] Bielski M. *Organizacje. Istota, struktury, proce*sy. Wyd. Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego, Łódź 1996.
- [4] Bobak A. *Produktywność standardowa i strukturalna* [in] Encyklopedia zarządzania http://mfiles.ae.krakow.pl/, 06-2009.
- Borowiecki R. (red.) Efektywność przedsięwzięć rozwojowych. Metody, analiza, przykłady. AE, Kraków 1995.
- [6] Drucker P.F. Menedżer skuteczny. Biblioteka Nowoczesności, AE Kraków, "Czytelnik", Kraków 1994.
- [7] Holstein-Beck M. *Menedżer poszukiwany*. CIM, Warszawa 2001.
- [8] Kaczmarek B., Sikorski Cz. Podstawy zarządzania. Zachowania organizacyjne. Wyd. Absolwent, Łódź 1996.
- [9] Kamiński T. Ocena ekonomicznej efektywności dylematy teorii i praktyki [in] Ocena efektywności funkcjonowania organizacji gospodarczych (ed. Bombera Z., Telep J.). Wyższa Szkoła Ekonomiczna w Warszawie, Warszawa 2004.
- [10] Katz D., Kahn R.L. Społeczna psychologia organizacji. PWN, Warszawa 1979.
- [11] Kieżun W. Sprawne zarządzanie organizacją. SGH, Warszawa 1997.
- [12] Kister A. Zarządzanie kosztami jakości. Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków 2005.
- [13] Kobyliński W. Podstawy organizacji i kierowania w oświacie. SOP, Warszawa 1996.
- [14] Koch R. *Słownik zarządzania i finansów*. Wyd. Profesjonalnej Szkoły Biznesu, Kraków 1997.
- [15] Krzyżanowski L. *Podstawy organizacji i zarządzania.* PWN, Warszawa 1992.
- [16] Kuebler-Ross E. Kolo życia. Świat książki, Warszawa 2000.
- [17] Lis St. (ed.) Vademecum produktywności. Agencja Wydawnicza "Placet", Warszawa 1999.

- [18] Muhlemann A. P., Oakland J.S., Lockyer K.G. -Zarządzanie, produkcja i usługi. PWN, Warszawa 1995.
- [19] Narski Z. *Praktyka zarządzania przedsiębiorstwem*. Wyd. A. Marszałek, Toruń 1999.
- [20] Nickels W.G. Zrozumieć biznes. Wyd. Bellona, Warszawa 1995.
- [21] Oakland J.S. *Total Quality Management*. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford 1992.
- [22] Obuchowski K. Badania osobowości efektywnej.
  [in] Efektywność a osobowość. Ossolineum, Wrocław 1982.
- [23] Pawłowski M., Piątkowski Z., Wójcik-Kośla D. -Logistyka w przedsiębiorstwie, część II. Logistyka jako funkcja sprawności organizacyjnej przedsiębiorstwa oraz zastosowanie logistyki w praktyce. [in] Postępy Techniki Przetwórstwa Spożywczego, No. 2, 2005.
- [24] Penc J. *Leksykon Biznesu*. Agencja Wydawnicza "Placet", Warszawa 1998.
- [25] Piątek Z. Etyka środowiskowa. Nowe spojrzenie na miejsce człowieka w przyrodzie, Wyd. Uniwersytetu Jagiellońskiego, Kraków 1998.
- [26] Robbins S.P. Zachowania w organizacji. PWE, Warszawa 1998.

- [27] Rummler G.A., Brache A.P. *Podnoszenie efektywności organizacji*. PWE, Warszawa 2000.
- [28] Skrzypek E. *Jakość i efektywność*. Wyd. UMCS, Lublin 2000.
- [29] Ŝmid W. Leksykon menedżera. Wyd. Profesjonalnej Szkoły Biznesu, Kraków 2000.
- [30] Sowa K. (ed.) Gospodarka nieformalna. Uwarunkowania lokalne i systemowe. TNOiK, Rzeszów 1990.
- [31] Szpaderski A. *Postulat prakseologii jako teorii podstawowej dla nauk organizacji i zarządzania.* Organizacja i Kierowanie nr 2, 2006.
- [32] Sztucki T. *Encyklopedia marketingu*. Agencja Wydawnicza Placet, Warszawa 1998.
- [33] Waloszczyk K. Ku ekorozwojowi [in] Zrównoważony rozwój (ed. Bogumił A., Greniewski M. J., Greniewski P., Krzyżanowski L.J., Rok B., Waloszczyk K). Oficyna Wyd. WSM SIG, Warszawa 2002.
- [34] Żebrowski W., Pawłowski M., Piątkowski Z. -Nowoczesne systemy zarządzania produkcją, część II Sterowanie operacyjne [in] Postępy Techniki Przetwórstwa Spożywczego, No. 2, 2006.

**Content of an article.** A paper may describe original work, discuss a new method or application, or present a survey of recent work in a given field. Concepts and underlying principles should be emphasized, with enough background information to orient the reader who is not a specialist in the subject. A paper submitted to the Journal should not have been published elsewhere, including the World Wide Web, nor should it be submitted to another publication or to a conference concurrently.

**Submission process.** An article, prepared in Ms Word, should be sent to Editor-in-Chief: prof. Tadeusz KRUPA, Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, ul. Narbutta 85, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland, e-mail: T.Krupa@wz.pw.edu.pl.

**Review process.** All manuscript are sent to two independent reviewers to ensure both accuracy and relevance to the journal. The final decision on acceptance will be made by the Editor-in-Chief.

**Text.** The manuscript must be produced clearly on plain A4-sized sheets - 210 by 297 mm. Set top and bottom margins for the pages at 25 mm. Set right and left margins as mirror margins with inside margin at 20 mm and outside margin at 16 mm. The body text must be printed in double columns with the middle margin of 8 mm. The body text is typed in 10,5pt Times New Roman with 1,15 multiple line spacing and 4pt spacing after paragraph. The title page should include the title of manuscript, author(s), affiliation(s), abstract (8-12 sentences) and key words (8 - 12 characteristic words).

**References.** References should be quoted in the text using consecutive numbers in square brackets, alternatively, as shown here [1, pp. 7-12], or [2,4], or [1-3]. At the end of the manuscript, they should be cited as follows:

The monograph:

Author(s) – The title of the monograph. The publishing company, The city and the year of the publication.

The example:

[1] Poe V., Klauer P., Brobst S. - *Building a Data Warehouse for Decisial Support*. Prentice-Hall Inc., New York 1998.

The monograph under the editing:

Author(s) (ed.) - The title of the monograph. The publishing company, The city and the year of the publication.

The example:

[2] Ansoff H. I. (ed.) - Corporate Strategy. McGraw-Hill, New York 1965.

The chapter of the monograph under the editing:

Author(s) – *The title of the chapter* [in] The title of the monograph (ed. Authors), Numbers of pages. The publishing company, The city and the year of the publication.

The example:

[3] Wilson, D.,C. - *Organizational Structures in the Voluntary Sector* [in] Issues in Voluntary and Non Profit Management (ed. Batsleer J., Cornforth C., Paton R.), pp. 45-93. Addison-Wesley, Wokingham 1992.

The article in the journal:

Author(s) – *The title of the article* [in] The title of the journal, Numbers of pages, The volume, The number, The year.

The example:

[4] Barney J. – Organizational culture: can it be a source of sustained competitive advantage? [in] Academy of Management Journal, pp. 56-65, Vol. 28, No. 7, 1986.

The paper at the conference:

Author(s) – *The title of the paper* [at] The title of the conference, Numbers of pages. The city and the year of the conference.

The example:

[5] Bonits N. - *Intellectual Capital: An Exploratory Study that Develops Measures and Models* [at] The First Management Decision Conference, pp. 12-20. London 1998.

## **Editorial Office:**

Teresa Ostrowska, email: T.Ostrowska@wz.pw.edu.pl Katarzyna Rostek, email: K.Rostek@wz.pw.edu.pl. Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technology, ul. Narbutta 85, 02-524 Warszawa, Poland.